Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Orchid Hill

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Michelle McCraney, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Ashraf Esmail, Committee Member, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

Teacher Perceptions on the Implementation of a New Reading Curriculum in Third Grade

by

Orchid Hill

MA, Bowie State University, 2004

BS, University of Maryland University College, 1994

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2023

Abstract

Since the inception of a new curriculum in a northeastern school district, reading proficiency scores remained low, and the district had not explored teacher experiences and challenges with the implementation of the new curriculum. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences and challenges of third grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. The concerns based adoption model (CBAM) formed the conceptual framework for this study because it was designed to elicit concerns regarding implementing new programs. A purposeful sample of 12 third grade teachers utilizing the new curriculum for at least one year within the local school district was used to collect data. Participants were interviewed to identify the concerns, challenges, and experiences with implementing the new reading curriculum. Data were analyzed thematically, resulting in five themes: lack of collaborative learning and classroom support, time management of nonacademic requirements, concerns regarding professional development, navigating curriculum complexity, and concerns about curriculum alignment. Results indicated teachers were concerned about managing tasks associated with implementing the curriculum and how their actions impact students' learning. The resulting project was a 3-day professional development to support the implementation of the curriculum and develop a network of community learners. Implications for potential positive social change included providing school leaders with data to assist them in making systemic changes before and during implementation of a reading curriculum to improve student progress in reading proficiency.

Teacher Perceptions on the Implementation of a New Reading Curriculum in Third Grade

by

Orchid Hill

MA, Bowie State University, 2004

BS, University of Maryland University College, 1994

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2023

Dedication

This study is dedicated to my mom, Beverly Butler, daughter, Bevara Anderson, and grandson, Tripp. Thank you to my mom for managing our home, cooking delicious meals, and handling many of my responsibilities, freeing me to dedicate more time to research. Thank you to my daughter for being a fantastic example of a woman excelling while living in her truth. Seeing you persevere through adversity with courage and grace provided me with immeasurable inspiration to continue the race toward completing my program. I could not have been successful without you. And to Tripp, my tenacious grandson who fights daily to overcome battles to live his best life, you motivate me every day to be thankful for God's precious gift of life.

Acknowledgments

Thank you to my first chair, Dr. Michelle McCraney, and second committee member, Dr. Ashraf Esmail for guidance, support, and encouragement. My endeavor was filled with peaks and valleys but made easier by the resourcefulness and constructive feedback offered during opportune times. I thank my colleagues and dedicated friends who provided advice and inspiration throughout my research journey. And above all else, thank you, God, for directing my path through this process from the beginning to the end.

List of Tables
List of Figures vii
Section 1: The Problem1
Introduction1
The Local Problem2
Rationale4
Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level5
Definition of Terms6
Significance of the Study6
Research Questions9
Review of the Literature9
Conceptual Framework10
Review of the Broader Problem12
New Curriculum Implementation15
Teacher Roles and Responsibilities
Barriers to Implementing New Programs
Implications
Summary
Section 2: The Methodology
Introduction
Research Design and Approach
Description of the Qualitative Tradition

Table of Contents

Justification for Implementing a Basic Qualitative Design	
Additional Research Designs Not Selected	
Participants	40
Population and Sampling Procedures	40
Criteria for Selecting Participants	41
Justification for Number of Participants	41
Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants	
Establishing Researcher-Participant Relationship	44
Ethical Protection of Participants	45
Data Collection	46
Justification of Data Collection Methods	46
Interviews	
Source of Data Collection Instrument	
Interview Plan and Protocol	49
Systems for Keeping Track of Data	51
Role of the Researcher	51
Data Analysis	53
Accuracy and Credibility of Findings	54
Discrepant Cases	58
Data Analysis Results	58
Generated, Gathered, and Recorded Data	58
Coding Data to Establish Themes	59
Patterns, Relationships, and Themes	60

Theme 1: Concerns About Lack of Collaborative Learning and Classroom	
Support	61
Theme 2: Time Management of Nonacademic Requirements	63
Theme 3: Concerns Regarding Professional Development	65
Theme 4: Navigating to Curriculum Complexity	67
Theme 5: Concerns About Curriculum Alignment	72
Salient and Discrepant Data	74
Study Evidence of Quality	74
Summary of Outcomes	75
Section 3: The Project	.79
Description and Project Goals	.79
	Q 1
Rationale	.01
Rationale	.83
Rationale Review of Literature Specific Project Genre	.81 .83 83
Rationale Review of Literature Specific Project Genre How the Search was Conducted	.81 .83 .83 .85
Rationale Review of Literature Specific Project Genre How the Search was Conducted Characteristics of Effective Professional Development	.81 .83 83 85 85
Rationale Review of Literature Specific Project Genre How the Search was Conducted Characteristics of Effective Professional Development Content-Focused Professional Development	.83 83 85 85 86
Rationale Review of Literature Specific Project Genre How the Search was Conducted Characteristics of Effective Professional Development Content-Focused Professional Development Professional Learning Communities	.81 .83 .83 .85 .85 .86 .89
Rationale Review of Literature Specific Project Genre How the Search was Conducted Characteristics of Effective Professional Development Content-Focused Professional Development Professional Learning Communities Professional Development Based on Concerns	.81 .83 83 85 85 85 86 89 92
Rationale Review of Literature Specific Project Genre How the Search was Conducted Characteristics of Effective Professional Development Content-Focused Professional Development Professional Learning Communities Professional Development Based on Concerns Project Description	.83 83 85 85 85 86 89 92 .95
Rationale Review of Literature	.83 83 85 85 85 86 89 92 .95 96
Rationale Review of Literature Specific Project Genre How the Search was Conducted Characteristics of Effective Professional Development Content-Focused Professional Development Professional Learning Communities Professional Development Based on Concerns Project Description Existing Supports Potential Barriers and Solutions	.81 .83 85 85 85 86 89 92 .95 96 96

Roles and Responsibilities	
Project Evaluation Plan	
Overall Evaluation Goals	
Key Stakeholders	
Project Implications	104
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	
Project Strengths	
Project Limitations	107
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	
Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change	
Reflections on the Importance of the Work	111
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	111
Directions for Future Research	
Conclusion	113
References	115
Appendix A: The Project	
Professional Development Program	
Proposed Activities	
Hour-by-Hour Detail of Training	167
Professional Development Slides	
Formative Evaluation – Peer Model Lesson Notes	175
Formative Evaluation (Self-Assessment)	176
Formative Assessment	177

Summative Assessment	178
Appendix B: Site Permission Form	179
Appendix C: Email to Respondents Not Qualifying or Meeting Threshold	180
Appendix D: Confidentiality Form	181
Appendix E: Interview Questions	182
Appendix F: RQs, Interview Questions, SoC Mapping	184
Appendix G: American Institutes for Research Authorization	186

List of Tables

Table 1. LSD Demographics	40
Table 2. Summary of Themes	60

List of Figures

Figure 1. Data Analysis Process	59
Figure 2. Problem, RQs, Theme Alignment	78
Figure 3. PLC Outcomes	92

Section 1: The Problem

Introduction

Reading is an essential skill that forms the foundation for learning. Fundamentally, a primary goal of elementary school is to help students learn the complex and interactive reading process proficiently (Nouwens et al., 2021). Developing reading comprehension skills may influence students' academic success and future real world experiences, considering most knowledge acquisition occurs through reading (Ardhian et al., 2020). Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) mandated schools adopt evidence-based curricula to enhance student outcomes (Slavin, 2020). Pinkelman et al. (2022) suggested that efficacy remains an issue regarding implementing evidence-based programs as ESSA prescribes.

The degree to which curricula are implemented with fidelity may significantly influence the program's effectiveness. Implementing new curricula requires that teachers command the knowledge and motivation to implement curricula with fidelity (Ambusaidi et at., 2021). Teachers' attitudes and personal experiences are significant to the level of implementation. Kaimara et al. (2021) suggested that teachers' perceived value of an innovation is a significant factor in implementing curricula with fidelity. Several concerns regarding curriculum implementation would involve understanding if implementation occurred as designed and general barriers or facilitators to implementing the curriculum (Lakin & Rambo-Hernandez, 2019).

The Local Problem

In 2014, the Local School District's (LSD) 2015-2020 Strategic Plan described the declining academic performance in reading as a critical area of concern (LSD, n.d.). In response, the Houghton Mifflin Harcourt (HMH): Into Reading curriculum was adopted for third grade classes across the district (LSD, n.d.). The problem was that in the years since the inception of this new curriculum, reading proficiency scores remained low, and the district had not explored teacher experiences and challenges with the implementation of the new curriculum. The HMH: Into Reading curriculum is a K-6 literacy curriculum designed to support all learners using evidence-based materials (HMH, n.d.). The curriculum includes 12 modules differentiated by design to foster a growth mindset in students to become independent readers and lifelong learners (HMH, n.d.). In a 2019 Standardized Testing and Reporting (STAR) reading assessment, grade 3 students' reading scores increased significantly from the beginning of the year to the middle (HMH, 2020). STAR assessments are used to monitor students' reading progress (Scammacca et al., 2020). The STAR assessment measures progress in phonics, word reading, vocabulary, and literary and expository text comprehension (Scammacca et al., 2020). There is a gap in practice since HMH affirmed that students would make reading achievement gains (Eddy et al., 2020). However, in the local setting, students' scores had yet to show the expected improvement.

School programs and interventions are rarely implemented as planned due to changes made during the implementation process. Consequently, fidelity is paramount to understanding how changes influence student outcomes (Anderson, 2017; Moon & Park, 2016). In addition, carefully examining a new implementation assists school leaders in understanding why programs fail or succeed (Lakin & Rambo-Hernandez, 2019). Students realize increased gains when programs are implemented with higher fidelity (King-Sears et al., 2018). However, if programs are not implemented well, understanding what contributes to student growth or the lack thereof becomes difficult (Karakus, 2021; Konrad et al., 2019).

Between 2015-2018, reading proficiency scores for the LSD averaged 24% (State Department of Education, 2019). However, the three school districts bordering the LSD achieved higher reading proficiency scores during the same period (State Department of Education, 2019). The three geographically closest districts averaged 47%, 51%, and 53% (State Department of Education, 2019). In 2019, after approval from the principals, teachers within the LSD implemented the HMH: Into Reading curriculum. Due to COVID, the state received a waiver. Therefore, annual reading assessment scores for 2019-2020 are not available. However, the LSD's 2020-2021 State Comprehensive Assessment Program (MCAP) results reflected reading scores well below neighboring counties. In 2021, the LSD reported reading proficiency levels for third graders of 12.5%. Conversely, closely neighboring counties reported proficiency levels at 36%, 34%, and 26% (State Department of Education, 2021).

The National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) is a congressionally mandated assessment administered by the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES), designed to measure students' academic performance in grades 4, 8, and 12 in reading, math, and other core subjects. In the United States, the percentage of fourthgrade public school students at or above NAEP reading proficiency for 2019-2021 was 33% (NCES, 2022). In the LSD's state, this percentage was just below the national average at 31% (NCES, 2022). The NAEP generates data on reading scores only for grades 4, 8, and 12, reflecting a need for further research on reading skills at the third-grade level.

In the LSD, in this study, the reading proficiency in reading at the third grade level, based on the MCAP test scores, was 12.5% - less than the NAEP averages and state averages (State Department of Education, 2021). From available MCAP data, the state English language arts proficiency for third grade was higher, at 24% (State Department of Education, 2021). The data reflects that progress remains in meeting and exceeding the gain of neighboring districts, states, and the national average.

Rationale

The LSD adopted the HMH: Into Reading curriculum but altered the curriculum by selecting reading and writing modules aligned with the [State] College and Career Reading Standards (CCRS) developed within the Eastern state in which this study took place and the Framework for Teaching program (Local School District, 2019). Researchers have advised that inappropriate implementation of school reforms could influence fidelity. Thus, exploring the fidelity of implementing new programs by assessing teacher perceptions should transpire (Gonzalez et al., 2020; Lakin & Shannon, 2015; Stains & Vickrey, 2017). Understanding the challenges that may influence the implementation of the reading curriculum becomes significant in developing approaches to improve the implementation and yield improved student outcomes. Understanding teachers' perceptions of implementing the new reading curriculum was used to determine how the fidelity of implementing the new curriculum will be improved and thereby improve students' reading skills.

Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level

In 2019, the LSD implemented the HMH: Into Reading curriculum (State Department of Education, n.d.). However, teachers' experiences implementing the new reading curriculum had yet to be explored. As a result, there was limited information on the perceptions of implementing the reading curriculum within the LSD, which means there may not have been sufficient knowledge on the barriers and facilitators to implement the reading curriculum correctly. A primary concern regarding implementing programs involved understanding if implementation occurred as designed and the general barriers or facilitators to implementing the curriculum with fidelity. To understand why and if a program worked, it is imperative to know if the program was implemented with fidelity (Lakin & Rambo-Hernandez, 2019). Consequently, understanding the factors that lead to implementing programs as designed remains a significant subject to explore for school leaders (McNeill et al., 2018).

The LSD's school board approved adopting the new curriculum, which aligned to the state standards to ensure students' college and workplace success by improving student achievement in reading and math within the Eastern state (Local School District, 2019). Additionally, the approved FY2020 annual operating budget included funds for professional development (PD) for teachers and school leaders regarding system curriculum and teaching best practices (Local School District, n.d.). However, the LSD implemented the new curriculum in 2019 without a plan to explore teachers' perceptions in terms of implementing the program with fidelity (District Academic Leader, personal communication obtained by the researcher in their position as a K-12 professional, January 7, 2020). The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new, required reading curriculum.

Definition of Terms

The following educational terms were implemented throughout the study. Therefore, defining the terms as bound within this study was appropriate. The study used the following terms to form the bases for this project study.

Concerns-based adoption model (CBAM): A model providing tools and techniques that enable leaders to identify and measure staff concerns experienced during the implementation of a program (SEDL, n.d.).

Implementation: "A dynamic process, involving the interaction among multiple actors, starting with the adoption of a new practice and ending with its routinization" (Trullen et al., 2020, p. 150).

Significance of the Study

The stakeholders who cared about the barriers and challenges teachers experience when implementing a curriculum were principals, district leaders, teachers, parents, and students. The significance of exploring teacher experiences may assist principals in better understanding how they can support teachers involved in implementing a new curriculum. When principals understand teachers' concerns, an environment of collaborative problem solving may lead to improved implementation fidelity (Olson et al., 2020). Also, being privy to teachers' challenges may allow principals to create mitigation strategies to address the issues (Nollmeyer et al., 2019). Harris and Graham (2019) concluded that teachers do not welcome curriculum change. Understanding teachers' concerns may give principals the knowledge surrounding the level of support needed to promote teacher buy in. Acquiring teachers' acceptance of new programs may increase fidelity resulting in higher student outcomes (Gonzalez et al., 2020).

Some benefits to LSD's leaders included systematically identifying concerns that may prompt the use of job-embedded training, PD, or mentor coaching. The data from the study provided insight into curricular components that teachers found challenging to implement with fidelity. Due to the complexity of innovations, teachers should participate in sustained PD (Smets & Struyven, 2020). District leaders will care about this study because it may help target these areas of concern and provide data to support the need for teacher training (Davis et al., 2018). Identifying teacher concerns may help district leaders proactively provide PD budgets to improve curriculum implementation.

Teachers may benefit if school leaders understand their concerns and provide support to implement the reading program better. In Pak et al. (2020) research, three principals reported that teachers were uncomfortable with implementing a new curriculum but changed their mindset when administrative leadership began to support their needs. In another study by Rogers (2021), the researcher used CBAM as the conceptual framework to explore teachers' attitudes and beliefs regarding implementing a standards-based curriculum. The results indicated that teachers' concerns informed their instructional practices. Furthermore, the researcher suggested that district leaders identify teachers' beliefs regarding implementation to offer PD to improve implementation processes and procedures.

Students may benefit from this study because exploring teachers' barriers and experiences may improve curriculum implementation. Moon and Young (2021) suggested that student outcomes may improve if teachers implement curricula as designed. Another barrier to implementing curricula involved teachers' need for more content knowledge. Ambusaidi et al. (2021) suggested that students' learning may decrease due to teachers' inadequate level of content knowledge. Research conducted by Troyer (2019) concluded that adaptations to the curriculum lead to students having different experiences and outcomes not intended by curriculum designers. Understanding teachers' perceptions regarding new curricula may improve students' chances of receiving instruction more closely aligned with curriculum designers.

CBAM represents the conceptual framework used for the study. The components of CBAM include the tools and techniques to assist leaders in identifying the concerns of staff involved in implementing new school programs (SEDL, n.d.) The selection of CBAM resulted from the perceived challenges related to implementing new initiatives. Implications for social change included implementing systemic changes by providing school leaders with informed data relevant to teachers' concerns before adopting a new school curriculum to improve fidelity.

Research Questions

In the LSD in the Eastern United States, there were challenges in using the new, required curriculum to improve the reading proficiency of third grade students. Since implementing a new evidence-based reading curriculum in 2019, there had yet to be a systematic effort to explore how teachers used the implementation and what challenges they had with the implementation. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences and challenges of third grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. The following research questions (RQs) were designed to explore teacher experiences and challenges with implementing the new 3rd grade reading curriculum:

RQ1: What are the experiences of 3rd grade teachers in the LSD with implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?

RQ2: What challenges and concerns do 3rd grade teachers in the LSD report with implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?

Review of the Literature

King-Sears et al. (2018) suggested that implementing new academic programs with fidelity may improve student outcomes. Implementing a new curriculum without determining the fidelity of implementation (FOI) makes it difficult to assess its effectiveness (Gale et al., 2020). Teachers' beliefs are essential factors in the change process and relate to the level of implementation (Jiang et al., 2020). Moon and Young (2021) expressed that a new reading program may lose effectiveness if not implemented with fidelity. Therefore, exploring teachers' perceptions regarding barriers and experiences during implementation occurred to understand the new academic program's effectiveness successfully.

The concerns based adoption model (CBAM), the conceptual framework used for the study, was created by Hall and Hord (1987; 2015). The CBAM components identify attitudes and beliefs toward adopting a new program. The model provides ways to explore teachers' perceptions during the implementation of an innovation (Wachidi, 2019). CBAM components will provide strategies and tools that allow educational leaders to gather data on teachers' concerns and program applications to create support to improve curriculum implementation (Rogers, 2021; Trapani & Annunziato, 2019). The concept or phenomenon that grounds this study was teachers' experiences implementing a required curriculum.

Conceptual Framework

To explore the experiences and challenges third grade teachers had with the new reading curriculum, I used elements of the CBAM (Hall & Hord, 2015). I primarily used the Stages of Concern Questionnaire (SoCQ) to develop interview questions. Also, during interviews, I used the innovation configuration matrix to help me understand where teachers view themselves along the continuum of implementing the new curriculum. As implementors become more comfortable using innovations, a shift occurs from unconcerned to how the innovation will influence students and colleagues (SEDL, n.d.).

CBAM originated following Fuller's work regarding teachers' concerns (Fuller, 1969). Since then, CBAM has been used in the educational setting to understand further

teachers' beliefs, concerns, and levels of adherence throughout the implementation process of innovations (Hall & Hord, 2020). The researchers posited that each person responds to a new program with uniqueness which causes implementation variability based on personal attitudes and beliefs (SEDL, n.d.). Utilizing CBAM may provide school leaders with evidence-based data to inform decisions and actions, leading to improved implementation (Rogers, 2021).

The components of CBAM include three diagnostic parts: innovation configurations (IC), stages of concern (SoC), and levels of use (LoU) (SEDL, n.d.). IC helps teachers to understand the design of the innovation and what constitutes exceptional implementation (SEDL, n.d.). Also, IC provides teachers with clear ideas of what the new practice looks like when it operates within the classroom (Hall & Hord, 2020). During the IC phase of CBAM, IC maps are developed based on documented implementation components and ideal versus problematic implementation ranges within each component (George et al., 2013).

The SoC element focuses on the people implementing the innovation to the end user. Kaimara et al. (2021) suggested that teachers' perceived value of an innovation is a significant factor in implementing curricula with fidelity. The SoC aims to highlight users' concerns during the implementation process (SEDL, n.d.). According to the developers, the SoC provides a critical step in understanding how implementors respond to change (Kayaduman & Demirel, 2019). The component includes seven categories of possible concerns related to innovation. According to Hall and Hord (2020), the change process involves the following stages of concern: (a) Stage 0: unconcerned, (b) Stage 1: informational, (c) Stage 2: personal, (d) Stage 3: management, (e) Stage 4: consequences, (f) Stage 5: collaboration, and (g) Stage 6: refocusing. As part of the SoC, the SoCQ is a questionnaire to ask implementors about their concerns when faced with a new program. The SoCQ is used to rate the extent to which participants agree with statements related to an innovation (Kayaduman & Demirel, 2019). Individual and group profiles emerge to assist stakeholders in addressing teachers' concerns regarding the new curriculum (George et al., 2013). Staff profiles emerge from the SoCQ data placing implementors within the seven SoC categories related to the innovation (George et al., 2013).

Finally, the LoU provides a tool to allow leaders to gather information on the degree of fidelity with which the innovations are being used (SEDL, n.d.). The LoU process includes providing staff members with questions to identify the implementation stage ranging from the beginning to a more advanced stage (SEDL, n.d.). Considering the SoC measures implementors' concerns regarding implementation, the SoC was selected as the focus for exploring experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. Interview questions were developed by adapting questions from SoCQ. Logical connections among key elements of CBAM included identifying teachers' barriers and practices when implementing a new reading curriculum, which served this study's purpose.

Review of the Broader Problem

In this literature review, I described the concept of curriculum implementation, teacher roles and responsibilities, curriculum alignment, barriers to implementation, and administrative support with regards to experiences and challenges of third grade teachers when implementing a new reading curriculum. To ensure literature saturation for this research, several steps were conducted to find relevant and current research. In finding resources for this study, the following keywords were used: *balanced literacy, barriers to implementation, CBAM, change process, curricular alignment, curriculum design, curriculum implementation, curriculum reform, FOI, Houghton Mifflin Harcourt, implementing innovations, interviews, qualitative research design, teaching and learning, thematic analysis, reading curriculum, teacher perceptions, school innovations, self-efficacy. Next, I discussed my proposed problem with my colleagues and classmates. Lastly, I used the Walden Library databases for searching which included the following: APA PsycInfo, SAGE Journals, Taylor and Francis Online, Education resources Information, Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), Google Scholar, ProQuest Central, Directory of Open Access Journals, and SocINDEX.*

Schools face a myriad of challenges to improve student achievement. Education funding comprises the highest component of state and local expenditures (Baker, 2021). Nonetheless, policy discussions often focus on enhancing inputs rather than changing school resource levels (Lafortune et al., 2018). Therefore, barriers may occur in implementing new curriculums, potentially influencing student achievement. Fidelity of implementation, which involves effectively implementing an evidence-based program or curriculum, is critical for student learning and improving student outcomes (Offerdahl et al., 2018; Pas et al., 2019; Scherer & Ingle, 2020). Specific to this study, researchers also found that students' scores on reading assessments were higher when teachers implemented reading interventions and curriculums with fidelity (Gonzalez et al., 2020; De La Paz et al., 2014). Effective implementation is integral to enacting new school reforms (Bosworth et al., 2018). Variances in implementing the key components of a curriculum may result in school leadership's inability to understand the basis for student outcomes (Topping, 2018). Willson and Falcon (2018) argued that a consistent lack of understanding regarding defining processes and procedures often resulted in various implementation practices.

When teachers use evidence-based methodologies, it increases the chance of student achievement (Cook et al., 2017; Lekwa et al., 2019). Since the 1990s, a shift towards evidence-based practices in education has occurred to ensure the proper implementation of programs (Connolly et al., 2018). In 2015, the federal government enacted ESSA (2015) to ensure that all students receive an equal educational opportunity. Significant to the current study, ESSA mandated that schools utilize evidence-based methodologies and provide for PD to enhance student outcomes (Graham et al., 2018; Slavin, 2020).

To implement a curriculum, teachers' knowledge of processes and procedures must align with the curriculum to ensure effective delivery (Lakin & Rambo-Hernandez, 2019). Often, teachers use broad discretion in interpreting and carrying out new school programs based on beliefs about literacy instruction (Anderson, 2017; Bingham & Hall-Kenyon, 2013). The fidelity of implementing curriculum as defined by curriculum designers influences student achievement (Kavanagh & Fisher-Ari, 2020; Siuty et al., 2018). Teachers may therefore face challenges in implementing curriculums, which may lead to challenges in effectively delivering the content of the curriculum and thereby prevent improvements in student achievement. Understanding teachers' perceptions of implementing the new reading curriculum can determine how the fidelity of implementing the new curriculum may be improved and thereby improve students' reading.

New Curriculum Implementation

Students may not experience academic success from exposure to the program if the curricula implementers deviate from the program design (Moon & Young, 2021). Traditionally, curriculum design includes goals, objectives, lesson plans, and materials. Teachers are the managers to change in schools (Taimur & Sattar, 2020). Curriculum designers expect curricula to be implemented the same across each grade level, but teachers often work in isolation, adapting instructional practices according to beliefs (Falloon et al., 2020). Horner et al. (2019) suggested that critical elements are associated with implementing innovations according to design.

Research indicated a series of stages that effectively facilitate adopting a new program, intervention, or practice (Bergmark et al., 2019; Forman et al., 2021; Myers et al., 2012). First, the organization should explore the need and fit of the new program to ensure stakeholder buy-in (Moir, 2018; Myers et al., 2012). Next, creating processes and procedures that match the program's design should occur (Forman et al., 2021; Myers et al., 2012). Then, practitioners implement the program adhering to processes and procedures detailed in the second stage (Nordstrum et al., 2017). Additionally, the organization should utilize practices and systems necessary for sustainability and scaling the program (Horner et al., 2017; Lee & Louis, 2019; Nordstrum et al., 2017). The stages

of implementation are iterative and require revisiting as new implementors encounter the program (Forman et al., 2013; von Thiele Schwarz et al., 2021). Identifying teacher beliefs about teaching and reform and conditions that support the sustainability of changes may help to facilitate the implementation of new school programs (Balgopal, 2020).

School system changes often involve curriculum with the expectations of quick implementation time frames, which challenges schools, especially teachers, as implementation agents (Dimmock et al., 2021). In an evaluation of curriculum implementation, the NCES (2012) reported that 16% of teachers recorded low levels of fidelity, 51% recorded average levels of fidelity, and 30% recorded high levels of fidelity of implementation. The NCES data underscores that a series of systematic supports is necessary to promote an efficient curriculum implementation (Faggella-Luby & Bonfiglio, 2020). Systematic support involves monitoring and measuring implementation fidelity's process and structure components (Nordstrum et al., 2017). The structure refers to the quantity of the program or intervention, whereas the process pertains to the implementation quality (Odom, 2009). When teachers implement new curriculums, practitioners adapt processes and procedures to fit their classroom context (Odom, 2009). The adaptations to curriculum occur based on teachers' values, perceptions, administrative support, and organizational context (Forman et al., 2013; Kim & Chung, 2017; Troyer, 2019).

Understanding teachers' beliefs and experiences may provide insights into whether instructional practices will parallel curriculum design (Sexton, 2020). A researcher analyzed the implementation of a reading intervention program for students more than two years below grade level (Troyer, 2019). The results indicated that only 14 percent of teaching time did not include adaptations to the curriculum (Troyer, 2019). Furthermore, the enactments on the curriculum varied among teachers, demonstrating that the changes reflect teachers' beliefs, mainly oriented towards the curriculum. To ensure alignment between curriculum design and implementation, teachers' beliefs about learning and teaching should match the philosophy of the curriculum. Cansiz and Cansiz (2022) researched the misalignment between curriculum philosophy and teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning. The findings indicated that teachers' classroom practices mirrored their previous experiences and approach to classroom instruction, which did not align with the curriculum developers' intentions. Before implementing innovations, the researchers recommended that PD align teachers' beliefs and understanding of the curriculum with developers (Cansiz & Cansiz, 2022).

Content Knowledge

Teachers may use identical curricula but based on their beliefs and content knowledge, use different techniques, strategies, and methods during the implementation phase (Ballard & Haroldson, 2022; Gallo-Fox & Cuccuini-Harmon, 2018; Nollmeyer, 2019). Different uses of the curriculum may have various effects on student outcomes. Gelmez-Burakgazi (2020) argued that teachers' characteristics play a significant role in program implementation. Some of the adaptations made to the curriculum involve teachers' characteristics regarding content knowledge, competence, attitudes, personal attributes, and teacher training (Latif et al., 2019; White et al., 2021). Ambusaidi et al. (2021) posited that insufficient content knowledge of a science curriculum hindered students' understanding and progress. The researchers suggested the need for PD to strengthen and sustain content knowledge espoused by the curriculum.

Teacher Self-Efficacy

Fullan (2018) suggested that successful implementation in an organization depends upon the ability to manage the social process of people. The researcher acknowledged that change is relative to the preparedness and actions of people. According to Gene Hall (SEDL, n.d.), staff may respond to change in many ways. Understanding their beliefs about self-efficacy may influence implementation levels. DeJarnette (2018) described the successful implementation of a science, technology, engineering, art, and math program due to increased teachers' self-efficacy and disposition toward the new curriculum. The researcher believed that increases from pre to post survey indicated their ability to utilize the curriculum as designed increased as teachers' self-efficacy increased. Understanding teachers' beliefs about self-efficacy are required to support the curricular demands necessary to address the learning needs of students (Martinez, 2022; De Smul et al., 2020). Liu and Liao (2019) suggested that jobembedded, inquiry oriented PD positively correlated with teacher efficacy.

Lee et al. (2018) recognized a connection between teacher content knowledge and student achievement. The researchers found that teachers' subject matter knowledge regarding problem posing influences students' mathematical achievements. In another study, researchers found that adopting and integrating an information technology program (ICT) was governed by teachers' characteristics, such as ICT knowledge and attitudes toward the program's tenets (Lawrence & Tar, 2018). Neuman and Danielson (2021) suggested that teachers' content knowledge may support their confidence and skill in teaching content-rich curricula, which may improve curriculum implementation. Considering teachers' self-efficacy and content knowledge's significant role in implementing programs, understanding the perceived barriers to implementation is necessary (Bondie et al., 2019; Capp, 2020; Philipsen et al., 2019).

Curriculum Component Effectiveness

Additional reasons teachers choose not to implement a curriculum with fidelity stem from their beliefs surrounding the ineffectiveness of the curriculum and the notion that the curriculum may violate best practices (Kelly, 2018). Barrett-Tatum and Smith (2018) analyzed the implementation of the Common Core State Standards (CCSS), which aimed to ensure students' quality education across the nation. Teachers in the study felt that the CCSS restricted creativity and did not call for using proven methodologies. Teachers must feel prepared and supported when making standard mastery a reality for all students. Barrett-Tatum and Smith (2018) argued that teachers' lack of belief that CCSS aligned with the needs of all students led to low implementation adherence. Furthermore, the authors concluded that teachers must be provided opportunities to become familiar with standards and feel prepared and supported when implementing instructional practices outlined in curricula through sustained PD. Zucker et al. (2021) research concluded that teachers' reluctance to implement the curriculum as designed stemmed from beliefs that some activities needed to fit better students with unique needs, such as English learners or students with special needs.

Researchers have found that demanding pacing expectations come with many new curricula (Gelmez-Burakgazi, 2020; Zucker et al., 2021). Researchers found that a primary barrier to implementing curricula with fidelity stemmed from competing priorities for teachers' time (Gillam et al., 2022; Zucker et al., 2021). Zucker et al. (2021) concluded that the curriculum needed to allow adequate time to deliver instruction or prep time for teachers to prepare for program delivery. Gilliam et al. (2021) suggested that when teachers fail to include essential lesson components, they run out of time. Gelmez-Burakgazi (2020) suggested that one reason teachers may adapt a program is based on time limitations built into the curricula. Teachers find methods to adapt the curriculum to compensate for time constraints (Nurlaily et al., 2019). White et al. (2021) conducted a study using an action research approach to uncover barriers to implementing a program. The researcher concluded that time was a significant factor preventing teachers from implementing the curriculum with fidelity. Teachers expressed concerns about insufficient time to conduct instructional activities and cover the necessary content (White et al., 2021).

Understanding how teachers think about and use curricula elements may influence the outcomes of the implemented program (Swindle et al., 2022). Key factors influencing implementation include general concerns regarding the new program, fidelity, and influence (Swindle et al., 2022). A relationship exists between teachers' attitudes about a curriculum, their level of use, and the type of changes made during implementation (Kim et al., 2020; Locke et al., 2019). Some implementors make adaptions to improve the fit of innovation within a context. In contrast, others may decide to change or remove core components of a program, which may reduce effectiveness (Wiltsey Stirman et al., 2019). Also, research suggests that attitudes about evidence-based practices, as part of a curriculum, relate to implementers' adaptations. When implementors have negative attitudes toward curriculum components, they tend to make more adaptations relating to decreasing required activities and changing the order activities are implemented (Kim et al., 2020).

School Climate

The challenge of providing positive working environments affects the adoption of programs within school districts (Reaves & Cozzens, 2018). Existing research supports a connection between a positive school climate and teachers' ability to facilitate meaningful learning for students (Darling-Hammond & Oakes, 2021; Zysberg & Schwabsky, 2021). Understanding teachers' perceptions about school climate may assist school officials in aligning programs and ensuring that implemented programs are effective (De Smul et al., 2020; Reaves & Cozzens, 2018). Williams et al. (2021) posited that school culture and climate are linked to the quality of implementation of evidence-based practices in schools. Improvement in the organizational environment contributes to improved implementation outcomes (Williams & Glisson, 2020). The need to understand teachers' perceptions of school climate when implementing a new curriculum is apparent, considering the effect on instruction and fidelity of implementation (Oder & Eisenschmidt, 2018).

Teacher Roles and Responsibilities

Teachers are vital in delivering curriculum in their classrooms (Gelmez-Burakgazi, 2020). Teachers should understand the goals and objectives of the curriculum to ensure FOI (Cansiz & Cansiz, 2022; Lewis et al., 2019). Raymond et al. (2020) found that teachers' ability to implement an aligned curriculum using best practices and required materials is integral to supporting positive student outcomes. Teachers need the training to meet the goals and objectives of a curriculum. One way to support teachers' preparedness to implement a curriculum is to involve teachers in the design or development of the curriculum (Lewis et al., 2019; Quigley et al., 2020; Voogt et al., 2018). A higher quality product will emerge when teachers are involved in curriculum development. The authors found that teachers' involvement improves instructional practices, increases implementation fidelity, and contributes to student achievement (Vaughn et al., 2021; Voogt et al., 2018). Understanding teachers' perceptions regarding their role in curriculum design may lead to identifying teachers' concerns about implementing a new program (Voogt et al., 2018).

Identifying teacher beliefs about teaching and reform and conditions that support the sustainability of changes may facilitate the implementation of reforms (Balgopal, 2020). Teachers' perceptions of the school climate, such as openness to innovation, decision making powers, and collaborative opportunities, all influence the implementation of programs (Malloy et al., 2015). Monitoring the quality of delivery may help identify when teachers' perceptions affect the implementation process. According to Woulfin (2015), teachers' responsiveness to new reforms varies based on the level of exposure to policy messages regarding the new program. When school leaders emphasize specific reform components, it increases the use of the feature.

Historically, teachers have faced challenges when implementing curriculum in classrooms. Understanding the challenges and concerns of teachers implementing school programs may allow leaders to identify ways to mitigate the barriers leading to improved student outcomes. Nollmeyer et al. (2019) conducted a study to explore teachers' barriers to implementing a new program. One significant barrier identified in the study was curriculum alignment. Teachers indicated a need for more alignment between the required activities and the constructivist approach to engage students in problem solving and critical thinking. In another study by García et al. (2021), teachers used a dialogic cognitive strategy to instruct students during reading class. The researchers indicated that teachers held limited views of the students' capabilities, which led teachers to compensate by making changes during the implementation process. Additionally, the researchers concluded that teachers' concerns that students would not benefit from small group lessons prevented teachers from fully implementing the strategy (García et al., 2021).

Proposing ways to mitigate barriers made it necessary to understand why teachers choose not to implement a curriculum as designed. In a study conducted by Folsom et al. (2019), teachers spent most of the time in whole-class instruction instead of small group instruction suggested for the Tier 3 reading intervention program aimed at struggling students. Research findings revealed that only two-thirds of instructional time was spent on reading-related activities to improve the target groups' reading deficiencies. Related to the variability in instruction, the researchers suggested that teachers involved in the study
may have lacked the knowledge, experience, or confidence to implement the program (Folsom et al., 2019). Teachers may benefit from PD and literacy coaching to improve teaching practices to improve struggling readers' comprehension. Davis et al. (2019) completed a study to evaluate the use of literacy coaches on teachers' implementation of instructional practices with struggling readers. The results indicated that coaching improved teachers' instructional practices and student achievement (Davis et al., 2019).

Barriers to Implementing New Programs

Factors that may affect the fidelity of implementing programs include teachers' belief that a discrepancy exists between students' abilities and curriculum goals, the complexity of the program, and the lack of resources (Margot & Kettler, 2019; McMaster et al., 2021; McKenna & Parenti, 2017). Teachers must be highly receptive to implementing the curriculum as designed (Phillips et al., 2017). When teachers perceive that certain aspects of a new curriculum will not meet students' needs, it may lead to inconsistent adaptations or nonacceptance (Daniel & Lemons, 2018). Research indicated that when teachers perceive the curriculum as inflexible or complex, it may cause hesitancy or reluctance to engage the curriculum during the instructional process (Le et al., 2021). Dijkstra et al. (2017) conducted a study to determine the FOI of a program implemented across 18 study sites. The results indicated a lack of fidelity, mainly due to a lack of administrator support and resources. Therefore, when teachers lack sufficient resources and support from leadership and display negativity toward the program, FOI may suffer (Dijkstra et al., 2017).

Another criterion that may affect implementation is teachers' perceptions regarding personal classroom management skills and instructional knowledge. Kanter and Konstantopoulos (2010) suggested that teachers' lack of content and pedogeological knowledge may influence their ability to enact the curriculum as designed. Also, research indicated that when teachers feel unprepared to manage the classrooms, it affects the learning environment (Nagro et al., 2019). Teachers understand that disengaged students experience challenges with meeting learning expectations (Nagro et al., 2019). Educators struggling with classroom management may become distracted by disruptive behaviors and change the curriculum to remain on pace. When teachers utilize effective classroom management strategies, students engage significantly more during class (Kennedy et al., 2017), leading to greater adherence and effectiveness in program implementation.

Additional factors relating to the barriers to implementing programs with fidelity involve teachers' personal beliefs regarding the capability and knowledge to implement the reform (Cottone et al., 2021). When teachers lack experience in implementing new programs, it may cause anxiousness and result in teachers' reluctance to implement the curriculum as designed (Xenofontos, 2019). Teachers' beliefs about their ability to provide effective instruction may influence instructional strategies associated with the curriculum (Cottone et al., 2021; Nichols et al., 2020). In a research study, Poulou et al. (2019) investigated the relationship between teachers' self-efficacy and classroom practices. One outcome of the study was that teachers with high levels of self-efficacy used instructional strategies designed by the curriculum developers to facilitate students' mastery of skills. Consequently, understanding teachers' beliefs regarding self-efficacy remains significant to ensuring that teachers use practices outlined in the curriculum.

Considering that teachers are the curriculum implementers, a significant influence on FOI relates to teachers' perceptions (Sulaiman et al., 2017). Teachers' perception of the work environment affects the implementation of the curriculum. Ford et al. (2018) studied how teachers' perceptions of the working environment affect instructional practice. The researcher concluded that unsupported teachers lean towards teaching to the test and narrowing the curriculum. Additionally, the quality of curricula and material resources, planning time, and opportunities for collegial interactions affect how teachers enact instructional practices as prescribed (Bettini et al., 2020). These trends suggested that teachers require a supportive environment to work and interact with new programs with fidelity (Ford et al., 2017; Hargreaves, 2010; Holloway & Brass, 2018).

Other teacher perceptions about implementing programs with fidelity included teacher beliefs regarding alignment between curriculum and students' lived experiences, background knowledge, and missed opportunities to connect with students' emerging abilities. Maniates (2017) conducted a recent study examining how teachers at an urban elementary school adapted to the curriculum to increase student access. One teacher made adaptations when she expected limited benefits to her students or perceived a disconnect between students and the curriculum. Another teacher's adaptation occurred because the program content excluded students by not offering opportunities to build background knowledge before introducing abstract concepts. Similarly, a different teacher reported adding or removing content that she felt needed or unnecessary to fill in

her students' learning gaps (Maniates, 2017). The literature infers that teachers must believe in the effectiveness of the curriculum to implement the curriculum as designed.

School Leadership

Researchers have identified administrative support as necessary for teacher success and the implementation of new school programs (Bosworth et al., 2018; Locke et al., 2019; Ganon-Shilon & Schechter, 2019). Principals should feel equipped to support the implementation of new school programs (Acton, 2021; Forman et al., 2021). Hall and Hord (2020) described what they considered an effective change process that includes six factors: (1) developing a shared vision, (2) planning and providing resources, (3) investing in professional learning, (4) checking on progress, (5) providing continuous assistance and (6) creating a culture supportive of change. Acton (2021) suggested that school leaders' gaps in the understanding of the change process may contribute to the failed implementation of educational programs. The researcher posited that principals' inability to understand teachers' different stages of understanding and skill might require differentiated interventions by principals as an example of a gap in understanding the change process. With personalized support, teachers can implement new strategies (Acton, 2021).

Principals may not implement a new school program because principals do not 'buy in' to the exigency of a proposed mandate, or they might feel overloaded and reluctant to take on another responsibility (Acton, 2021). Additional challenges to implementing new reforms include needing more support from district leaders and difficulties coordinating other duties while implementing mandated reforms (AbuAlghayth et al., 2020; Simon et al., 2021). In a study by Acton (2021), all participants described a barrier to implementation stemming from a lack of district support. The principals believed that districts should share the responsibility for change implementation, including providing opportunities for PD and visits to schools by the superintendent to identify which schools need help in the change process (Acton, 2021; Meyer-Looze et al., 2019). Simon et al. (2021) suggested the need for ongoing PD for principals and teachers as key to the successful implementation of reforms.

Principals must be able to manage administrative duties, including becoming instructional leaders to ensure that teachers are prepared to use best practices and reduce teachers' resistance to change when implementing curriculum (Chabalala & Naidoo, 2021; Lang, 2019; Tremont & Templeton, 2019). Research suggests that principals should execute all activities and processes to support teachers' enhancement of curriculum delivery and reduce resistance to implementation (Lang, 2019). Bellibas et al. (2021) conducted a study investigating the effects of principals' leadership on teachers' instructional quality. Researchers indicate that teachers' classroom instructional practices significantly influence students' learning outcomes (Bryce et al., 2019; Duke et al., 2018; Hassan & Akbar, 2020). Bellibas et al. (2021) study indicated that the more principals engaged in instructional leadership, the better the quality of instruction among teachers at their school. To ensure the development of teachers' ability to deliver the curriculum as prescribed, principals need to ensure that teachers receive relevant and continued PD (Chabalala & Naidoo, 2021). Establishing and maintaining PLCs are beneficial to adopting reforms in schools, making it essential to understand the challenges teachers may experience as part of a PLC. Willis and Templeton (2018) suggested that schools consider PLCs to provide students with programs to overcome obstacles to student achievement. Wan (2020) argued that positive school reform occurs when teachers participate in PLCs. Integrating PLCs within the school culture helps to promote a culture of student achievement. Principals must facilitate connecting the use of PLCs to making practical changes in the school that subsequently affects learning for all students and teachers (Meyer-Looze et al., 2019). As part of the PLC process, principals must champion the mutual trust between themselves and teachers to ensure the sustainably of PLCs (Meyer-Looze et al., 2019). However, principals reported challenges regarding providing time to establish and maintain PLCs. Therefore, understanding teachers' concerns involving participation in PLCs was necessary because of the connection with implementation readiness.

Principal Perceptions of Implementing Programs

Leadership is a critical factor in the successful or unsuccessful implementation of school initiatives (Bosworth et al., 2018; Ganon-Shilon & Schechter, 2019). Turning reforms into school reality depends greatly on principals. Schechter and Shaked (2017) studied why principals refrain from fully implementing new school programs. The researchers used maximal differentiation sampling to select 59 principals to participate in the exploration. Schechter and Shaked (2017) concluded that principals' implementation decisions derive from several factors but depend on personal belief systems. First, principals often deviate from implementation guidelines to better align plans within the

school climate (Schechter & Shaked 2017). Subsequently, even though the principals felt optimistic about the reforms, changes occurred to align theory with practice better.

Another reason many principals adapt to reforms involves their desire to lessen the disruption of the day-to-day functionality of the school (Schechter & Shaked, 2017). Many principals believed it essential to lessen the burden that change brings regarding teachers' work habits and workloads. Also, many principals reported refraining from fully implementing reforms due to their desire to use personal judgment to make significant decisions (Schechter & Shaked, 2017). In their view, principals are responsible for adhering to protocol while still using their knowledge and experience to make decisions.

Furthermore, principals must be willing to create an environment whereby efficient instruction occurs through continuous PD to assist in implementing programs as designed. Principals control the training and support opportunities, teacher assignments, and allowable planning time (Stockard, 2020). The utilization of PD remains imperative regarding teachers' preparedness to enact the curriculum as designed. To implement programs as planned, teachers require ongoing support and training for several years (Stylianou et al., 2019). Teachers participating in practical, continuous, and systematic PD potentially increase the quality of literacy instruction (Miller et al., 2019; Mystakidis et al., 2021). As instructional leaders, principals should provide PD opportunities to improve teachers' skills at adhering to implementation designs.

Curriculum Fidelity

One of the significant responsibilities of the teacher includes delivering a curriculum with fidelity, which means implementing the curriculum as designed by

developers. Traditionally, curricula vary in scope and content but are intended to facilitate skills development and improve student achievement (Nesbitt & Farran, 2021). Teachers' attitudes and influences toward a curriculum may influence implementation (Nesbitt & Farran, 2021). To understand if a curriculum accounts for a positive or negative effect on student outcomes identifying FOI becomes significant. Researchers have identified four components associated with FOI: (a) adherence, (b) exposure, (c) quality of program delivery, and (d) participant responsiveness (Hill & Erickson, 2019; Lemire et al., 2023; McNeill et al., 2018). Based on teachers' perceptions concerning curriculum, fidelity is significant because teachers choose to implement curriculum based on their beliefs, attitudes, and concerns. van Kuijk et al. (2021) reviewed the literature to uncover positive and negative factors experienced when implementing a literacy program. The researchers indicated several reasons that may cause teachers to augment implementation, including their beliefs regarding incompatibility with their pedagogical preferences and reservations about the external group development of curriculum.

Implications

Implications for possible project directions emerged from data collection and analysis associated with this basic qualitative study. The study will help the LSD leaders understand the influence of teachers' perceptions concerning experiences and challenges implementing the new curriculum as designed. Anyon et al. (2019) indicated that adhering to program design is necessary to ensure fidelity. Therefore, understanding teachers' perceptions in implementing the curriculum will enable school leaders to consider the support teachers require to implement the curriculum with fidelity. Accordingly, the development of a comprehensive PD was considered. Although the LSD provided PD on implementing the new curriculum, teachers perceived the new curriculum processes and procedures as confusing. A PD workshop addressed the possible gaps in practice that emerged. Researchers have suggested that PD will help teachers become aware of the components of evidence-based curriculums and address other concerns regarding best practices (De Simone, 2020; Farkas & Jang, 2019; Matherson & Windle, 2017). Also, Shaw and Hurst (2012) agreed that school leaders should offer PD opportunities to improve the implementation of programs. Therefore, a PD workshop will help teachers and principals better understand how to implement the curriculum as intended. Additional implications of this study included potential transferability to implementing a new curriculum in other subject areas, grade levels, and school districts.

Summary

Nationwide, schools have implemented academic programs based on various learning and teaching frameworks (Farkas & Jang, 2019). In the LSD, a new reading curriculum was introduced and implemented in 2019 amidst low reading proficiency scores. The problem was that in the years since the inception of this new curriculum, reading proficiency scores remained low, and the district had not explored teacher experiences and challenges with the implementation of the new curriculum. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. Based on this problem and purpose, and in alignment with the CBAM as the conceptual framework, the research questions were used to guide this study.

The literature review addressed the curriculum implementation, teacher roles and responsibilities, administrative support, CBAM, and barriers to implementation related to implementing the new curriculum. The literature showed the significant role of teachers and principals in support of implementing curriculum with fidelity. As a result, the findings of this study provided recommendations for improving the implementation of the new curriculum to improve the intended outcomes of reading proficiency among third graders.

In Section 2 of this project study, I described the methodology used to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing a new reading curriculum. The methodology section included a description of the research design and approach, the setting and sample, the criteria for selecting participants, the ethical protection of participants, and instruments and materials. Furthermore, Section 2 detailed data collection and analysis, assumptions, limitations, and the measures taken for the accuracy and credibility of the study's findings.

Section 2: The Methodology

Introduction

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences and challenges of third grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. Upon investigation, teachers' perceptions regarding implementing the new curriculum and student achievement may improve due to enriched teacher capabilities to implement the program with fidelity. The study results provided the impetus to promote collaborative discussions between principals and teachers to enhance the future implementation of the new curriculum. The RQs aligned with the problem and the research purpose: to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. This project study focused on the following RQs:

RQ1: What are the experiences of third grade teachers in the LSD with implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?

RQ2: What challenges and concerns do third grade teachers in the LSD report with implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?

In Section 2 of this doctoral project study, I discussed the methodology used to determine the research questions' findings in Section 1. I utilized a basic qualitative study approach focused on third grade teachers in an urban school district. The basic qualitative approach was appropriate for this project study considering the overarching goal was to collect data on teachers' perceptions regarding implementing the new curriculum. The basic qualitative design also aligned with the research questions about teachers'

perceptions when implementing the reading curriculum. Lodico et al. (2010) indicated that the qualitative approach focuses on the social phenomena and highlights the participants' perceptions involved in the study. Therefore, I used the qualitative approach to investigate the problem in this project study.

I used semistructured interviews to understand teachers' perceptions of implementing the new curriculum. In section 2, I outlined sample procedures, data collection, and the data analysis method. I analyzed the data to determine if perceptions regarding implementation related to desires for increased understanding of the new curriculum, a lack of resources, or PD, which may have caused a gap in practice. The data provided a deeper understanding of the gaps in practice that exists and the effects of implementing the new curriculum with fidelity. The data from this project helped determine best practices for implementing the new curriculum.

Research Design and Approach

Description of the Qualitative Tradition

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. In qualitative studies, researchers collect data to understand human experiences and situations and individuals' cultures, perceptions, and values related to a phenomenon (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Traditionally, researchers using the qualitative approach use semistructured interviews as a data collection method (Rutberg & Bouikidis, 2018; Mohajan, 2018). The unique nature of the qualitative approach allows the researchers to examine the participants' perceptions while exercising their subjective judgment to shape the knowledge produced through personal reflexivity (Lodico et al., 2010; Tuffour, 2017). Ultimately, the data collected shed light on teachers' perceptions regarding implementing the new third grade reading curriculum.

Another feature of qualitative studies pertains to the selection of participants. Qualitative research should occur in the participants' natural setting, using nonrandom methods to collect data that may explain a phenomenon based on the study's results (Lodico et al., 2010; Yin, 2015). The researcher used purposeful sampling for this project study. Using purposeful sampling assists researchers in identifying and selecting individuals or groups exposed to or experienced with the problem (Palinkas et al., 2015). Therefore, selecting purposeful sampling further aligned the current study with the qualitative research method.

Justification for Implementing a Basic Qualitative Design

The basic qualitative research design supported the exploration of this project study. Dames (2019) suggested that the basic qualitative research design is the most common form of qualitative research. The basic qualitative research design involves developing a deep understanding of a phenomenon by exploring a problem (Creswell, 2012). Polit and Beck (2012) indicated that selecting a qualitative research design stems from multiple factors. The criteria included determining if various means of data collection were needed to understand the problem, which design fits the study, the data collection plan, and the resources required to devote to the investigation. According to Ravitch and Carl (2019), the basic qualitative design focuses on the social aspect of research and usually involves interviews to gather rich narratives to answer the problem. Hockey and Forsey (2020) suggested that research interviews allow for collecting insightful data that rarely occurs using surveys or observations. Also, Denzin and Lincoln (2017) claimed that the most popular data collection tool within qualitative research involves interviews. For this project study, the data collection tool used by the researcher included semistructured interviews.

Several factors influenced the selection of the research design for this study. Researchers using the quantitative design collect and summarize data numerically, whereas qualitative methodology provides for the collection of rich descriptive words regarding the problem (Creswell, 2012). Quantitative data collection encompasses surveys, statistics, and questionnaires, while qualitative focuses on participant interviews (Henson et al., 2020; Mohajan, 2018). Also, the quantitative methodology traditionally utilizes random sampling to gather data (Rahman, 2022). The sampling used in this project study was purposeful to target individuals with exposure to and knowledge of the LSD's curriculum. Therefore, a basic qualitative research design was appropriate based on the project study's data collection plan, goal, and planned use of findings.

Additional Research Designs Not Selected

Although the data collection plan and goal of the current study aligned with the basic qualitative design, several other designs did not meet the criteria for various reasons. The qualitative methods not selected included ethnography research, grounded theory, phenomenological theory, case study, and narrative. Additionally, the mixed-methods approach was not chosen for a variety of reasons. The qualitative and mixed methods not chosen did not fully align with the current study.

The grounded theory design perpetuates the use of data to develop a theory (Johnsson, 2021). The core practices of grounded theory explore hypotheses based on data that produce a tested and confirmed theory (Conlon et al., 2020). The present study did not present a theory based on the results. Consequently, the grounded theory design was not selected as the research design.

Another design not selected for this project study was the ethnographic approach. The ethnographic design involves a long-term data collection process in a natural setting to document the meaning people give to objects or themselves within a particular culture (Hammersley, 2018). One key element of the ethnographic approach requires researchers to become part of the participants' group to gain perspectives (Lodico et al., 2010). The ethnographic design was not selected, considering that I, as the researcher, did not become a part of the participants' environment or culture.

A phenomenological research design focuses on the structure of participants' experiences. This design captures the lived experiences of multiple people by the researcher immersing themselves in the participants' lives (Creswell, 2012; Yin, 2015). This process includes exploring the essence of participants' lived experiences versus collecting opinions, views, or interpretations of experiences (Flynn & Korcuska, 2018). The qualitative approach aligned better with collecting data reflecting the perceptions of teachers. Therefore, the phenomenological design was not selected for this project study.

Merriam (2009) suggested that the case study design tends to become the selected option when the study design does not fit other types of descriptive qualitative frameworks. Specific to case studies, multiple data collection methods are needed to understand the case and resulting data (Yin, 2017). The case study should occur within a bounded system as the researcher pays close attention to the context in which the study was embedded (Tomaszewski et al., 2020). The current project study used only one data source to explore teachers' perceptions regarding implementing the new curriculum. Based on the criteria, the case study design was not selected for this project study.

Another qualitative approach not selected for this study involved the narrative inquiry. Using the narrative approach, the researcher aims to collect data and chronologically develop stories through structural analysis (Ford, 2020; Nasheeda et al., 2019). Conversely, the purpose of the current study relates to exploring the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. Also, through layering, the narrative approach enables the researcher to identify the similarities across narratives about the same issue or problem (McAleese & Kilty, 2019). The current study used eight interview questions and five follow up questions to identify similarities and differences regarding the experiences, challenges, and concerns associated with implementing a reading curriculum.

The mixed-method research model combines quantitative and qualitative components to understand trends in numerical data (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The mixed-methods approach was not ideal for this study, considering it involves collecting data for statistical interpretation. Miles et al. (2019) suggested that errors may occur when combining quantitative and qualitative methodologies during data analysis. The primary purpose of the data collection was to collect in-depth information regarding teachers' experiences while implementing a school program. Bearman (2019) posited that when participants use numbers to provide information about opinions, it becomes challenging to offer accurate data.

Participants

Population and Sampling Procedures

The setting for this project study was an urban school district, LSD, located in the northeastern part of the United States. The total student population of the local school district was 131,000, including elementary (PreK–5), middle school (6-8), high school (9-12), and other specialty schools (State Department of Education, n.d.). During the 2019-2020 school year, the LSD employed sightly over 9,300 teachers to instruct and meet the needs of its students. The LSD (see Table 1) comprised various types of schools throughout the district. Specifically, the LSD encompassed 120 elementary schools, 24 traditional middle schools, K-8 schools, 24 high schools, five early childhood centers, and four special centers. For purposes of this study, 14 elementary schools within the local school district received invitations to participate in the study. The 14 schools selected represented about 10% of the total elementary schools within the LSD.

Table 1.

LSD Demographics

	Number
Type of School	of Schools
Elementary	120
Traditional Middle	24
K-8	12
High School	31
Special Center	4
Early Childhood	5
Total	196

Criteria for Selecting Participants

The sample for this study included 12 third grade teachers. The third grade teachers were responsible for implementing the new curriculum. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences and challenges of third grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. Therefore, the criteria for participating in the study included third grade teachers with at least one year of experience teaching the new curriculum. Selected participants must have utilized the new curriculum and therefore provided data pertinent to the experiences and challenges of implementing the program. Adhering to the criteria is necessary to ensure participants' expertise in answering the research questions (Fusch & Ness, 2017).

Justification for Number of Participants

The sample for this study included 12 third grade teachers. Third graders comprised 7% of the total student population within the LSD. The LSD had 120 elementary schools. The selection of 12 participants allowed access to 10% of the elementary schools within the LSD. Gathering data from 12 teachers enabled me to select participants from across the county to collect information from a diverse range of teachers. In qualitative research, the goal is to use the tools to gather enough data to reach saturation (Guest et al., 2020). Although estimating sample size is significant to ensure research quality, determining the number of interviews needed remains controversial and cannot be estimated with certainty (Sebele-Mpofu & Serpa, 2020). Some researchers indicate saturation levels of 10-12 interviews (Guest et al., 2006; Guest et al., 2020; Saunders et al., 2018). The sampling strategy was purposeful in recruiting participants exposed to the new curriculum. Participants have exposure to the phenomenon and share a similar trait to provide critical information supporting research questions (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007; Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Therefore, the criteria for participating in the study included third grade teachers with at least one year of teaching with the new curriculum. Selected participants must have utilized the new curriculum and, therefore, provided data pertinent to the fidelity of implementing the program.

Etikan et al. (2016) indicated that utilizing purposive sampling emphasizes data saturation. In qualitative studies, sample size is often justified by interviewing participants until reaching data saturation (Francis et al., 2010). Research indicates that data saturation may appear around 12 participants in a relatively homogeneous group (Boddy, 2016; Guest et al., 2006; Guest et al., 2020; Namey et al., 2016). Also, Percy et al. (2015) suggested that a small but highly experienced sample can provide rich information on a qualitative research study topic. Creswell (2012) maintains that it is better to have a few participants to ensure an in-depth understanding of the phenomenon. Therefore, the small purposeful sample of 12 participants allowed for rich data collection from the participants agreeing to participate in this research study.

Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants

Upon receiving permission from the IRB and the LSD's Office of Research and Evaluation, the participants were recruited using a purposeful sampling of 14 participants. First, I sent the principal permission to conduct research study authorization (Appendix B) to the 14 schools targeted for participation. Then, I gathered the teachers' names and email addresses from the school's website that met the requirements. The criteria for participating in the study included third grade teachers with at least one year of teaching with the new curriculum. Selected participants must have utilized the new curriculum and therefore provided data pertinent to the fidelity of implementing the program. I sent the participant the informed consent form requesting participation in the study. When the potential participants responded to my email confirming their desire to participate in the study by typing "I consent," I called them within 48 hours to arrange a day and time for the interview. I requested that participants respond to the consent form within ten business days of receiving the form.

The informed consent letter clarified participants' potential role in the investigation, research procedures, benefits, risks, and a statement advising that participants are not obligated to participate. Each potential participant responded to the informed consent letter within ten working days with a convenient date and time within a four week window to participate in the interview. After receiving the informed consent letter from the participants, I contacted each participant to establish a researcher-participant working relationship. I selected the first 12 teachers who consented to volunteer. For the additional participants consenting to volunteer, I thanked them for agreeing to participate. I advised that the threshold had been reached according to the requirements outlined in the consent letter. I provided a \$20 Amazon card to incentivize participants to complete the interview. Additionally, I adhered to the privacy and confidentially statements provided in the consent letter.

Establishing Researcher-Participant Relationship

An integral part of this basic qualitative study reflected data capturing using semistructured interviews. The depth of information disclosed by participants evolves based on the quality of the researcher and participant relationship (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Also, Heslop et al. (2018) indicated that the researcher must maintain a safe environment for participants. Additionally, researchers must fully disclose the research goal and purpose to participants (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). I established the researcher participant relationship by divulging the intent, data collection procedures, the voluntary nature of the study, and confidentially procedures to the participants. Before conducting interviews, I received a signed informed consent letter from each participant.

Further consideration was to ensure researcher participant relationship was related to data collection and participant confidentially. The researcher is responsible for collecting data and addressing potential ethical challenges (Merriam, 2009). My goal was to set boundaries as a researcher and take steps to ensure the participants' comfort. The participants were advised that all identifiable information was removed from the study before publishing the results. Each participant's interview was coded alphanumerically, hiding all references to schools and the names of individuals.

The interview protocols put in place further underscored the establishment of the researcher participant relationship (Merriam, 2014). I asked permission to record each interview to ensure my attention during the interview. Then, I began the interview by building rapport by focusing on an introductory conversation unrelated to the study. DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) suggested that interviewers should take steps to build

rapport with participants. Next, I explained why the study was being conducted and how the participants' participation was voluntary and significant. During the interview, I maintained a sense of authenticity and was open to participants' points of view. Upon completing each interview, I thanked the participants for their participation and reiterated the details from the informed consent document. Following these protocols and procedures ensured that participants understood the importance of knowledge and commitment to maintaining confidentially of each participant (Merriam, 2014).

Ethical Protection of Participants

Considering human subjects were a significant part of this study, many protocols were adopted to ensure the privacy and rights of all participants. I received approval from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) and the school district's Department of Research and Evaluation before contacting participants and collecting data. The Walden University's approval number for this study was 03-21-23-0675887. The participants received an informed consent letter explaining the investigation's purpose, risks, benefits, and the voluntary nature of the study.

Brothers et al. (2019) indicated that researchers should treat participants with dignity and respect during investigations. In November 2022, I received a certificate acknowledging completing the CITI web-based training, Doctoral Student Researchers, to protect participants' rights and conduct research ethically. I guaranteed that all data would be kept confidential by coding and securing information to prevent privacy violations, coercion, social or economic loss, psychological stress, or other health effects. Participants' responses were coded alphanumerically such as to provide confidentiality. The electronic correspondence and data were collected from each participant in a password protected email. The procedures ensured that I was the only one able to identify and access participants' information. I will securely keep all forms, notes, and recordings for five years. To ensure that data is irretrievable after the retention period, the secure data sanitization method I will use for computer files is Cyberscrub (Garfinkel & Shelat, 2003), and cross-cut shredding for forms, emails, and notes (Barnhill & Barnhill, 2014).

As the researcher of this study, I had access to the data acquired during the data collection process. In addition, participants had the opportunity to review the study's preliminary results as a means of member checking. Also, a peer debriefer accessed 10% of the research study codes and themes during the data analysis to improve the study's validity. The peer debriefer signed a confidentiality agreement (Appendix D) before receiving the information. Each participant's data included an alphanumeric code created by labeling each participant according to the order of the interview. For example, I labeled teacher one T1 and teacher two T2, and so on to ensure that schools and participants remained confidential.

Data Collection

Justification of Data Collection Methods

Semistructured interviews constitute a vital data collection tool to capture qualitative perceptions, opinions, and experiences (Bano et al., 2018). Selecting a dependable, valid, and appropriate instrument is vital to ensure alignment within the study (Creswell, 2014). This project study utilized semistructured interviews. Collecting data using semistructured interviews allowed the researcher to ask predetermined and probing questions to dig deeper into the participants' responses (McGrath et al., 2019). The semistructured interviews were conducted after participants signed an informed consent letter agreeing to participate in the investigation. The data was collected one-on-one utilizing Zoom conferencing. Using Zoom is a safe method for videoconferencing for conducting qualitative interviews (Archibald et al., 2019; Oliffe et al., 2021). The interviews were used to answer RQ1 and RQ2. Also, the interviews were audio recorded and labeled with the assigned alphanumeric code. Audio recording of the interviews will improve the consistency of the data (Lodico et al., 2010).

Interviews

Interviews were appropriate for this basic qualitative study to gain teachers' perceptions regarding the experiences and barriers to implementing the new curriculum. I used eight semistructured open-ended questions and five follow up questions to provide participants with opportunities to offer in-depth data aligned with the qualitative methodology. Bearman (2019) suggested semistructured interviews as the most common method to acquire more meaningful information about the human experience from participants. For this study, the interview questions created natural conversation and offered sub-questions to clarify responses reflecting the research questions (Lodico et al., 2010; McGrath et al., 2019). I allocated 30-40 minutes for each interview. Each participant had a chance to schedule the interview on a convenient day, time, and location. I suggested that the participants use a quiet, empty room not accessible by

others during the interview. Also, I conducted interviews after school hours during noninstructional time.

During the data collection process, I asked eight semistructured open-ended questions and five follow up questions (see Appendix E) relating to teachers' experiences and challenges when implementing the new required reading curriculum. The interview questions aligned with this study's RQs, CBAM's SoC (Appendix F), and purpose involving exploring the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. The interviews were labeled with the assigned alphanumeric code to ensure participants' confidentiality.

The system used to keep track of participants' information included an alphanumeric code created by labeling each participant according to the order of the interview. For example, I labeled teacher one T1 and teacher two T2, and so on to ensure that schools and participants remain confidential. All interview recordings, transcripts, and emails associated with the interviews will be kept on a password-protected computer in my residence file cabinet in the home office.

Source of Data Collection Instrument

For the present study, relevant portions of the SoCQ were adapted into interview questions (Appendix F) with permission granted by American Institutes for Research (Appendix G) to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required curriculum. The SoCQ is used to rate the extent to which participants agree with innovation-related statements (Kayaduman & Demirel, 2019). Staff profiles emerge from the SoCQ data placing implementors within the seven SoC categories related to the innovation (George et al., 2013).

The SoCQ, in conjunction with the SoC, was created to measure teachers' concerns about implementing new school programs (Hall & George, 1979; George et al., 2013). The researchers collected data from 300 elementary school and college teachers, using factor analysis to select 35 items that appeared most frequently. Test reliability and test-retest were deemed satisfactory at .64 to .83 and .65 to .86, respectively. Following the pilot study, the researchers administered the retooled questionnaire to a group of elementary school faculty and higher education members to test validity (George et al., 2006). The researchers concluded that the SoCQ accurately measures participants' concerns about new program implementation (George et al., 2013). Since 1974, the SoC has been widely used in studies of educational institutions implementing innovations (George et al., 2006). SEDL (n.d.) suggested that leaders should determine how to use the CBAM elements depending on specific organizational goals, which include the SoC and SoCQ. Consequently, I created the interview protocol for teachers to include eight semistructured open-ended questions and five follow up questions based on the SoCQ.

Interview Plan and Protocol

All study participants provided informed consent to participate in an audiorecorded Zoom semistructured interview designed based on the research questions. After collecting data, the researcher utilized NVivo to perform thematic content data analysis. NVivo is the most used data analysis tool by academic researchers (Cypress, 2019). I used my password protected computer to record each interview using the Zoom platform. Also, I uploaded the Zoom audio files to NVivo for conversion into transcripts. Then, I sent a draft transcript to each participant to allow for comments and corrections. Each participant had 48 business hours to make corrections to the draft to increase accuracy by correcting any misconceptions found in the draft. Asking for feedback on the draft can corroborate findings and produce new evidence not initially given by the participant (Yin, 2014).

Due to Covid-19 restrictions, many schools within the LSD have policies against non-staff members entering their buildings. Therefore, interviews were conducted through Zoom to ensure the health and safety of all participants. Archibald et al. (2019) suggested the viability of utilizing Zoom as a collection method due to security options, ease of use, and cost effectiveness. After receiving feedback from teachers who expressed interest in participating in the study, the researcher scheduled a Zoom meeting with each participant. The researcher provided each participant with a unique meeting ID and password to allow them access to the meeting. To maintain confidentiality, participants received information allowing them to change their names, turn off their cameras, and hide their phone numbers before joining the meeting. Once the participant entered the meeting, I locked the meeting to prevent uninvited guests from entering. I conducted interviews in my home office. During the interviews, the home office door was locked, disallowing entry by other parties. Also, I recorded each participant's interview to maintain the integrity of the data (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019).

At the start of each interview, I obtained permission from the interviewee to audio record the session using the Zoom platform. Participants who declined the audio recording of their interview were allowed to provide written responses. Each participant was able to review their consent form and received a reminder that they could stop the interview at any time and withdraw from the study without repercussion. I recorded the alphanumeric code for each participant at the beginning of each interview. At the start of the interview, I reviewed the purpose of the study as an exploration of the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. The interview consisted of eight semistructured open-ended questions and five follow up questions. I will keep the audio files, transcripts, and laptop in a file cabinet in my home office. I am the only one with access to the cabinet. All information was stored under alphanumeric codes to protect each participant's identity.

Systems for Keeping Track of Data

The data collected for this project study was semistructured interviews. Each interview was conducted using the Zoom platform. I used my password protected computer to record each interview. I uploaded the Zoom audio files to NVivo within twenty-four hours after concluding each interview. All paper copies of interviews and electronic copies of interviews were stored on my home computer and secured in my home office locked file cabinet. Electronic documents were secured using confidential password protections. Furthermore, the privacy and confidentiality of participant data were protected using an alphanumerical system.

Role of the Researcher

My formal role in this study was as an observer. I selected participants, completed semistructured interviews, analyzed data for possible themes, and provided findings that

could improve the new curriculum's implementation. Through engagement with participants, I conducted interviews and made observations during interviews. Reid et al. (2018) indicated that acknowledging position and potential researcher biases and assumptions is essential in judging the authenticity of research findings. Although I was not a faculty member at the selected study sites, I was a teacher within the LSD. I minimized the influences of my biases by acknowledging them within a reflective research journal. Phillippi and Lauderdale (2018) suggested the importance of field notes while collecting data to encourage reflection and acknowledgment of researcher bias. I also used a reflective journal and field notes to record my thoughts, biases, and participants' nonverbal behavior during interviews. Writing field notes assist researchers in describing what was observed or heard during interviews and personal questions or comments (Lodico et al., 2010).

In addition to keeping notes, I incorporated additional practices to minimize bias during the data collection process. Before each interview, I established a rapport with the participants by discussing subjects unrelated to the study. DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) suggested using rapport to set the tone for the interview. During the interview, I maintained vocal evenness when asking questions and made a purposeful effort not to agree or disagree with the participants' comments. Maintaining a calm disposition constitutes a less biased demeanor (Merriam, 2014). Also, I adhered to the interview protocol to guide the questioning relating to my research problem and purpose. Creswell and Creswell (2017) posited that adhering to an interview protocol may provide a professional environment for capturing pertinent data. Lastly, after collecting data, I used NVivo to analyze and code data to uncover themes used to interpret data. O'Kane et al. (2021) described NVivo as a multipurpose tool that allows researchers to increase the depth and breadth of data analysis in qualitative studies. Therefore, my efforts to minimize bias throughout this investigation were critical in maintaining my role as the researcher, as I collected and analyzed data to find ways to improve the fidelity of implementing the new curriculum.

Data Analysis

Data analysis represents an essential component of qualitative research investigations. Research indicates that data analysis allows for in-depth interpretation of data leading to the effective communication of results (Creswell, 2012; Yin, 2014). After collecting the data, I used NVivo to analyze thematic content. NVivo is the most used data analysis tool by academic researchers (Cypress, 2019). NVivo is a computer assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQAS) used by researchers to help organize and analyze qualitative data (O'Kane et al., 2021). After each interview, I transcribed the audio recordings and field notes using NVivo. Next, I began the coding process using NVivo.

The coding process consists of using NVivo to organize, sort, identify, and compare patterns found in the content (Allsop et al., 2022). I sent 10% of the resulting codes and themes to a peer debriefer. After considering the peer debriefers' comments, I sent participants my preliminary findings to confirm that appropriate interpretations were drawn from the data for member checking. All information was kept secure during the data analysis by labeling participants with an alphanumeric code. Concerning the research data, participants had access to the preliminary findings, and the peer debriefer had access to 10% of codes and themes developed during the data analysis process. No one else had access to the research data. I secured the research data on a password-protected computer in a file cabinet in my home office.

Accuracy and Credibility of Findings

Lincoln and Guba (1985) suggested that when using the qualitative approach, the researcher should ensure the study's trustworthiness by using criteria such as credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. For this project study, triangulation in the form of member checking, peer debriefing, reflexivity, data collection, and analysis was used to validate the accuracy and credibility of the research. Researchers use triangulation to understand the phenomenon under investigation better (Jentoft & Olsen, 2019). I sent participants my preliminary finding to confirm that appropriate interpretations were drawn from the data as a means of member checking. The member checking process allows participants to make clarifying statements regarding research findings (Hamilton, 2020). Creswell (2014) advised that the data collected should accurately reflect participants' reflections and views. I provided a summary of the research finding to study participants and a 48 business hour timeframe for each participant to provide comments relating to the conclusions. Using member checking assists researchers in establishing data saturation (Aguboshim, 2021; Galehdar et al., 2020). I utilized participants' feedback to ensure data saturation to increase study validity.

Incorporating reflexivity offered an additional method for ensuring the accuracy and credibility of findings. Yin (2014) described reflexivity as the unintentional influence of researchers' perspectives on the research process, which may alter a study. Accounting for reflexivity enables the researcher to analyze their thoughts and feelings regarding the project study (Stuart, 2017). Rose and Johnson (2020) indicated that understanding researchers' perceptions and biases regarding the research topic and data analysis to represent findings is critical to strengthening the validity of research studies. Violanti (2020) suggested that researchers acknowledge their partiality and treat participants as active subjects collecting data about their lived experiences instead of relying on passive objectification. As part of this study, I acknowledged biases that might have influenced my interpretation of findings. Also, I maintained an audit trail during data analysis by keeping research notes. Vaismoradi et al. (2016) expressed that research notes facilitate reflexivity and allow researchers to reflect on data analysis steps, improve data interpretation, and develop themes.

In addition to reflexivity, I utilized a peer debriefer to increase accuracy within the study. Creswell and Poth (2018) defined peer debriefers as colleagues who review parts of the research to provide objective views of the study. Utilizing peer debriefers may reduce bias during investigations (Aguboshim, 2021; Lodico et al., 2010). In connection with this investigation, one peer debriefer had an opportunity to make clarifying statements associated with the present study. The peer debriefer had 25 years of teaching experience on the primary level and an EdD in Reading, Literacy, and Assessment from a private university. The debriefer reviewed 10% of the data analysis portion of the study, particularly the codes and themes developed from participants' interviews. Additionally, the debriefer signed a confidentiality form forwarded to the IRB (Appendix D).

The data source used for the study included interviews, the SoCQ adapted into interview questions, and field notes. To test the credibility of the research, Stahl and King (2020) suggested using multiplicity in support of triangulation. Each data source addressed the purpose of the study, which was to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers implementing a new required reading curriculum. Although the participants did not complete the SoCQ, I created interview questions by adapting pertinent parts of the SoCQ upon receiving permission from the American Institutes for Research (Appendix G). The SoCQ aligns with the SoC, which assists organizations in understanding concerns related to a new implementation (George et al., 2013).

The interview questions and SoC were mapped to the RQs (Appendix F) to show the relationship between the sources used for the study. I captured field notes during interviews and data analysis and coded the notes on teachers' responses to determine patterns and themes. Johnson et al. (2021) and Rutakumwa et al. (2020) suggested creating field notes to capture important details and nonverbal characteristics of participants to interpret emerging themes and patterns in the interview process. The data analysis encompassed examining and coding transcripts and field notes to identify reoccurring patterns and themes.

Transferability is another criterion for ensuring trustworthiness. As a part of transferability, the research results from one study can be applied to other settings or groups of people (Tuval-Mashiach, 2021). To achieve transferability, researchers should

articulate the context in which the research was undertaken, including the choices researchers made during the data collection and analysis process and possible challenges they might have faced (Daniel, 2019). I established transferability by selecting sites and participants across the LSD to represent the district's diversity. Additionally, I used NVivo to transcribe interview data verbatim to accurately reflect participants' responses to their interview questions. Also, I used a reflective journal and field notes for recording my thoughts and biases during interviews.

Strategies to further ensure trustworthiness included dependability and confirmability. Dependability in a study relates to reporting results so that others may arrive at similar interpretations if they review the data (Campbell et al., 2020; Nassaji, 2020). Conversely, confirmability involves describing the research study steps from the beginning of the process to the end (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). I ensured transparency by documenting all researcher activities and the data analysis process. A peer debriefer reviewed 10% of the study to include codes and themes resulting from participant interviews. The peer reviewer examined the accuracy of the codes and themes to ensure that the resulting themes were grounded in the data. Also, reflexivity accounted for my personal and professional perceptions during all phases of the study. I used a reflexive journal to document biases and interests. Amin et al. (2020) suggested that when researchers reflect on experiences and biases throughout the research process, a co-constructor of knowledge exists that deepens the researcher's understanding of the phenomenon.

Discrepant Cases

Identifying discrepant cases in qualitative research is essential to ensure the credibility, transferability, and dependability of data analysis and research findings. Maxwell (2013) described discrepant cases as data that does not align with existing conceptions. Discrepancies in data analysis may occur when collected data contradict identified themes (Hancock & Algozzine, 2011). In discrepant cases, researchers should seek to find ways in which their research frames the phenomenon (Maxwell, 2013). By including discrepant cases that contradict findings, researchers increase the validity of the claims through their research (Rose & Johnson, 2020). Although discrepant cases offer contradictory evidence, it allows researchers to revisit themes and information with participants, enhancing the findings of the study (Maxwell, 2013; Yin, 2015).

Data Analysis Results

Generated, Gathered, and Recorded Data

Twelve third grade teachers agreed to participate in the study. Participants had at least one year of experience teaching the HMH: Into Reading curriculum. After receiving authorization from principals to conduct research with volunteers from selected schools, I gathered the teachers' names and email addresses from the school's website that met the requirements. I sent prospective participants the informed consent form requesting participation in the study. The consent form described the research's specifics and the risks and non-benefits of involvement. Upon receiving the participants' responses, I arranged a day and time for the interview. The teacher interview protocol contained eight semistructured open-ended questions and five follow up questions to provide participants with opportunities to offer in-depth data aligned with the qualitative methodology. Each interview took place on the Zoom platform. I recorded each interview using Zoom, uploaded, and transcribed the data using the NVivo qualitative analysis software. Data analysis included identifying codes to create themes based on the problem and RQs.

Coding Data to Establish Themes

Data analysis included four steps (Figure 1) to establish themes. Twelve teachers participated in the interview process. I analyzed the data by comparing it to the key elements within the CBAM conceptual framework, specifically the Stages of Concern. After transcribing the data in NVivo, I familiarized myself with the data by reading the transcripts several times and noting initial ideas. Step 2 included generating initial codes from the data that had reoccurring patterns. Next, I organized and refined the initial codes by adding, subtracting, combining, or splitting codes based on further data analysis. The fourth step included examining the codes to establish patterns and themes that identified the data's meaning. The newly created themes made a meaningful contribution to answering the RQs.

Figure 1

Data Analysis Process


Patterns, Relationships, and Themes

The problem was that in the years since the inception of this new curriculum, reading proficiency scores remained low, and the district had not explored teacher experiences and challenges with the implementation of the new curriculum. Twelve third grade teachers completed the interview process. The resulting data highlighted teachers' experiences and challenges in implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum. Patterns, relationships, and themes aligned to the problem, and RQs illustrated various levels of concern teachers experienced when implementing the curriculum. Table 2 outlines the summary of themes found in the study. Themes were developed based on the elements within the CBAM conceptual framework, specifically the SoC. Appendix F illustrates the connection between the RQs, interview questions, and the SoC. To create alignment between RQs, interview questions, and SoC, each SoC mapped to the interview questions that embodied the description of the stage. Stages 1, 2, 4, and 6 aligned to the interview questions related to RQ1. However, Stages 0, 3, and 5 aligned with the interview questions related to RQ2. Table 2 outlines the summary of themes found in the study.

Table 2.

Theme	Description
1	Concerns About Lack of Collaborative Learning and Classroom Support
2	Time Management of Nonacademic Requirements
3	Concerns Regarding Professional Development
4	Navigating to Curriculum Complexity
5	Concerns About Curriculum Alignment

Summary of Themes

RQ1: What are the experiences of 3rd grade teachers in the LSD with implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?

Theme 1: Concerns About Lack of Collaborative Learning and Classroom Support

Theme one signified teachers' appeal for additional help in the classroom and collaborative learning opportunities to improve student outcomes. Participants acknowledged that extra assistance in the classroom would empower them to deploy the new curriculum more effectively. Also, the data highlighted the potential value of collaborative learning and sharing best practices among teachers and principals.

Collaborative Learning

The data underscored the need for specialist-led sessions and collaborative learning that could help teachers familiarize themselves with the curriculum's specifics and improve instructional delivery. T4 suggested, "Administrators should provide opportunities for peer observation and visits to classrooms where the curriculum is successfully implemented." T10 shared, "There should be a session with the reading specialist to ensure everyone knows how to navigate the new curriculum." T10 further suggested: "Trying to get the support that you need sometimes may not always be there when you actually need it. Having access to someone like an instructional lead teacher on a consistent basis...I think that's it."

T6 admitted, "I'm not really sure how I'm really implementing this program. I'm very challenged. I am not familiar with the program. I was told that I would have a mentor." T3 proposed,

I think that administration should take time to demonstrate lessons...in order for them to understand how and why we're implementing the curriculum the way that we're doing. They have to teach it themselves to actually see and feel what it is that the teacher is experiencing trying to maneuver, you know, and trying to balance and juggle all these different things.

T5 stated, "Provide more time for me to go into my colleagues' classrooms and see how they're teaching so that I can learn from my colleagues in that manner. When do the teachers get to do walkthroughs? I may not be knowledgeable, but my teacher next door may have this down pat. When is it implemented or when are they going to understand that we can learn from each other?"

Additional Classroom Support

Several teachers' responses focused on staffing and the desire for increased classroom support. Seven out of 12 teachers suggested additional classroom support would improve curriculum implementation. T7 expressed,

In a perfect world, we would have perhaps two teachers in a room or a main teacher with a strong support staff. If we could do that, it would be easier to implement the lesson plan. We could then break the class down into two or three groups, ensuring everyone can access the material more equitably.

T1 advanced, "Well, the biggest one would be more help in the classroom. After we receive PDs, maybe we could have office hours to ask question that would help us in class." The data highlighted the necessity for better staffing and supportive resources,

emphasizing their role in facilitating curriculum implementation and catering to struggling students.

Other teachers went on to express the necessity for additional adult support. T5 explained, "So to me, if you want me to be a teacher who's following the curriculum with fidelity, I need a go to person in my building that can help me implement it." T3 expressed, "If you are not an inclusion classroom you do not have that extra support...you still need another adult...because while you as the teacher do one part the aid could be doing another part." Teachers' responses illustrated the necessity for better staffing and supportive resources, emphasizing their role in facilitating curriculum implementation and catering to diverse student needs.

Theme 2: Time Management of Nonacademic Requirements

Third grade teachers experienced complications managing their time between academic responsibilities and nonacademic tasks. The results supported that 67% of teachers expressed needing more time and support to balance grading, parent communication, administrative tasks, and classroom interruptions. T2 emphasized the multifaceted nature of teaching by saying,

Anyone that's been in the field of teaching knows that there are a lot of additional things that come with teaching. So having to put in grades, having to call parents, having to do any kind of other contact outside of teaching this program is expected.

T5 stated, "...if you see a pattern out of your 26 students and you're teaching six subjects. You're supposed to...call parents and say your child is failing. Can you please look at their grades?" T5 continued,

When a student is absent for three days...I as a classroom teacher is required to track that data and then call the parent. To me, there should be a PPW in place, or the guidance counselor should be tracking that, or maybe it's the school secretary who gets our attendance every day, every week, who should be tracking that and making calls.

The data showed the wide variety of tasks accompanying teaching beyond curriculum delivery.

Administrative Burden

Several teachers indicated a desire for more administrative support to alleviate the burden of nonacademic tasks, enabling teachers to focus more on teaching and less on administrative work. T3 stated, "I think the administrator is another support that can help out. If they take the time to do that nonacademic stuff for me, I can spend all my time and energy teaching the curriculum and helping my students learn." T5 lamented, "Data collection for PBIS behavior. I'm so sorry. Do we not have a PBIS team? We have data that we are being required to collect for our administrator's goals. Not necessarily for our goals. So not only are you expecting us to support our students that we're academically trying to reach, but we're now doing extra work in order for you to be able to do your job." T1 remarked, "You may end up getting like 10 emails asking for something.

illuminated the personal impact of the time-intensive nature of requirements outside the duty of providing instruction.

Classroom Interruptions

The data underscored the hidden workload of teachers that goes beyond classroom instruction, raising questions about how to manage administrative duties better. T9 explained, "Dealing with situations in the classroom that have nothing to do with the lesson...answering the phones, people coming into the classroom or whatever the case may be...responding to emails is a concern." T1 stated, "You have to grade those, then you have to input your grades and then you have administrative stuff to the to the principal, secretary and instructional lead teachers... by the time you look up, it's 7:00 o'clock and you are nowhere near your mark." T11 declared, "It is a great concern because I work from 7-3 each day. I have grading, research, copying, coursework, and that does not include extra time spent at school. I work an additional 12 hours a week that are not compensated." T7 said, "Talk about it because you know especially the elementary level there's a lot of interruptions."

Theme 3: Concerns Regarding Professional Development

The data illuminated teachers' eagerness for professional development that was individualized to their specific needs and the requirements of the new curriculum. Teachers highlighted the need for ongoing, job-embedded, personalized sessions to aid their more profound understanding and successful curriculum implementation. The data indicated that 67% of teachers mentioned the significance of including PD to improve curriculum implementation.

Targeted Professional Development

The data amplified the demand for personalized professional development, focusing on grade-specific training to improve the teachers' proficiency in the curriculum's application. T3 emphasized, "To teach effectively, we need to comprehend how the curriculum is structured. However, without proper training or professional development, implementing the curriculum becomes arduous. Particularly for new teachers...targeted professional development can provide much-needed support." T5 expressed frustration over the lack of specificity in professional development, sharing, "During countrywide professional developments, all grades from kindergarten through fifth sit in one Zoom meeting. One grade level, which was not mine, was chosen to demonstrate how to implement the material. I believe the training should be grade specific. If there were more in-house support and grade-specific training from the county, I would be more comfortable implementing and using the material as intended."

Frequent Job-Embedded Professional Development

Teachers indicated a need for frequent PD to improve the focus on the needs of students. T1 stated, "Not I think, I know that would help me be more successful to have more frequent and slower paced PD's. I went to this PD, and I have no idea what they said. I came out, you know, as confused as I went in." T5 said, "Maybe having more sessions of PD or listening to the comments that teachers make after sessions and realizing that okay PD is done but not the understanding." T8 suggested, "Although teachers held weekly planning sessions; however, it may have been beneficial if we

received frequent PD to ensure that we were all implementing and selecting the learning outcomes for the students to enable them to achieve success."

Impact of Professional Development in the Classroom

Grade three teachers professed the fundamental role of receiving PD before curriculum implementation to empower teachers to implement the program effectively. T6 expressed, "I think. Any kind of professional development training with the HMH and especially being new to a system. That would have supported it. I lack a background. I lack training." T9 offered, "So first and foremost, what kind of training am I going to get and what kind of support am I going to get in order to be able to successfully do whatever it is requiring or need to do." T10 declared, "When you start to create a new curriculum having enough time to learn about the new curriculum and being able to understand it and to be able to teach to your students. Maybe that can be a professional development...maybe like of a session with your instructional lead teacher or reading specialist to go over the new curriculum." T6 stated, "They knew I was new coming into third grade...the training should have come from the district building...the fact that they were not able to share that information put me in a bad spot."

RQ2: What challenges and concerns do 3rd grade teachers in the LSD report with implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?

Theme 4: Navigating to Curriculum Complexity

Theme four encapsulated the concerns and challenges that educators experienced in navigating and adapting to the complex aspects of a new reading curriculum. It highlighted the specific curriculum areas that posed difficulties and how teachers strategized to address the challenges. Most teacher responses reflected the inherent intricacies of implementing the reading curriculum as prescribed.

Content Level Complications

The data underscored the variety of difficulties and concerns that can arise from implementing curriculum lessons, resulting in changes to the curriculum to ensure effective teaching. T1 pinpointed a particularly challenging part of the curriculum: "The section that poses the greatest challenge for me, and it seems I'm not alone in this, is the poetry section." T1 continued, "Grammar seems to be the area where I find I have most problem and I tend to stray away from the curriculum a little bit and make it my own." T3 mentioned, "I think the most challenging aspect of implementing the curriculum is because there are so many different components to teach, but you don't have enough time to do it." T8 stated, "The challenges with the alignment consist of having the assumption that the students have the background knowledge to apply the strategies being introduced." Similarly, T1 shared, "So my concern is that the students are maybe confused because they do not have the background knowledge or the foundational skills to get that topic."

Scope and Sequence

Many teachers expressed that content level complications relating to scope and sequence and difficulties with the poetry and phonics units make it difficult to implement the curriculum with fidelity. T1 pinpointed a challenge with the poetry unit, "...the poetry portion is too far back ...and when you get to it, you have to rush...it doesn't give you enough time to explore all the areas of poetry." Others spoke about challenges regarding

implementing the phonics benchmark portion of the curriculum. T4 remarked, "Uh, the one that is not implemented as directed is the phonics portion." T12 informed, "As far as the Benchmark Advanced Phonics. I didn't use it."

Time Management Barriers

Many teachers expressed the complexity of balancing time constraints with implementing the curriculum. The data informed that 83% of teachers considered time constraints a concern, often requiring curriculum modifications. T8 stated, "My concerns stem from the overwhelming task of coordinating between different resources due to imperfect curriculum alignment, leaving me with little time for other important tasks." T9 lamented, "The curriculum does not quite mesh with the timelines and expectations. They are speaking on something totally different than what could effectively be implemented." T3 mentioned, "I would change the time for the reading block because you have students who are all over the place. Several teachers mentioned the inconsistency related to the time frames for the entire reading block. T5 explained, "Alright, so what I don't follow with fidelity is the time usage that the curriculum gives. It's supposed to be a 90 minute block. Based on our school schedule, we actually do read only for 75 minutes." T9 posited, "I don't even have a full 90 minutes, first of all...So we're talking probably, I want to say 70 minutes, you know, 75 minutes that they're trying to fit this 90 minute worth of curriculum into."

Supporting Struggling Readers

The study's data highlighted teachers' concerns regarding the inefficient focus on students below grade level. Teachers expressed concerns about the need for more resources to meet the needs of diverse students. Focusing on the challenges of teaching students with diverse learning needs, T7 remarked, "My biggest concern lies in assisting students who are significantly behind. I often need to spend extra time reteaching fundamental skills before progressing. For example, we must solidify understanding of basic elements like CVC and CVVC words before moving forward." T2 stated, "You get a lot of fictional text... but then when I'm looking at my scores and they need help with informational on the comprehension. I notice most of the nonfiction text I've seen that they are exposed to it comes towards the end of the year and it's like, I wish more that would be implemented up front of the school." T3 commented, "I think the curriculum a lot of times the challenges are that curriculum is geared to on grade level students. So then that means you have to scramble as a teacher to get, you know, the things that you need for your below babies." T7 explains, "So a lot of times there's not enough minutes in the day or enough time in the classroom to be able to go over the basics." Many teachers remarked that, technically, even though the reading block is 90 minutes, the time is less than 70-75 minutes according to class schedules. The time constraints often result in curriculum modifications.

Supporting Struggling Writers

The findings showed that 50% of teachers experienced challenges implementing the writing component of the curriculum. T7 explained, "It's not that I don't implement the writing of essays, but it is extremely difficult." T9 stated, "So, just the foundational instruction that has to happen is beyond what the analytical writing teaches." T2 articulated, "The HMH text did not align with the essay that the students needed to complete." T10 proposed the need to modify the curriculum, "You're doing analytical writing, well the kids are struggling to read so you're not doing much of the analytic writing. So, you have to find ways to modify." T5 articulated, "A lot of the writing workshops do not follow the standards so I will introduce my own writing." Lastly, T12 remarked, "More time is needed for the writing cycles because it is not possible to take them through all of the nuances of the writing process in eight days."

Technology Integration

Teachers acknowledged technology as an integral part of implementing the curriculum. Five out of 12 teachers related challenges to using technology, while two agreed that technology provided a positive way to engage students. Challenges included needing more time to access several different links for one lesson. Also, teachers mentioned that because many resources are only online, it sends them scrambling to find replacement resources when the internet goes down.

T10's challenge relates to technology usage by the teachers, "Sometimes I find that it's confusing trying to locate everything that you need to find...it just seems overwhelming." Similarly, T12 revealed, "What I don't like is the teacher portal because it is not user friendly." T5 argued, "When you look at the CIM, you must go to multiple documents and use multiple texts in order to teach the curriculum. You must click a link which takes you outside of the CIM. Everything should be embedded into one document." T3 explained concerns regarding students' technology usage,

And the technology is a challenge, you know, they want them to do these assignments and stuff on online. But guess what? If you do not have a computer, how you going to do it? Or if you decide to leave your computer at home because you didn't want to bring it or whatever. How are they going do the lessons? And we don't have extra computers...Then they are just lost.

T9 expressed, "I use, you know, online resources that were provided." T7 explained, "So with the smart TV... You know, a lot of children love technology...So you do get far more engagement using the HMH read aloud."

Theme 5: Concerns About Curriculum Alignment

Participants acknowledged concerns regarding curriculum alignment. Ten out of 12 teachers identified challenges when implementing the curriculum due to content, scope and sequence, or assessment continuity and coherence. T5 shared, "A lot of the writing workshops do not follow the standards and connections the students are supposed to make in order to do well on the benchmark assessments." T5 further explained, "Also, the cycle planner that's in the curriculum doesn't always align with the conventions and standards that the state says that the students need to know when you're teaching a specific module or cycle for the state standardized assessments." T10 remarked, "As I am new, I find that and I'm still learning the HMH platform and everything. I find sometimes that the cycle assessments to me don't really align, like with what we're reading or what we're talking about. And it is confusing to me." T2 offered, "We had an essay that students had to write and now however we're using the text in HMH, but the text did not really align with the essay the students needed to complete."

Grammar Lessons

Three out of 12 teachers mentioned concerns about the need for more tools and resources for teaching grammar lessons. T12 noted, "I have found the HMH teacher's materials and student materials a little bit lacking when it comes to the grammar lessons. And so, I will follow the pacing guide when it comes to what to teach for grammar, but I tend to teach that in my own way, using my own materials." T11 acknowledged, "Simply finding adequate grammar lessons and resources for the TAG students was a challenge at first but I had to do some research." T1 explained, "I try to put as much emphasis on grammar as possible. But that seems to be the area where I find I have the most problem, and I tend to stray away from the curriculum a little bit and make it my own." Teachers concluded that more resources caused a need to explore resources outside the curriculum to accompany the lessons.

Small Groups

Participants shared that the time frame allotted for small groups needed to align appropriately with the reading block's other elements. T9 lamented, "I wish I could meet with two groups a day, but that proved to be very difficult for me because even in doing that, there were other students during that time period that needed attention...it seemed like it took away from me being able to give the most to the whole group." T3 said, "The small group, I use my discretion. You know whatever it is, the kids, the students need the most help on that. Those are the skills that I cover that I meet with them on." T5 admitted, "I do not follow it with fidelity and to be completely honest, I have not done small groups for the last two years. Small groups are supposed to be 45 minutes a day. You're supposed to be meeting with two groups per day. I do not follow it with fidelity because with the lack of teachers and especially the lack of support with my sped students, I'm spending more time with my sped group than with my whole group."

Teachers complained that based on the daily schedule, the time allotted for small group lessons needed to meet the curriculum's expectations. T9 lamented, "I've been finding it difficult to meet in small groups with my students on a regular basis for 45 minutes of their 90 minutes and continue to teach the other requirements." Managing the small group expectations outlined in the curriculum resulted in teachers requesting additional support.

Salient and Discrepant Data

The salient pattern in the data resulted from the common idea that considering the district provided a curriculum instructional map for the reading curriculum, many teachers believed implementation fidelity proved unattainable. District curriculum developers modified the HMH reading curriculum based on the state standards. Seven of the 12 participants expressed concerns regarding the issue and believed many implementation decisions stemmed from incongruency between the instructional map and the HMH curriculum. The remaining participants did not mention the curriculum instructional map. During data analysis, no discrepant cases in the data or between the peer debriefer and member checking occurred.

Study Evidence of Quality

The procedures to support accuracy included peer debriefing, member checks, and reflexivity. In connection with this investigation, one peer debriefer was allowed to make clarifying statements about the study. A peer debriefer reviewed 10% of the study to

include codes and themes resulting from participant interviews. The peer reviewer examined the accuracy of the codes and themes to ensure that the resulting themes were grounded in the data. Also, reflexivity accounted for my personal and professional perceptions during all study phases. I used a reflexive journal to document biases and interests. As part of this study, I acknowledged biases that might influence my interpretation of findings. I maintained an audit trail during data analysis by keeping research notes. In addition, I sent participants my preliminary finding to confirm that appropriate interpretations resulted from the data as a means of member checking.

Summary of Outcomes

The problem was that in the years since the inception of this new curriculum, reading proficiency scores remained low, and the district had not explored teacher experiences and challenges with the implementation of the new curriculum. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. Based on this problem and purpose, and in alignment with the CBAM as the conceptual framework, the research questions guided the study. Five themes resulted in performing the data analysis. The outcomes linked to the results provided logical and systematic information concerning the problem, RQ, and themes (Figure 2):

RQ1: What are the experiences of 3rd grade teachers in the LSD with implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?

The interview data illustrated that most teachers attempted to implement the HMH: Into Reading curriculum to the best of their ability. The themes connected to RQ1 included themes 1, 2, and 3. Teachers emphasized the need for increased classroom support, resources, collaborative learning, and professional development to better comprehend and implement the HMH Into Reading curriculum. Although 87% of teachers placed a high value on teaching the curriculum with fidelity, the data showed that teachers experienced several barriers to implementing the curriculum as prescribed by developers.

Teachers highlighted concerns about the impact the curriculum will have on student outcomes based on the relevancy of the curriculum and their ability to implement the curriculum. Teachers' experiences focused on the impact of the curriculum on student learning, hinting at the need for better ways to engage students in active learning. Eutsler and Long (2021) suggested that teachers concerned with the curriculum's consequences should focus on making the curriculum relevant, engaging, and accessible for all students. Research indicates that providing teachers with opportunities to engage in collaborative continuous PD will support their implementation endeavors (Byrne & Prendergast, 2020; Dele-Ajayi et al., 2021; Geng et al., 2019; Trapani & Annunziato, 2019).

RQ2: What challenges and concerns do 3rd grade teachers in the LSD report with implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?

The interviews highlighted the varying challenges and concerns expressed by teachers. The themes linked to RQ2 included themes 4 and 5. Teachers' concerns involved complexities related to implementation and challenges regarding curriculum alignment. Significant complexities involved navigating and adapting to the curriculum,

time management, and technology integration challenges leading to curriculum adaptations. Additional concerns for teachers included content-related elements, scope and sequence, and assessment continuity and coherence. Most teachers, 83%, reflected on changes made to the curriculum based on not having enough time to implement lessons prescribed by developers. Other teachers spoke about using classroom time to manage the overwhelming task of coordinating between different resources. Many of the teachers mentioned challenges regarding implementing the curriculum's core content. While others expressed concerns about the need for foundational lessons to ensure struggling students had access to the curriculum.

Teachers experienced concerns about organizing and executing different aspects of the curriculum, understanding the optimal ways to utilize resources, and fitting the implementation process into the constraints of their daily schedules. Dele-Ajayi et al. (2021) explained that teachers immersed in concerns regarding managing the curriculum should receive comprehensive PD with a concerted effort to show the significance of using the curriculum and how to utilize the curriculum in the classroom best. In addition, the researchers suggested creating a community of learners by leveraging more experienced teachers to train less experienced teachers.

Figure 2

Problem, RQs, Theme Alignment



Section 3: The Project

Based on the research findings, the project selection aligned with the professional development (PD) curriculum and materials genre. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. The results of the data analysis highlighted teachers' challenges and concerns with implementing the new curriculum. Consequently, this study's deliverable project (Appendix A) included a 3-day learning opportunity for third grade teachers to develop collaborative lesson plans, participate in peer-led lesson demonstrations, and create checklists to improve and sustain curriculum implementation fidelity. In Section 3, I discussed the relationship between the data results, content-focused PD, and the use of professional learning community (PLC) components to improve the implementation of the new curriculum. More specifically, I discuss the goals for the project, details on the rationale, and the literature review that supports the project. Also, Section 3 contained a project description, evaluation plan, and implications.

Description and Project Goals

A 3-day professional learning opportunity will occur to support teachers with developing collaborative lesson plans for small groups, writing, grammar, and phonics, peer-led model lesson demonstrations, and evidence-based checklists to improve the curriculum implementation. McMaster et al. (2020) suggested using checklists to assist teachers in developing and monitoring processes and procedures to ensure that the focus remains on the needs of students. Third grade teachers from the LSD and principals will receive invitations to the training. The catalyst for the training entailed providing support based on teachers' concerns when implementing the third grade curriculum. Each day participants will view a slide presentation, collaborate, and execute hands-on activities during the interactive PD. The facilitator will access the speaker notes to cover all components thoroughly.

On the first day, the facilitator will encourage participation by leading a teambuilding activity based on teachers' knowledge of curriculum components. In addition, teachers will learn the importance of implementation fidelity and begin developing model lessons for small group instruction. The project's primary goal is to provide third grade teachers with the support needed to promote implementation fidelity. The goals for the first day are to provide information that will allow teachers to understand HMH's positive impact on student outcomes and their significant role in using best practices to implement the curriculum as developers prescribed.

Teachers will begin creating evidence-based checklists for small group instruction on the second training day. Checklists are used to adhere to critical steps, encouraging users to continue the task until completion (Baldwin & Ching, 2019). Teachers will better understand the HMH's scope and sequence and share ideas about resources to improve student engagement. Also, teachers will explore the significance of students' learning styles and how to use resources to support concerns regarding curriculum complexities and misalignments. The goals include understanding how to create and maintain a collaborative environment to strengthen the appropriate use of the curriculum's processes and procedures. On the last day, teachers will develop a model lesson based on the concerns presented in the study. Teachers will join colleagues to role-play, collaborate, and selfassess the knowledge gained throughout the training. Also, teachers will create evidencebased checklists to deliver future lessons systematically. The goal for the last day includes creating sustainable methods to enhance teachers' instructional practices.

Rationale

The learning genre selected for the project focused on using PD to enhance the implementation of the new curriculum. The selection relied on the data analysis results, teachers' appeals, and documented benefits derived from PD. Lau and Jong (2022) affirmed that eliciting teachers' concerns is essential to addressing them constructively. Teachers' concerns were analyzed using the conceptual framework CBAM, specifically the SoC. Data analysis results indicated that teachers' primary concerns aligned with Stages 3 and 4 of the SoC. Teachers within Stage 3 concerns centered on managing tasks, resources, and processes. In contrast, Stage 4 challenges stemmed from teachers' concern about the new curriculum's impact on students. Recommended actions to address the concerns and challenges regarding Stages 3 and 4 included providing PD to demonstrate what appropriate implementation looks like and sharing examples of how the change positively impacts students (Alnujaidi, 2021; Bullard et al., 2017; Natividad & Abrogena, 2023).

The study results highlighted teachers' challenges and concerns regarding increased classroom support, resources, collaborative learning, and professional development to improve comprehension and implement the reading curriculum. Kim et al. (2019) suggested that to promote active learning amongst students, leaders must regard teachers as learners and provide PD that inspires the type of learning expected in the classroom. Improved student outcomes lie in teachers' context-specific understanding of the best practices and meaningful ways to support students' learning (Kim et al., 2019). As such, the research data concluded that many teachers agreed that barriers to implementing the curriculum with fidelity involved complexities with aligning contentspecific requirements, resources, and time constraints to implement the curriculum. The data amplified the demand for collaborative content-specific training to improve the teachers' proficiency in the curriculum's application. The content related to the project considered teachers' concerns about curriculum management and the consequences on students' learning.

In the current study, grade three teachers professed the importance of receiving PD before curriculum implementation. They desired a collaborative environment to develop the best practices necessary to implement the curriculum with fidelity. Nawaz and Akbar (2019) indicated that PD acts as a conduit to assist teachers in meeting the demands of curriculum designers' intentions. De Simone (2020) researched how collaborative PD affects teachers' ability to transfer knowledge in the classroom. PLCs provide opportunities for active learning while encouraging teachers to remain socially connected (Oddone et al., 2019). Also, PLCs promote collaboration between school staff and principals, nurturing conscious communications, active listening, and authentic engagement (Johnson & Voelkel, 2021). Based on data analysis results, CBAM, and the

problem, the project used PLC components to address teachers' concerns to support further curriculum implementation.

Review of Literature

Specific Project Genre

The utilization of PD remains imperative to ensuring teachers' preparedness to enact curriculums and student achievement. In this study, the problem was that in the years since the inception of the new curriculum, reading proficiency scores remained low, and the district had not explored teacher experiences and challenges with the implementation of the new curriculum. PD accounts for a viable and effective way to improve student achievement (Gupta & Lee, 2020). PD is structured professional learning that enhances teacher practices and student learning (Byrne & Prendergast, 2020). Additionally, Brown and Militello (2016) extended the definition of PD as a comprehensive and sustained process of improving the effectiveness of teachers and principals to increase student achievement. Ensuring that school staff members receive PD ensures teachers have the foundation to implement curriculums as intended, leading to improved student achievement.

Collaboration in a PD experience will result in educators successfully using the material in their classrooms. Teachers should participate in continuous and collaboratively situated professional development opportunities to enhance instructional practices (Geng et al., 2019). De Simone (2020) researched how collaborative PD affects teachers' ability to transfer knowledge to the school. The researcher concluded that when

teachers are part of a collaborative workgroup, it increases a person's self-efficacy, which improves cognition, leading to a likelihood of successful outcomes (De Simone, 2020).

Collaborative and continuous PD equally provide the foundation for strategic professional development. Continuous professional development (CPD) involves methods to enhance personal growth to improve the overall capability of teachers (Tulu, 2019). Aldahmash et al. (2019) proposed that the central tenants of CPD beyond traditional professional development enable teachers to work collaboratively with peers, provide mentoring and coaching, and sustain learning over time. Professional development should focus on teaching and learning specific content connected to school initiatives to provide teachers with the capacity to build knowledge collectively (Geng et al., 2019; Trapani & Annunziato, 2019).

Additionally, professional development and ongoing job-embedded training are essential to ensure comfort when implementing the curriculum (Darling-Hammond & Oakes, 2021). LaChausse et al. (2014) suggested a training sequence aligning with implementation logic models to improve implementation fidelity and acquire more substantial program outcomes. Providing collaborative CPD will assist teachers in building their capacity to instruct students.

Additional factors that affect teachers' capacity to implement the curriculum as prescribed include opportunities to plan with peers and ensure the quality of instructional resources (Bettini et al., 2020). Billingsley et al. (2019) posited that professional development promotes mechanisms that school districts use to assist teachers in effectively managing factors that impact instructional practices. PD experiences should allow teachers to work collaboratively with colleagues, relate learning to the classroom, and address subject specific and pedagogy knowledge needed to assist students in accessing the curriculum (Dimmock et al., 2021). Based on data analysis findings, participating in PD will address LSD teachers' concerns and help improve teachers' effectiveness in the classroom.

How the Search was Conducted

I utilized the Walden Library to conduct searches on the educational database sources of APA PsycInfo, EBSCOHost, SAGE Journals, Taylor and Francis Online, Education resources Information, Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), Google Scholar, Google, ProQuest Central, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global, Directory of Open Access Journals, and SocINDEX. Key terms and phrases consisting of the following were included in the search: *characteristics of professional development, content-focused professional development, effective professional development, pedagogical-focused professional development, peer collaboration, professional development, professional development using Concerns Based Adoption Model, professional development using Stages of Concern, subject matter knowledge, professional learning communities.*

Characteristics of Effective Professional Development

Over the last two decades, evidence surfaced that PD improves teaching and student outcomes (Fletcher-Wood & Zuccollo, 2020; Lynch et al., 2019). Although several definitions exist for PD, Sims et al. (2021) referred to it as a "structured, facilitated activity for teachers intended to increase their teaching ability." The features of effective PD include content-focused learning, active learning, duration, coherence, and collective participation (Lindmeier et al., 2020; Parrish et al., 2020; Richardson et al., 2019).

Specifically, Ekinci and Acar (2019) conducted a study to establish a valuable model for implementing effective PD. The researchers collected interview data from 20 teachers. The participants provided opinions regarding their thoughts centered around different concepts and processes associated with the effective implementation of PD. An outcome from the study identified fulfilling a need, goal setting, planning, development process, and evaluation as a model for an effective PD program. For the current study, one of the themes resulting from data analysis entailed teachers' desire for frequent, targeted job-embedded PD. Providing teachers with content-focused PD addresses the problem and findings from the study that supports the project.

Content-Focused Professional Development

Content-focused PD refers to specific training focused on improving teachers' subject matter knowledge and their knowledge about specific pedagogical practices. In education, subject matter knowledge refers to learning in a discipline taught by a teacher (Chen et al., 2020). Conversely, pedagogical knowledge is akin to the skills and strategies used to teach the content (Wells et al., 2023). Teachers can utilize subject-specific content and improve instructional strategies when PD addresses content-focused development. Gess-Newsome et al. (2019) conducted a study to examine the effects of teachers' PD relating to subject and pedogeological knowledge and student achievement. The researchers concluded that teachers' practices aligned significantly more with the curriculum expectations when content-focused learning guides the PD. The data analysis related to the study illustrated a need for content-focused PD, considering that teachers shared various concerns relating to implementing grammar and writing content and time management barriers resulting from implementation requirements. According to CBAM, understanding the concerns of implementors offers leaders opportunities to provide targeted support for the concerns (SEDL, n.d.).

Like Gess-Nesome et al. (2019), Richter et al. (2021) explained that contentfocused PD may fill the gaps when teachers lack subject matter expertise, building teachers' skills where needed. In their recent study, Richter et al. (2021) asked, "How teachers' attendance in PD programs correlates with aspects of teacher quality?" To assess the type of PD teachers participated in, independent raters categorized PD activities as content- or noncontent-focused. The researchers used paper and pencil tests to assess teachers' content and pedagogical knowledge. The outcomes suggested that teachers with high achievement in training spent more time engaging in content-focused training. Richter et al. (2021) affirmed that schools should seek to develop a contentfocused PD system to support teachers' needs to ensure high quality teaching for all students.

Research indicates that teachers who participate in content-focused PD improve their ability to instruct students (Luesse et al., 2022; Pak et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2020). One such study conducted by Parrish et al. (2020) set out to determine how mathematics teachers perceived content-focused PD. Forty-three mathematics teachers participated in PD sessions, including content- and curriculum-focused activities. The researchers concluded that content-focused PD allowed the teachers to deepen their mathematical content knowledge. In addition, teachers reported learning multiple strategies to apply during classroom instruction to increase students' engagement and active learning. Teachers consistently identified collaborating with peers and active learning experiences as highlights of content-focused PD. In the current study, teachers reported concerns about needing collaborative learning opportunities. Data analysis results illustrated teachers' concerns regarding best practices when organizing and executing different aspects of the curriculum to meet curriculum timelines and schedules. Offering content-focused PD will improve teachers' ability to utilize aspects of the curriculum to improve student achievement.

Research suggests that when it comes to students' performance, teachers have the most influence on outcomes, with two to three times the effect of any other school factor (Opper, 2019). Providing effective PD assists teachers in meeting the needs of students. Gore et al. (2021) found that including a pedagogical approach to PD provides teachers with tools to develop knowledge to improve students' learning. Gore et al.'s (2021) study selected a cluster randomized controlled trial designed to examine the efficacy of teacher participation in pedagogy-focused PD to improve student achievement in mathematics, reading, and science. The study's findings indicated a positive effect on student outcomes in mathematics and showed promising results for readers. Elements for the PD project included collaboratively identifying pedagogical strategies to support data analysis results relating to concerns about curriculum complexities. Teachers expressed struggling with content level requirements regarding struggling readers and writers.

Traditionally, PD provides an avenue to improve student outcomes. Smith et al. (2020) suggested providing PD with an emphasis on pedagogy and PLC elements building the repertoire of schools attempting to offer mechanisms for improving teachers' best practices. Gore and Rosser's (2022) research showed that utilizing a pedagogyfocused PD, coupled with learning in PLCs, significantly improves teachers' best practices. The data used for the analysis consisted of teacher and school leader interviews and focus groups. The researchers' results generated the following themes:

- 1. Fresh pedagogical insights resulted across grades/subject areas.
- 2. Participants experienced enhanced collegiality.
- 3. Ongoing collaboration occurred in schools following the PD program.

Gore and Rosser (2022) concluded that the study does not lessen the significance of content-focused PD. Instead, the results show that pedagogy-focused PD united with the use of PLCs contributes to the variety of PD models available to enhance teaching in general. Comparably, the PD project's adoption of PLC elements will equip teachers through collaborative discussions and support regarding time management and nonacademic requirements concerns.

Professional Learning Communities

Utilizing PLCs improves communication between students, teachers, parents, and school leaders (Meyer-Looze et al., 2019). Traditionally, teachers' primary role includes implementing curricula using their skills, experiences, and educational backgrounds. When teachers engage in PLCs, school environments become conducive to collaborative activities resulting in improved student outcomes (Meeuwen et al., 2020). Often, teachers work in isolation which may hamper their ability to leverage knowledge. Involving teachers in PLCs allows teachers to become less isolated and more willing to share best practices necessary to improve collective knowledge benefitting the school community (Anderson & Olivier, 2022; Meyer-Looze et al., 2019). Aligned to CBAM, PLCs provide a platform for school staff and leadership to collaboratively understand concerns, barriers, and challenges inherent during program changes to strategize resolutions.

Establishing and maintaining PLCs are beneficial when adopting reforms in schools. Wan (2020) argued that schools managing reform initiatives should utilize PLCs to improve innovation adoption. When educational leaders champion school changes, integrating PLCs becomes necessary to ensure that the adoption positively impacts the school's culture (Agsonsua & Prasertphorn, 2020). Principals must facilitate connecting the use of PLCs to making practical changes in the school that subsequently affects learning for all students and teachers (Meyer-Looze et al., 2019). As part of the PLC process, principals must promote mutual trust between staff members to ensure the sustainably of PLCs (Meyer-Looze et al., 2019). One of the themes from the current study highlighted teachers' concerns about the lack of collaborative opportunities. Teachers expressed a desire to learn from peers and administrative leaders. Many teachers expressed ideas about performing walk-throughs and establishing teacher partnerships to leverage instructional strategies and resources. Consequently, the project will take advantage of PLC components by inviting principals to attend PD to promote sustained collaborative efforts within the school.

He et al. (2022) affirmed that teachers' participation in PLCs impacts instructional practices and students' accessibility to the curriculum. The researchers conducted a study to explore the impact of PLCs on teachers' knowledge, skills, and instructional practices. The pertinent research question was how does PLC engagement impact the implementation of school curricula where both English and a partner language are used in content area instruction? Based on the study results, the researchers found that the PLC positively supported increased teachers' overall teaching ability. He et al. (2022) outlined several benefits of incorporating PLCs (see Figure 2). The project will use the PLC outcomes to support the structure of the PD in creating a collaborative network to engage teachers in sustained collaborations.

Figure 3

PLC Outcomes



Professional Development Based on Concerns

Using CBAM in educational settings guides stakeholders in identifying concerns and variations of use throughout the implementation of school programs (Hall & Hord, 2020). Lau and Jong (2022) affirmed that eliciting teachers' concerns is essential to address them constructively. Johnson and Voelkel (2021) suggested using PLCs to collectively build relationships and skills to improve team planning and student achievement.

Curriculum Complexity

Olson et al. (2020) conducted a study to evaluate the ongoing implementation of a school district's strategic plan. School-based instructional staff from four schools and

building and district leadership completed the SoC and interviews to identify the concerns and levels of use regarding implementing the school's plan. Similarly, in my study, one of the highest levels of concerns identified related to Stage 3. Based on the data, teachers were immersed in the implementation but needed additional information to implement the program entirely. The researchers analyzed the data and met with participants to collaboratively generate actionable items supporting concerns expressed during data collection. Olson et al. (2020) posited that using CBAM allowed the district to create timely feedback and data-driven recommendations to ensure continuous improvement and support. Using the tenants of CBAM, the PD project will use teachers' concerns and challenges to create a safe environment to address needs collaboratively.

Before making recommendations to address concerns, research indicates the need to understand implementors' concerns. Magallanes et al. (2022) applied CBAM to assess the level of teachers' concerns associated with implementing a school initiative. Four hundred teachers completed the SoCQ. The goal involved finding connections between students' poor assessment scores on the Programmed for International Student Assessment and recently implemented educational programs. The results from the SoCQ ranked most teachers in Stage 3 Management and second Stage 4 Consequences of the SoC. Identical to my study results, the stages indicated that teachers' concerns encompassed the programs' impact on students and identified methods to improve the current teaching methodology. Magallanes et al. (2022) and Dizon et al. (2019) suggested that teachers and principals engage in collaborative PD to equip them with the proper skills and strategies to implement the programs. The researchers offered that PD should include a system to monitor outcomes to ensure the sustainability of changes. Also, Baldwin and Ching (2019) recommended using checklists to support concerns regarding curriculum complexities. Checklists allow users to break down complex tasks or concepts into manageable steps, making it easier to understand if procedures meet the requirements provided in the learning material (Baldwin & Ching, 2019). The PD project incorporates the recommendations shared by Magallanes and Dizon and Baldwin and Ching.

In today's technology-driven environment, insufficient time and insufficient technology affect teachers' curriculum implementation. Chemagosi (2020) studied primary teachers' readiness to implement a school-based curriculum. Forty eight teachers from two counties within a district completed a questionnaire and participated in interviews and observations. Based on low state test scores, several main concerns include teachers needing adequate time for teaching and learning, noncompliance with digital devices competency, and nonadherence to curriculum instructional approach to education. The researchers affirmed that 65% of teachers considered time constraints a barrier to successfully implementing the curriculum. Also, 69% believed that challenges regarding technology impeded their ability to implement the curriculum as prescribed by developers. Teachers expressed that nonacademic requirements, including preparing professional records and attending to parents, negatively impacted their teaching ability. The researchers suggested continuous job-embedded PD to improve teachers' capacity for teaching competence. My PD project will explore time management and technological concerns collaboratively.

Curriculum Alignment

Trapani and Annunziato (2019) used CBAM to conduct a study assessing the implementation of the Understanding by Design (UbD) instructional framework. As part of the case study, twenty seven teachers completed the SoCQ and participated in interviews and classroom observations. Data analysis results indicated that 87% of teachers admitted to consistently questioning the quality of UbD, causing possible modifications while implementing the program. Also, less than 50% of teachers acknowledged always collaborating with colleagues about the UbD program.

The second phase of the research included teachers' completion of an intervention survey. Participants responded to the questions, "What kind of professional development do you need to advance your uses of the UbD framework?" Most teachers wanted PD to include paired collaboration and interactive workshops. Interactive workshops offer collaborative activities where teachers can receive guidance on specific program components. Based on the data, the researchers suggested a set of transparent goals and expectations developed through the collaborative efforts of teachers and school leaders should guide implementation. Creating a checklist is recommended to identify if expectations and critical components of the curriculum support students' skill acquisition (Yates et al., 2020). My PD project plan will utilize the specifics outlined by the researchers to enhance curriculum implementation.

Project Description

Based on the teachers' concerns and data analysis results, a 3-day PD will focus on developing collaborative lesson plans, peer-led lesson demonstrations, and evidence-
based checklists to improve and sustain the fidelity of curriculum implementation. The PD will occur for three consecutive days, whereby teachers will participate in wellstructured training with interactive activities to create a community learning environment each day. Santarossa and Woodruff (2020) suggested that having clearly defined training with clarity of specific roles within the group will contribute to the success of the PD. To successfully conduct the training, the following materials are needed: laptops, Smartboard, chart paper, and markers. Participants will receive an evaluation at the end of each session to provide feedback concerning the training.

Existing Supports

The training will occur in the school library to facilitate 20 people per session. Each table will allow up to four individuals to sit comfortably. The limited number of participants may provide a platform for deep conversations and reflections. Byrne and Prendergast (2020) expressed that collaborative PD yields positive consequences for participants. A tray with markers, paper, sticky notes, and mints will be at the center of the table. Two pieces of chart paper marked with the titles Parking Lot and Back Burner will hang on either side of the room. I will encourage participants to add questions, ideas, and comments relevant to the training on the Parking Lot chart. Teachers will place fewer related comments on the Back Burner chart. Teachers will bring laptops, but I will ask that all laptops remain closed until it is time to access material collectively.

Potential Barriers and Solutions

Potential barriers to effective PD included participants' negative attitudes towards training, inconvenient course time, and monotony of course content (Eroglu & Donmus,

2021). The researchers posited that PD should consider content based on the needs of participants. My PD related to the concerns and needs of third grade teachers, according to the study. The course should follow the characteristics of effective PD to ensure the quality of the training (Lindmeier et al., 2020). The features of effective PD include content-focused learning, active learning, duration, coherence, and collective participation (Parrish et al., 2020). The PD project will include role play, brainstorming, and problem based learning to ensure teachers' active engagement. Also, the PD sessions will occur during the time teachers can participate. Another potential barrier might be technical difficulties. The solution to this possibility is that all participants will receive a hard copy of the presentation.

Another barrier to consider is acquiring authorization from the principal to conduct the PD. Currently, there is a teacher and substitute shortage in the LSD. Due to budgetary constraints, the principal may need more support to acquire substitutes for the teachers to attend the training. I will forward a summary of the data results to support the training. Also, if the principal does not authorize consecutive full 3-day training days, I will request to present the PD during monthly staff meetings during the school year.

Proposal for Implementation and Timetable

The PD will support teachers' significant concerns resulting from the data analysis. Consequently, a 3-day professional learning opportunity will occur to develop collaborative lesson plans for small groups, writing, grammar, phonics, peer-led lesson demonstrations, and evidence-based checklists to improve the curriculum implementation. Day 1 will begin with activities focused on acquiring teacher buy-in for the PD. Teachers will engage in a Kahoot activity to identify what they know about the reading curriculum. The questions will determine the significant lesson components and the days and times each element is taught.

Teachers will build collaborative units by participating in the activity with group members. Next, the facilitator will provide evidence showing positive outcomes for students accessing the curriculum. Teachers will participate in an activity on their laptops to match state standards with the HMH lesson contents. Then, teachers will receive four cards showing the 2020 state test reading scores for the LSD and the surrounding three counties. Each learning group will discuss the scores and attempt to match the scores with the correct county. The LSD has the lowest test scores of the surrounding districts.

After a break, teachers will watch a video demonstration of a small group lesson. Teachers will discuss the positive and negative aspects of the example lesson. Then, the facilitator will form new learning groups, provide materials, and request that teachers develop a model small group lesson. Upon completion, each group will present their lesson, one member taking on the role of the teacher while the others act as students. Collaboratively, teachers will watch the presentations and chart the significant portions of the lesson that made it a positive experience for students. The facilitator will combine the evidence and provide an evidence-based checklist for teachers to finalize on day two of the training. Teachers will complete and self-assessment and a formative evaluation rating the PD content and instructors' performance.

Day 2 will consist of finalizing the small group checklist developed on day one, understanding how the HMH curriculum aligns with the state standards, examining the HMH scope and sequence, and brainstorming about resources used to encourage students' active participation during instruction. The facilitator will provide the collaboratively created small group checklist. Teachers will use sticky notes to add comments reflecting preferred changes to the checklist. The facilitator will make necessary corrections and provide the final checklist on Day 3. Next, the facilitator will supply cards showing the reading curriculum's lesson contents, time frames, and the numbers 1-8. Teachers will order the lesson contents in groups with the days and time frames. Teachers will glue the cards onto chart paper, and each group will present their interpretation of the scope and sequence of the curriculum. Upon completion, the facilitator will use a group's example and show the scope and sequence for the eight day cycle of the HMH curriculum. Next, teachers will discuss understanding and using students' learning styles to improve curriculum implementation. Lastly, teachers discuss different resources to inspire students' active engagement during reading lessons. The resources may include videos, websites, games, activities, or anything else teachers use as a resource. Each group will chart and present their findings. Teachers will complete and self-assessment and a formative evaluation rating the PD content and instructors' performance.

On Day 3, teachers will review new resources, align them with students' learning styles, and develop and present model lessons for writing, grammar, and phonics lessons. Using the charts developed on Day 2, teachers will match resources with the type of learning style it involves. The facilitator will discuss the importance of collaborating with team members on instructional strategies and resources to increase teachers' capacity to deliver instruction to meet all students' diverse needs. Next, teachers will access the curriculum to examine grammar, writing, or phonics lessons. Based on a consensus within each group, members will develop lessons and create a role-play to present the results. One member will be the teacher, and others will act as the students. After each group presents, a collaborative discussion will occur to identify key evidence teachers should remember when implementing the lesson.

The facilitator will ask for one volunteer from each group to take notes as the whole group analyzes each presentation and highlights significant ideas to remember. Based on the information, teachers will create evidence-based checklists for writing, grammar, and phonics lessons by the end of the PD. Lastly, teachers will receive an evaluation form to complete, bringing the PD to a close.

Roles and Responsibilities

Researcher and Facilitator

My role as a researcher included exploring academic material to acquire information on providing PD based on the study's data analysis results. I read peer reviewed articles to understand the connection between the data results and the PD curriculum and materials genre. Upon selecting the genre, I developed the project goals, rationale, and conducted a review of literature that aligned with the PD genre. In addition, I developed a PD project for the study site to support the concerns expressed by the participants. As the facilitator of the PD project, I created a slide presentation encompassing engaging details and activities to support teachers' concerns regarding the implementation of the required reading curriculum. Also, I structured the PD to engage teachers in peer related activities to begin building a collaborative network to improve and sustain future implementations. Burgess et al. (2020) suggested that facilitators should ensure learning meets the needs of students, challenge students through high level questioning, and cultivate critical thinking.

Teachers

Teachers will engage in the interactive activities presented by the PD facilitator. Participants will create model lessons for small groups, writing, grammar, and phonics lessons. An outcome of generating the lessons will be evidence-based checklists that will support the implementation of the reading curriculum. Also, through collaborative efforts, teachers will develop a list of resources for encouraging actively engaged students. Teachers will align the resources to students' learning styles to support students' diverse learning needs. Lastly, teachers will complete the self-assessments and provide formative feedback on days 1 and 2, and at the end of day three, complete the summative evaluation.

Principals

Once the principal approves the PD, I will confirm the dates and times for the training. Also, the principal must authorize other PD logistics and budgetary considerations. Principals control the training and support opportunities, teacher assignments, and allowable planning time (Stockard, 2020). The principal will receive an invitation to attend the PD. I will discuss the importance of administrative buy-in to inspire teachers' positive responses to the training. To ensure the development of teachers' ability to deliver the curriculum as prescribed, principals need to ensure that teachers participate in relevant and continued PD (Chabalala & Naidoo, 2021).

Project Evaluation Plan

The PD project utilized the formative and summative evaluation format. A unique aspect of formative evaluation is that data are shared with participants during the study to adapt and improve the training process (Elwy et al., 2020). During the PD, teachers will develop and present model lessons. Peers will collaboratively assess the model lessons and offer feedback on each other's adherence to the curriculum's implementation requirements. Upon completion of each lesson, peers will have an opportunity to ask clarifying questions before completing the formative peer lesson evaluation form. Formative evaluations align with the project, allowing teachers to complete selfassessments based on peer feedback. Using formative evaluations encourages collaborative discussions, self-reflection, and possible future instructional adaptations. Also, teachers will complete a self-assessment after presenting model lessons. Wylie and Lyon (2020) suggested that conducting formative evaluations offers learners a pathway to provide constructive feedback and self-assessments. The goal of the evaluation reflects an opportunity for teachers to collaborate and adjust instructional strategies aimed at improving the implementation of the curriculum.

At the end of days one and two, teachers will receive an evaluation form to offer feedback regarding the facilitator's performance and the PD content. Formative assessments are conducted to evaluate an individual's learning process and are used to alter, modify, and improve PD (Bin Mubayrik, 2020). The goal of the evaluation represents a method for the facilitator to acquire data to inform training for the next day. The evaluation will gauge levels of engagement, learning capacity, and learning concerns. Upon reviewing the data, the facilitator will change the materials if necessary.

At the close of day 3 of the training, teachers will receive a final summative evaluation form to rate teachers' overall PD experience. Completing a final evaluation aims to support the facilitator with self-reflection and possible adjustments to future training opportunities (Wylie & Lyon., 2020). The goal is to use critical feedback to improve training for prospective participants.

Overall Evaluation Goals

The overall evaluation goal included improving student growth through PD and collaborative, reflective learning of teachers. Both formative and summative evaluations provided awareness of the effectiveness of the PD program. The evaluation forms will assist teachers' understanding of their coherence to the curriculum implementation processes and procedures prescribed by developers. Evaluating the PD could indicate whether individuals or groups positively experienced the program (Bin Mubayrik, 2020; McIntyre et al., 2019). Teachers will complete self-assessments to identify active engagement during the PD. Conducting an evaluation will provide evidence to show if the PD's features promoted active learning and ownership of the process (Compen et al., 2019). Teachers will receive a summative evaluation for thoughts regarding the overall content of the PD. Summative assessments incorporating scale questions provide a range of data on whether the PD goals and outcomes met the established criteria (Ahmed et al., 2019). The overall goal for the facilitator encompassed using the information to allow for self-assessment regarding the design and content of the PD. Collaboratively designed PD

combines learning with peer support, providing teachers with ongoing feedback and guidance to support student outcomes (Hargreaves & Elhawary., 2019; Karlberg & Bezzina., 2022).

Key Stakeholders

The critical stakeholders for the project included students, teachers, and principals. Students will benefit from the project because teachers will improve their ability to implement the reading curriculum. Didion et al. (2020) posited that students of teachers who received quality PD performed better than students whose teachers did not receive PD. Teachers are vital stakeholders because of the skills, knowledge, and collaborative practice learned during training. Teachers benefitting from the training will understand best practices and develop a network of peers to implement the curriculum with fidelity. Principals are integral because they must give the authorization to conduct the program. Also, principals share the responsibility for change implementation, including providing opportunities for professional development for teachers (Acton, 2021; Meyer-Looze et al., 2019).

Project Implications

The possible social change involved the increased teacher capacity developed through integrating the PD at the school level. The PD project addressed the concerns of teachers implementing the HMH reading curriculum. When collaborative learning acts as the foundation of PD, participants' ability to implement curricula improves. Teachers participating in practical, continuous, and systematic PD potentially increase the quality of literacy instruction (Miller et al., 2019; Mystakidis et al., 2021). Teachers' learning outcomes from the project included collaborating to share instructional best practices, modeling lessons adhering to the curriculum requirements, and building a network of users capable of sustaining implementation fidelity. The principal of the LSD received an invitation to attend the training. Another possible social change involved principals' understanding of teachers' concerns to improve future curriculum implementation endeavors. When principals understand teachers' concerns, an environment of collaborative problem solving may lead to improved implementation fidelity (Olson et al., 2020).

More significant context implications for potential social change included providing school leaders with data to assist them in making systemic changes before and during the implementation of a reading curriculum to improve student progress in reading. Harris and Graham (2019) suggested that teachers do not welcome curriculum change. Understanding teachers' concerns may give district leaders the knowledge surrounding the support needed in schools to promote teacher buy-in for school innovations before mandating a new curriculum. Also, being privy to teachers' challenges may allow school leaders to create mitigation strategies to address the issues before and during implementation (Nollmeyer et al., 2019).

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

Project Strengths

The development of the project study used CBAM for the conceptual framework, specifically the SoC. CBAM constituted a strength because it provided the basis for understanding the experiences, challenges, and concerns of third grade teachers in the LSD. Another strength included the structure of the deliverable for the project, which was a 3-day PD aligned to the themes resulting from the data analysis. Initially, teachers were grounded in activities meant to promote teacher buy-in. Sims and Fletcher-Wood (2021) suggested that teachers become personally invested and more engaged when they support the program. Several interactive activities included exploring the curriculum's positive track record regarding student outcomes. Also, teachers collectively compared state reading assessments with neighboring districts and examined the significance of the teachers' role in adhering to the scope and sequence prescribed by curriculum developers.

Additional strengths included the hands-on, collaborative nature of the PD and evaluation plan. Effective PD should include collective participation to promote active learning (Lindmeier et al., 2020; Parrish et al., 2020; Richardson et al., 2019). Most activities allowed teachers to leverage joint knowledge and experiences to create model lessons and evidence-based checkpoints during the PD. Lastly, the evaluation plan represented another strength of the project. Wylie and Lyon (2020) suggested that conducting evaluations offers learners an opportunity to provide constructive feedback and self-assessments. Teachers evaluated peer-led model lessons and provided each other with data to promote reflection and self-assessment. Also, teachers evaluated the facilitator by providing valuable insights used to improve the content and presentation offered.

Project Limitations

The PD program will provide teachers at the LSD with the skills and knowledge required to improve curriculum fidelity, but limitations exist. The project's design offers a consecutive 3-day PD to allow for consistency and flow of the content. Previously scheduled required training and budgetary constraints may prove challenging for the LSD. Principals control the budgetary factors enabling training opportunities (Stockard, 2020). If the principal does not authorize consecutive days for training, I will request to present the PD during our monthly staff meetings during the school year.

Another limitation of the study relates to the experience of the researcher. Groothuijsen et al. (2019) suggested facilitators need subject matter expertise, the ability to manage collaborative learning, and self-efficacy to conduct PD successfully. The current study was my first experience researching and analyzing data. After taking courses related to my program of study, I completed a research course and read peer reviewed articles describing research processes, procedures, and strategies.

Teachers' predisposition factors may become a limitation for the PD project. Smith and Gillespie (2023) claimed that teachers' characteristics, motivation for attending, background knowledge, and attitudes play an integral role in their uptake and engagement of PD. During the PD, teachers will collectively create model lesson plans, demonstrate exemplary instruction, and brainstorm solutions to concerns. A limitation may exist if teachers are unwilling to participate or need more foundational knowledge to capture lessons learned from the content. Also, due to the interactive nature of the training, teachers need to actively participate to ensure the experiences can garner beneficial learner outcomes. On the first day of training, teachers will participate in activities to secure their buy-in.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

A different approach to address the problem may have been to develop a policy recommendation utilizing a detailed position paper. The goals of the position paper would be to provide leadership with a problem statement, a summary of the data from research findings, and recommendations to solve the problem. The LSD mandated using a curriculum map to accompany the reading curriculum. Many teachers regarded the curriculum map as the reason lesson activities did not align with expectations causing them to modify implementation. Developing a position paper would reflect an appropriate scholarly foundation for the particular problem, as district leaders could receive a report detailing teachers' concerns and viable recommendations for continuing, augmenting, or excluding the curriculum map. The position paper format varies but traditionally includes a persuasive argument to support recommendations.

Researchers use position papers in education for many reasons. Perrotta and Selwyn (2020) offered a position paper with recommendations for using deep learning to predict aspects of educational performance. Lee (2019) provided a position paper examining the benefits of written feedback in school. Lastly, Ungar et al. (2019) suggested recommendations for enhancing the development of young people's resilience in the form of a position paper. Consequently, using the position paper is a viable alternative to the current project.

Another alternative to addressing the problem involves completing a developmental program evaluation to determine the quality of program delivery and the quality of the curriculum. Program evaluations are intended for the decisionmaker to understand program processes and outcomes (Patton, 2010). Program evaluations require the collection of data on the program to identify the strengths, weaknesses, and overall effectiveness of a program. The study used interviews to collect teachers' concerns about implementing the curriculum. Cooper et al. (2020) posited that the developmental evaluation is an option at the beginning or developmental phase of the adoption of a program. Teachers were in the third year of utilizing the reading curriculum. Using the evaluation approach could provide leaders with the data needed to make recommendations for the continued implementation of the curriculum and a guideline for selecting curricula in the future.

An alternative to the problem's definition could be that the LSD did not collaborate with enough stakeholders before selecting a new curriculum. Several teachers mentioned becoming aware of the new curriculum at the beginning of the school year. A solution to the problem is consulting teachers, principals, and reading specialists before mandating the implementation of the new program.

Scholarship, Project Development, and Leadership and Change

I graduated with my master's degree in 2004. I began working as an elementary school teacher shortly after receiving my degree. Educating students remains one of the

constant joys in my life. As I continue teaching students, I have become a lifelong learner. Becoming involved in the Curriculum, Instruction, & Assessment program at Walden has taken my zest for continuous education to new heights. Reaching this point of creating the project for my study has been no easy task. Throughout the process, I have learned many things about my level of scholarship. Actual achievement takes patience, resourcefulness, and perseverance.

Being a project developer involves reading scholarly articles with purpose while understanding the significance of teasing out pertinent details necessary for project development. As a practitioner, my newly acquired skillset allowed me to gain knowledge, understand the problem, plan, and design my project. Handling the iterative process of scholarly writing allowed me to build the perseverance necessary to encounter any challenge confidently.

At the start of the project development, I received many resources. It took me a while, but finally, I honed my library skills, utilized the writing and academic skills centers to improve my writing skills, found articles suited for my project, and acquired knowledge to create slides. However, becoming resourceful became an integral part of my scholarship. Through my experiences, I learned to become open to new ideas in my attempts to meet the needs of my project. Along the way, I developed relationships with others in my program and my committee members to strive toward developing my project. Experiencing the process of creating my project provided opportunities to learn the leadership qualities necessary to manage future personal, career, and academic events.

Reflections on the Importance of the Work

In reflecting on the importance of the work, I found that revealing the significance of teachers' concerns outweighed the sometimes overwhelming workload involved with researching the topic. The lessons learned throughout this process included the necessity of being meticulous, organized, and honest. Balancing research efficacy with maintaining scholarly writing principles was the foundation for my research.

Teachers have the most influence on the learning of students. Developing reading comprehension skills may influence students' academic success and future real world experiences. Consequently, understanding the pathway to improve teachers' instruction becomes germane to providing teachers with processes and procedures to fulfill their professional duties. The study aimed to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. Developing a project aligned with the research provided a significant addition to the literature on understanding teachers' concerns when fostering student achievement.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

This study on teachers' experiences and challenges when implementing the reading curriculum may support positive social change for students, teachers, families, and district leaders. The study's findings illustrated that teachers needed help implementing the reading curriculum with fidelity. Teachers expressed concerns that student achievement was at risk because of the complexity related to curriculum alignment, inconsistent adaptations, and lack of collaborative opportunities. The PD addressed teachers' concerns by providing strategies to mitigate concerns and improve

classroom instruction and curriculum implementation fidelity. The potential for positive social change at the student, teacher, and family level included teachers' enhanced skillset to share best practices with colleagues and implement the curriculum with fidelity.

Realizing positive social change on a school district and societal level involved stakeholders gaining new knowledge from the research findings and PD project evaluations. Based on the results, leaders will have the information needed to address teachers' concerns regarding implementing the current reading curriculum. Considering teachers' primary concern related to the lack of collaborative processes within the LSD, providing the data and conducting PD will assist leaders with possibly including more stakeholders before implementing new school innovations.

Directions for Future Research

A recommendation for future research encompassed using the conceptual framework CBAM to uncover principals' concerns about their leadership practices in leading collaborative innovation within the school. Traditionally, school principals create new ideas and processes to manage school changes (De Jong et al., 2022). These innovation processes can be shared more widely through collaboration interaction between principals, teachers, and other stakeholders. Principals should feel equipped to support the implementation of new school programs. Consequently, understanding principals' concerns could offer insights into improving their practice and methods used to support teachers.

In the future, using a mixed-methods methodology could help to determine principals' concerns about their leadership practices in leading collaborative innovation within the school. The mixed-method approach may provide a more complete basis for complex decision making than currently offered by a single method (Stern et al., 2021). For the current study, components of CBAM were used as the conceptual framework leading to categorizing the approach as qualitative. Additional CBAM components include quantitative and other qualitative tenants for data collection. The SoCQ is a questionnaire to ask implementors about their concerns when faced with a new program. The Levels of Use provides a tool for leaders to gather information on the degree of program fidelity. Utilizing all aspects of CBAM may provide an opportunity to deepen knowledge regarding principals' leadership practices for future research opportunities.

Conclusion

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. The problem was that in the years since the inception of the new curriculum, reading proficiency scores remained low, and the district had not explored teachers' experiences and challenges with the implementation of the new curriculum. Teachers' concerns regarding why they could not implement the curriculum with fidelity encompassed inconsistent curriculum adaptations based on content level disparities, time management barriers, technology integration, and the lack of collaborative opportunities. Based on data analysis, a 3-day PD project was developed to address the needs of teachers. The training incorporated effective components of PD, including content-focused learning, active learning, and collective participation. Many of the findings and

PD contents could have potential applications and positive social impact throughout schools worldwide.

References

Abu-Alghayth, K., Jones, P., Pace-Phillips, D., & Meyers, R. (2020). Through the looking glass: Lesson study in a center school. *International Journal of Educational Methodology*, 6(2), 423–433. <u>https://doi.org/10.12973/ijem.6.2.423</u>

Acton, K. S. (2021). School leaders as change agents: Do principals have the tools they need? *Management in Education*, *35*(1), 43–51.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0892020620927415

- Agsonsua, P., & Prasertphorn, V. (2020). Development of faculty of education of northeastern university through professional learning community process. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 9(6), 318-325. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v9n6p318</u>
- Aguboshim, F. C. (2021). Adequacy of sample size in a qualitative case study and the dilemma of data saturation: A narrative review. *World Journal of Advanced* Research and Reviews, 10(3), 180-187.

https://doi.org/10.30574/wjarr.2021.10.3.0277

Ahmed, F., Ali, S., & Shah, R. A. (2019). Exploring variation in summative assessment:
Language teachers' knowledge of students' formative assessment and its effect on
their summative assessment. *Bulletin of Education & Research, 41*(2), 109–119.
Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/342707910_Exploring_Variation_in_Su mmative_Assessment_Language_Teachers'_Knowledge_of_Students'_Formative _Assessment_and_Its_Effect_on_their_Summative_Assessment Aldahmash, A. H., Alshamrani, S. M., Alshaya, F. S., & Alsarrani, N. A. (2019).

Research trends in in-service science teacher professional development from 2012 to 2016. *International Journal of Instruction*, *12*(2), 163–178. https://doi.org/10.29333/iji.2019.12211a

Allsop, D. B., Chelladurai, J. M., Kimball, E. R., Marks, L. D., & Hendricks, J. J. (2022).
Qualitative methods with nvivo software: A practical guide for analyzing
qualitative data. *Psych*, 4(2), 142–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/psych4020013</u>

- Alnujaidi, S. (2021). Adoption of mobile assisted language learning (Mall) in Saudi
 Arabian EFL classrooms. Journal of Language Teaching and Research, 12(2),
 312-323. https://doi.org/10.17507/jltr.1202.13
- Ambusaidi, I., Badiali, B., & Alkharousi, K. (2021). Examining how biology teachers' pedagogical beliefs shape the implementation of the omani reform-oriented curriculum. *Athens Journal of Education*, 8(3), 263–303.

https://doi.org/10.30958/aje.8-3-3

Amin, M. E. K., Nørgaard, L. S., Cavaco, A. M., Witry, M. J., Hillman, L., Cernasev, A., & Desselle, S. P. (2020). Establishing trustworthiness and authenticity in qualitative pharmacy research. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, *16*(10), 1472-1482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2020.02.005

Anderson, E. R. (2017). Accommodating change: Relating fidelity of implementation to program fit in educational reforms. *American Educational Research Journal*, 54(6), 1288–1315. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831217718164</u>

Anderson, S. G., & Olivier, D. F. (2022). A quantitative study of schools as learning

organizations: An examination of professional learning communities, teacher selfefficacy, and collective efficacy. Research Issues in Contemporary Education, 7(1), 26–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/1888280</u>

Anyon, Y., Roscoe, J., Bender, K., Kennedy, H., Dechants, J., Begun, S., & Gallager, C. (2019). Reconciling adaptation and fidelity: Implications for scaling up high quality youth programs. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 40(1), 35–49.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-019-00535-6

- Archibald, M. M., Ambagtsheer, R. C., Casey, M. G., & Lawless, M. (2019). Using zoom videoconferencing for qualitative data collection: perceptions and experiences of researchers and participants. International journal of qualitative methods, 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919874596</u>
- Ardhian, T., Ummah, I., Anafiah, S., & Rachmadtullah, R. (2020). Reading and critical thinking techniques on understanding reading skills for early grade students in elementary school. International Journal of Instruction, 13(2), 107-118. https://doi.org/10.29333/iji.2020.1328a
- Baker, B. D. (2021). Educational inequality and school finance: Why money matters for America's students. Harvard Education Press.
- Baldwin, S. J., & Ching, Y. H. (2019). An online course design checklist: development and users' perceptions. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 31, 156-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-018-9199-8</u>
- Balgopal, M. M. (2020). STEM teacher agency: A case study of initiating and implementing curricular reform. *Science Education*, *104*(4), 762–785.

https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21578

- Ballard, E. D., & Haroldson, R. (2022). Analysis of computational thinking in children's literature for K-6 students: Literature as a non-programming unplugged resource. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 59(8), 1487–1516.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/07356331211004048
- Bano, J., Jabeen, J., & Qutoshi, S. B. (2018). Perceptions of teachers about the role of parents in developing reading habits of children to improve their academic performance in schools. *Journal of Education and Educational Development*, 5(1), 42–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.22555/joeed.v5i1.1445</u>
- Barnhill, G. D., & Barnhill, E. A. (2014). Data security in qualitative research. M. Chesnay (Ed.), Nursing research using data analysis: Qualitative designs and methods in nursing, 11-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1891/9780826126894.0002</u>
- Barrett-Tatum, J., & Smith, M. J. (2018). Questioning reform in the standards movement: professional development and implementation of common core across the rural South. Teachers & Teaching, 24(4), 384–412.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2017.1401534

- Bearman, M. (2019). Focus on Methodology: Eliciting rich data: A practical approach to writing semistructured interview schedules. *Focus on Health Professional Education (2204-7662), 20*(3), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.11157/fohpe.v20i3.387</u>
- Bergmark, M., Bejerholm, U., & Markström, U. (2019). Implementation of evidencebased interventions: Analyzing critical components for sustainability in community mental health services. Social Work in Mental Health, 17(2), 129–

148. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332985.2018.1511500

Bettini, E., Cumming, M. M., Brunsting, N. C., McKenna, J. W., Cooper Schneider, C.,
Muller, R., & Peyton, D. (2020). Principals' roles: Providing special educators
with opportunities to learn and enact effective reading practices for students with
EBD. *Beyond Behavior*, 29(1), 52–61.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1074295620904024

- Billingsley, B., Bettini, E., & Jones, N. D. (2019). Supporting special education teacher induction through high-leverage practices. *Remedial and Special Education*, 40, 365-379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932518816826</u>
- Bingham, G. E., & Hall-Kenyon, K. M. (2013). Examining teachers' beliefs about and implementation of a balanced literacy framework. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 36(1), 14–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9817.2010.01483.x</u>
- Bin Mubayrik, H. F. (2020). New trends in formative-summative evaluations for adult education. Sage Open, 10(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020941006</u>
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, *19*(4), 426–432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/qmr-06-2016-0053</u>
- Bogdan, R., & Biklen, S. (2007). Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theories and methods (5th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Bondie, R. S., Dahnke, C., & Zusho, A. (2019). How does changing "one-size-fits-all" to differentiated instruction affect teaching? *Review of Research in Education*, 43(1), 336-362. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732x18821130</u>

- Bosworth, K., Garcia, R., Judkins, M., & Saliba, M. (2018). The impact of leadership involvement in enhancing high school climate and reducing bullying: An exploratory study. *Journal of School Violence*, 17(3), 354–366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2017.1376208</u>
- Brown, C., & Militello, M. (2016). Principal's perceptions of effective professional development in schools. Journal of Educational Administration, 54(6), 703–726. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jea-09-2014-0109</u>
- Bryce, C. I., Bradley, R. H., Abry, T., Swanson, J., & Thompson, M. S. (2019). Parents' and teachers' academic influences, behavioral engagement, and first- and fifthgrade achievement. *School Psychology*, *34*(5), 492–502. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000297

Bullard, M. B., Rutledge, C., & Kohler-Evans, P. (2017). Using the stages of concern questionnaire to ensure professional development with teachers and teacher

candidates. International Research in Higher Education, 2(4), 50-57. https://doi.org/10.5430/irhe.v2n4p50

- Burgess, A., van Diggele, C., Roberts, C., & Mellis, C. (2020). Team-based learning: design, facilitation, and participation. BMC Medical education, 20(2), 1-7.chttps://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-02287-y
- Byrne, C., & Prendergast, M. (2020). Investigating the concerns of secondary school teachers towards curriculum reform. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 52(2), 286-306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2019.1643924</u>

Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters,

D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: complex or simple? Rescarch case examples. *Journal of research in Nursing*, *25*(8), 652-661. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206

Cansiz, N., & Cansiz, M. (2022). Profiling preservice science teachers' early experience, beliefs about teaching, and teaching practices. *Research in Science & Technological Education*, 40(2), 149–167.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/02635143.2020.1780207

- Capp, M. J. (2020). Teacher confidence to implement the principles, guidelines, and checkpoints of universal design for learning. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 24(7), 706–720. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2018.1482014</u>
- Chabalala, G., & Naidoo, P. (2021). Teachers' and middle managers' experiences of principals' instructional leadership towards improving curriculum delivery in schools. *South African Journal of Childhood Education*, 11(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.4102/spice.y11i1.910

https://doi.org/10.4102/sajce.v11i1.910

- Chemagosi, M. J. (2020). Teachers preparedness on implementation of competence based curriculum in lower public primary schools in Kilifi and Nandi counties, Kenya. *International Journal of Scientific Research and Management (IJSRM)*, 8(04), 1292-1303. <u>https://doi.org/10.18535/ijsrm/v8i04.el04</u>
- Chen, C., Sonnert, G., Sadler, P. M., & Sunbury, S. (2020). The impact of high school life science teachers' subject matter knowledge and knowledge of student misconceptions on students' learning. CBE—Life Sciences Education, 19(1), ar9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.19-08-0164</u>

- Compen, B., De Witte, K., & Schelfhout, W. (2019). The role of teacher professional development in financial literacy education: A systematic literature review. *Educational Research Review*, 26, 16-31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2018.12.001</u>
- Conlon, C., Timonen, V., Elliott-O'Dare, C., O'Keeffe, S., & Foley, G. (2020). Confused about theoretical sampling? Engaging theoretical sampling in diverse grounded theory studies. *Qualitative Health Research*, 30(6), 947–959.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732319899139

- Connolly, P., Keenan, C., & Urbanska, K. (2018). The trials of evidence-based practice in education: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials in education research 1980–2016. *Educational Research*, 60(3), 276-291.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2018.1493353_
- Cook, P., Rodes, D. R., & Lipsitz, K. L. (2017). The reading wars and reading recovery: What educators, families, and taxpayers should know. *Learning Disabilities: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 22(2), 12–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.18666/ldmj-2017-v22-</u> <u>i2-8391</u>
- Cooper, A., MacGregor, S., & Shewchuk, S. (2020). A developmental evaluation of research-practice-partnerships and their impacts. International Journal of Education Policy & Leadership, 16(12).

https://doi.org/10.22230/ijep1.2020v16n9a967

Cottone, A., Yoon, S., Coulter, B., Shim, J., & Carman, S. (2021). Building system capacity with a modeling-based inquiry program for elementary students: A case

study. Systems, 9(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/systems9010009

- Creswell, J. W. (2012). *Educational research: planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (Laureate custom ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (5th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. SAGE Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Cypress, B. S. (2019). Data analysis software in qualitative research: Preconceptions, expectations, and adoption. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *38*(4), 213–220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/dcc.00000000000363</u>
- Dames, S. (2019). Impact of interplaying and compounding factors in the novice nurse journey: A basic qualitative research study. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 51(2), 84–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0844562118817079</u>
- Daniel, B. K. (2019). What constitutes a good qualitative research study? Fundamental dimensions and indicators of rigour in qualitative research: The TACT framework. Kidmore End: Academic Conferences International Limited. https://doi.org/10.34190/rm.19.113
- Daniel, J., & Lemons, C. (2018). Teacher perspectives on intervention sustainability: Implications for school leadership. *School Leadership & Management*, 38(5),

518-538. https://doi.org/10.34190/rm.19.113

Darling-Hammond, L., & Oakes, J. (2021). *Preparing teachers for deeper learning*. Harvard Education Press.

Davis, A., Griffith, R., & Bauml, M. (2019). How preservice teachers use learner knowledge for planning and in-the-moment teaching decisions during guided reading. *Journal of Early Childhood Teacher Education*, 40(2), 138–158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10901027.2018.1534161</u>

- Davis, M. H., McPartland, J. M., Pryseski, C., & Kim, E. (2018). The effects of coaching on English teachers' reading instruction practices and adolescent students' reading comprehension. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, 57(3), 255–275.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19388071.2018.1453897</u>
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: a balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), e000057. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057</u>
- De Jong, W. A., Lockhorst, D., de Kleijn, R. A., Noordegraaf, M., & van Tartwijk, J. W. F. (2022). Leadership practices in collaborative innovation: A study among Dutch school principals. Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 50(6), 928-944. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143220962098</u>
- De La Paz, S., Felton, M., Monte-Sano, C., Croninger, R., Jackson, C., Deogracias, J. S.,
 & Polk-Hoffman, B. (2014). Developing historical reading and writing with adolescent readers: Effects on student learning. *Theory & Research in Social Education, 42*, 228-274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00933104.2014.908754</u>

- Dele-Ajayi, O., Fasae, O. D., & Okoli, A. (2021). Teachers' concerns about integrating information and communication technologies in the classrooms. *PLoS ONE*, 16(5), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0249703
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). (2017). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*. Sage publications.
- De Simone, J. J. (2020). The roles of collaborative professional development, selfefficacy, and positive affect in encouraging educator data use to aid student learning. *Teacher Development*, 24(4), 443–465. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2020.1780302</u>
- De Smul, M., Heirweg, S., Devos, G., & Van Keer, H. (2020). It's not only about the teacher! A qualitative study into the role of school climate in primary schools' implementation of self-regulated learning. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 31(3), 381-404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2019.1672758</u>
- Didion, L., Toste, J. R., & Filderman, M. J. (2020). Teacher professional development and student reading achievement: A meta-analytic review of the effects. *Journal* of Research on Educational Effectiveness, 13(1), 29-

66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2019.1670884</u>

- Dijkstra, E. M., Walraven, A., Mooij, T., & Kirschner, P. A. (2017). Factors affecting intervention fidelity of differentiated instruction in kindergarten. *Research Papers in Education*, 32(2), 151-169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2016.1158856</u>
- Dimmock, C., Tan, C. Y., Nguyen, D., Tran, T. A., & Dinh, T. T. (2021). Implementing education system reform: Local adaptation in school reform of teaching and

learning. International Journal of Educational Development, 80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2020.102302

Dizon, R., Calbi, J., Cuyos, J., & Miranda, M. (2019). Perspectives on the Implementation of the K to 12 program in the Philippines: A research review. *International Journal of Innovation and Research in Educational Science*, 6, 757- 765. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ijires.org/administrator/components/com_jresearch/files/publications</u> /IJIRES_1638_FINAL.pdf

- Duke, N. K., Cervetti, G. N., & Wise, C. N. (2018). Learning from exemplary teachers of literacy. *Reading Teacher*, 71(4), 395–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1654</u>
- Eddy, R. M., Galport, N., & Koletar, C. (2020). Houghton mifflin harcourt into reading implementation study report [Final Report]. Cobblestone Applied Research & Evaluation, Inc.
- Ekinci, E., & Acar, F. E. (2019). Primary school teachers' opinions on professional development (Professional Development Model Proposal). *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 7(4), 111-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.11114/jets.v7i4.4039</u>
- Elwy, A. R., Wasan, A. D., Gillman, A. G., Johnston, K. L., Dodds, N., McFarland, C., & Greco, C. M. (2020). Using formative evaluation methods to improve clinical implementation efforts: Description and an example. *Psychiatry research*, 283, 112532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.112532
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied*

Statistics, 5(1), 1-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11</u>

Every Student Succeeds Act, 20 U.S.C. § 6301 (2015).

https://congress.gov/114/plaws/pub195/PLAW-114pub195.pdf

- Faggella-Luby, M., & Bonfiglio, C. (2020). A framework for all: Building capacity for service delivery in catholic schools. *Journal of Catholic Education*, 23(2), 84-106. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15365/joce.2302082020</u>
- Falloon, G., Hatzigianni, M., Bower, M., Forbes, A., & Stevenson, M. (2020). Understanding K-12 STEM education: A framework for developing STEM literacy. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 29(3), 369–385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-020-09823-x</u>
- Farkas, W. A., & Jang, B. G. (2019). Designing, implementing, and evaluating a schoolbased literacy program for adolescent learners with reading difficulties: A mixedmethods study. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 35(4), 305–321.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2018.1541770

- Fletcher-Wood, H., & Zuccollo, J. (2020). The effects of high-quality professional development on teachers and students: A rapid review and meta-analysis. *Education Policy Institute.*
- Flynn, S. V., & Korcuska, J. S. (2018). Credible phenomenological research: A mixedmethods study. *Counselor Education & Supervision*, 57(1), 34–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ceas.12092</u>
- Folsom, J. S., Reed, D. K., Aloe, A. M., & Schmitz, S. S. (2019). Instruction in districtdesigned intensive summer reading programs. *Learning Disability*

Quarterly, 42(3), 147-160. https://doi.org/10.1177/0731948718765207

- Ford, E. (2020). Tell me your story: Narrative inquiry in LIS research. *College & Research Libraries*, *81*(2), 235–247. https://doi.org/10.5860/crl.81.2.235
- Ford, T. G., Urick, A., & Wilson, A. S. P. (2018). Exploring the effect of supportive teacher evaluation experiences on US teachers' job satisfaction. Education Policy *Analysis Archives*, 26(59). <u>https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.26.3559</u>
- Ford, T. G., Van Sickle, M. E., Clark, L. V., Fazio-Brunson, M., & Schween, D. C. (2017). Teacher self-efficacy, professional commitment and high-stakes teacher evaluation (HSTE) policy in Louisiana. *Educational Policy*, 31(2), 202-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904815586855</u>
- Forman, M. L., Stosich, E. L., & Bocala, C. (2021). The internal coherence framework: Creating the conditions for continuous improvement in schools. Harvard Education Press.
- Forman, S. G., Shapiro, E. S., Codding, R. S., Gonzales, J. E., Reddy, L. A., Rosenfield, S. A., Stoiber, K. C., & Sanetti, L. M. H. (2013). Implementation science and school psychology. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 28(2), 77. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000019

Francis, J. J., Johnston, M., Robertson, C., Glidewell, L., Entwistle, V., Eccles, M. P., & Grimshaw, J. M. (2010). What is an adequate sample size? Operationalising data saturation for theory-based interview studies. *Psychology & Health*, 25(10), 1229–1245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08870440903194015</u>

Fullan, M. (2018). Research into educational innovation. The Management of

Educational Institutions, 245-261. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351041140-13

Fuller, F. F. (1969). Concerns of teachers: A developmental conceptualization. American Educational Research Journal, 6(2), 207–226. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312006002207

- Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(3), 923-941. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2580</u>
- Gale, J., Alemdar, M., Lingle, J., & Newton, S. (2020). Exploring critical components of an integrated STEM curriculum: An application of the innovation implementation framework. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-020-0204-1

<u>napo, / doi.org/10.1100/0100/11020/020111</u>

- Galehdar, N., Kamran, A., Toulabi, T., & Heydari, H. (2020). Exploring nurses' experiences of psychological distress during care of patients with COVID-19: A qualitative study. *BMC psychiatry*, 20(1), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-</u> 020-02898-1
- Gallo-Fox, J., & Cuccuini-Harmon, C. M. (2018). The non-tested years: Policy's impact on early childhood curriculum. *Educational Forum*, 82(4), 475–490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2018.1461524</u>

Ganon-Shilon, S., & Schechter, C. (2019). School principals' sense-making of their leadership role during reform implementation. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 22(3), 279-300.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2018.1450996

García, G. E., Taylor, B. M., Pearson, P. D., Bray, T. M., Primeaux, J., & Mora, R. A.
(2021). Improvements in teachers' reading comprehension instruction and bilingual students' reading test performance in high-poverty schools. *Elementary School Journal*, *121*(3), 357–384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/712604</u>

Garfinkel, S. L., & Shelat, A. (2003). Remembrance of data passed: A study of disk sanitization practices. IEEE Security & Privacy, 1(1), 17-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/msecp.2003.1176992</u>

- Gelmez-Burakgazi, S. (2020). Curriculum adaptation and fidelity: A qualitative study on elementary teachers' classroom practices. *Issues in Educational Research*, 30(3), 920-942. <u>https://doi.org/10.17569/tojqi.410983</u>
- Geng, J., Jong, M. S. Y., & Chai, C. S. (2019). Hong Kong teachers' self-efficacy and concerns about STEM education. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 28, 35-45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-018-0414-1</u>
- George, A. A., Hall, G. E., & Stiegelbauer, S. M. (2006). Measuring implementation in schools: The stages of concern questionnaire. Austin, TX: SEDL. Available from http://www.sedl.org/pubs/catalog/items/cbam17.html
- George, A. A., Hall, G. E., & Stiegelbauer, S. M. (2013). Measuring implementation in schools: The stages of concern questionnaire. Austin, TX: SEDL. https://sedl.org/cbam/socq_manual_201410.pdf.
- Gess-Newsome, J., Taylor, J. A., Carlson, J., Gardner, A. L., Wilson, C. D., & Stuhlsatz,
 M. A. M. (2019). Teacher pedagogical content knowledge, practice, and student achievement. *International Journal of Science Education*, 41(7), 944–963.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2016.1265158

- Gillam, S. L., Vaughn, S., Roberts, G., Capin, P., Fall, A.-M., Israelsen-Augenstein, M., Holbrook, S., Wada, R., Hancock, A., Fox, C., Dille, J., Magimairaj, B. M., & Gillam, R. B. (2022). Improving oral and written narration and reading comprehension of children at-risk for language and literacy difficulties: Results of a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Educational Psychology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000766</u>
- Gonzalez, E., McCraney, M., Panesar-Aguilar, S., & Cale, C. (2020). Fidelity first in middle school reading programs. *World Journal of Education*, 10(2), 109–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/wje.v10n2p109</u>
- Gore, J., & Rosser, B. (2022). Beyond content-focused professional development: Powerful professional learning through genuine learning communities across grades and subjects. *Professional Development in Education*, 48(2), 218–232. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2020.1725904
- Gore, J. M., Miller, A., Fray, L., Harris, J., & Prieto, E. (2021). Improving student achievement through professional development: Results from a randomised controlled trial of Quality Teaching Rounds. Teaching and Teacher Education, 101, 103297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103297</u>.

Graham, S., Liu, X., Aitken, A., Ng, C., Bartlett, B., Harris, K. R., & Holzapfel, J. (2018). Effectiveness of literacy programs balancing reading and writing instruction: A meta-analysis. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 53(3), 279–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.194</u>
- Groothuijsen, S. E. A., Prins, G. T., & Bulte, A. M. W. (2019). Towards an empirically substantiated professional development programme to train lead teachers to support curriculum innovation. *Professional development in education*, 45(5), 739-761. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2018.1510427</u>
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field methods*, 18(1), 59-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x05279903</u>
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, 15(5), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076</u>
- Gupta, A., & Lee, G. L. (2020). The effects of a site-based teacher professional development program on student learning. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 12(5), 417–428.

https://doi.org/10.26822/iejee.2020562132

- Hall, G., & Hord, S. (1987). Change in schools: Facilitating the process. Albany: StateUniversity of New York Press.
- Hall, G., & Hord, S. (2015). Implementing change: Patterns, principles, and potholes (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Hall, G. E., & George, A. A. (1979). Stages of concern about the innovation: The concept, initial verification and some implications. 1st Draft. The University of Texas at Austin.
- Hall, G. E., & Hord, S. M. (2020). Implementing change: Patterns, principles, and

potholes (5th ed.). Pearson.

- Hamilton, J. B. (2020). Rigor in qualitative methods: An evaluation of strategies among underrepresented rural communities. *Qualitative Health Research*, 30(2), 196–204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732319860267</u>
- Hammersley, M. (2018). What is ethnography? Can it survive? Should it? Ethnography & Education, 13(1), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17457823.2017.1298458</u>
- Hancock, D. R., & Algozzine, B. (2011). Doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers. Teachers College Press.
- Hargreaves, A. (2010). Presentism, individualism, and conservatism: The legacy of Dan Lortie's schoolteacher: A sociological study. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 40(1), 143-154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-873x.2009.00472.x</u>
- Hargreaves, E., & Elhawary, D. (2019). Professional development through mutually respectful relationship: senior teachers' learning against the backdrop of hierarchical relationships. *Professional Development in Education*, 45(1), 46–58. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2018.1500390
- Harris, R., & Graham, S. (2019). Engaging with curriculum reform: insights from English history teachers' willingness to support curriculum change. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 51(1), 43–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2018.1513570</u>
- Hassan, M. U., & Akbar, R. A. (2020). Tracing the effects of teachers' centered teaching methods on students' achievement scores: secondary level study. *Bulletin of Education and Research*, 42(1), 29-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.33225/ppc/20.14.39</u>
- He, Y., Ouyang, Q., & Zhang, H. (2022). Chinese dual language immersion teacher

professional learning community. *Educational Research and Development Journal*, 25(2), 53–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1075/jicb.17009.he</u>

- Henson, R. K., Stewart, G. K., & Bedford, L. A. (2020). Key challenges and some guidance on using strong quantitative methodology in education research. *Journal* of Urban Mathematics Education, 13(2), 42–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.21423/jumev13i2a382</u>
- Heslop, C., Burns, S., & Lobo, R. (2018). Managing qualitative research as insider research in small rural communities. *Rural & Remote Health*, 18(3), 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.22605/rrh4576</u>
- Hockey, J., & Forsey, M. (2020). Ethnography is not participant observation: Reflections on the interview as participatory qualitative research. *The Interview*, 69–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003087014-4</u>
- Holloway, J., & Brass, J. (2018). Making accountable teachers: the terrors and pleasures of performativity. *Journal of Education Policy*, *33(3)*, 361-382. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2017.1372636
- Horner, R. H., Sugai, G., & Fixsen, D. L. (2017). Implementing effective educational practices at scales of social importance. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 20, 25–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-017-0224-7</u>

Horner, R. H., Ward, C. S., Fixsen, D. L., Sugai, G., McIntosh, K., Putnam, R., & Little,
H. D. (2019). Resource leveraging to achieve large-scale implementation of
effective educational practices. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions, 21*(2),
67-76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300718783754</u>

- Houghton Mifflin Harcourt. (n.d.). Build confident readers. Retrieved from <u>https://www.hmhco.com/programs/into-reading</u>.
- Houghton Mifflin Harcourt. (n.d.). Collections: Research foundations. Retrieved from https://www.hmhco.com/research/collections-research-foundations

Houghton Mifflin Harcourt. (n.d.). HMH: Into reading: Implementation research study results 2019-2020. Retrieved from <u>https://www.hmhco.com/research/into-</u> <u>reading-implementation-research-study-results-20192020</u>

- Jentoft, N., & Olsen, T. S. (2019). Against the flow in data collection: How data triangulation combined with a 'slow'interview technique enriches data. *Qualitative Social Work*, 18(2), 179-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325017712581</u>
- Jiang, A. L., Zhang, L. J., May, S., & Qin, L. T. (2020). Understanding novice teachers' perceived challenges and needs as a prerequisite for English curriculum innovation. *Language, Culture and Curriculum*, 33(1), 15-31. https://doi.org/10.1080/07908318.2018.1518452
- Johnson, C. W., & Voelkel, R. H. (2021). Developing increased leader capacity to support effective professional learning community teams. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 24(3), 313-332.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2019.1600039

Johnson, D. R., Scheitle, C. P., & Ecklund, E. H. (2021). Beyond the in-person interview? How interview quality varies across in-person, telephone, and Skype interviews. *Social Science Computer Review*, 39(6), 1142-1158. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439319893612

Johnsson, L. (2021). Multidimensional property supplementation: A method for discovering and describing emergent qualities of concepts in grounded theory research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 31(1), 184–

200. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732320970488

- Kaimara, P., Fokides, E., Oikonomou, A., & Deliyannis, I. (2021). Potential barriers to the implementation of digital game-based learning in the classroom: Pre-service teachers' views. *Technology, Knowledge and Learning*, *26*(4), 825-844.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10758-021-09512-7</u>
- Kanter, D. E., & Konstantopoulos, S. (2010). The impact of a project-based science curriculum on minority student achievement, attitudes, and careers: The effects of teacher content and pedagogical content knowledge and inquiry-based practices. *Science Education*, 94(5), 855–887. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20391</u>
- Karakus, G. (2021). A literary review on curriculum implementation Problems. *Shanlax International Journal of Education*, 9(3), 201–220.

https://doi.org/10.34293/education.v9i3.3983

Karakus, G. (2021). Solutions for barriers in curriculum implementation. *African Educational Research Journal*, 9(2), 591-599.

https://doi.org/10.30918/aerj.92.21.084

Karlberg, M., & Bezzina, C. (2022). The professional development needs of beginning and experienced teachers in four municipalities in Sweden. *Professional Development in Education, 48*(4), 624-641. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2020.1712451

- Kavanagh, K. M., & Fisher-Ari, T. R. (2020). Curricular and pedagogical oppression: contradictions within the juggernaut accountability trap. *Educational Policy*, 34(2), 283-311. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904818755471</u>
- Kayaduman, H., & Demirel, T. (2019). Investigating the concerns of first-time distance education instructors. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 20(5), 85-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrod1.v20i5.4467</u>
- Kelly, L. B. (2018). Compliance and resistance: Showing future teachers how to navigate curriculum. *Studying Teacher Education*, 14(1), 71–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17425964.2018.1428794</u>
- Kennedy, M. J., Hirsch, S. E., Rodgers, W. J., Bruce, A., & Lloyd, J. W. (2017). Supporting high school teachers' implementation of evidence-based classroom management practices. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 63, 47–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.12.009</u>
- Kim, J. J., Brookman-Frazee, L., Barnett, M. L., Tran, M., Kuckertz, M., Yu, S., & Lau, A. S. (2020). How community therapists describe adapting evidence-based practices in sessions for youth: Augmenting to improve fit and reach. *Journal of community psychology*, 48(4), 1238-1257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22333</u>
- Kim, J. S., & Chung, G. H. (2017). Implementing innovations within organizations: A systematic review and research agenda. *Innovation-Management Policy & Practice*, 19(3), 372–399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14479338.2017.1335943</u>

Kim, S., Raza, M., & Seidman, E. (2019). Improving 21st-century teaching skills: The

key to effective 21st-century learners. *Research in Comparative and International Education, 14*(1), 99-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1745499919829214</u>

- King-Sears, M. E., Walker, J. D., & Barry, C. (2018). Measuring teachers' intervention fidelity. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 54(2), 89-96. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451218765229
- Konrad, M., Criss, C. J., & Telesman, A. O. (2019). Fads or facts? Sifting through the evidence to find what really works. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 54(5), 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451218819234
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. The European Journal of General
 Practice, 24(1), 120–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092</u>
- LaChausse, R. G., Clark, K. R., & Chapple, S. (2014). Beyond teacher training: the critical role of professional development in maintaining curriculum fidelity. *The Journal of Adolescent Health : Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine, 54*(3 Suppl), S53–S58.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.12.029

- Lafortune, J., Rothstein, J., & Schanzenbach, D. W. (2018). School finance reform and the distribution of student achievement. *American Economic Journal-Applied Econonmics*, 10(2), 1–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/app.20160567</u>
- Lakin, J. M., & Rambo-Hernandez, K. (2019). Fidelity of implementation: Understanding why and when programs work. *Gifted Child Today*, 42(4), 205-

214. https://doi.org/10.1177/1076217519862327

- Lakin, J. M., & Shannon, D. M. (2015). The role of treatment acceptability, effectiveness, and understanding in treatment fidelity: Predicting implementation variation in a middle school science program. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 47, 28–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2015.06.002</u>
- Lang, M. L. (2019). Planning for differentiated instruction: Instructional leadership practices perceived by administrators and teachers in middle schools. Educational Planning, 26(2), 29–45. Retrieved from <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318048824_Planning_for_Differentiate</u>

<u>d_Instruction_Comparing_Instructional_Leadership_Practices_as_Perceived_by_</u> <u>Administrators_and_Teachers_in_Middle_School</u>

- Latif, I. A., Riyadi, R., & Saputro, D. R. S. (2019). The mathematics teachers' understanding of learning process based on 2013 curriculum 2017 revision. *Journal of Education and Learning (EduLearn)*, *13*(1), 140-146. https://doi.org/10.11591/edulearn.v13i1.9201
- Lau, W. W. F., & Jong, M. S. Y. (2022). Typology of teachers' stages of concern for STEM education. *Research in Science & Technological Education*, 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02635143.2022.2064447</u>
- Lawrence, J. E., & Tar, U. A. (2018). Factors that influence teachers' adoption and integration of ICT in teaching/learning process. *Educational Media International*, 55(1), 79-105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09523987.2018.1439712</u>
- Le, L. T. B., Tran, T. T., & Tran, N. H. (2021). Challenges to STEM education in Vietnamese high school contexts. *Heliyon*, 7(12), e08649.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e08649

- Lee, I. (2019). Teacher written corrective feedback: Less is more. *Language teaching*, 52(4), 524-536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0261444819000247</u>
- Lee, M., & Louis, K. S. (2019). Mapping a strong school culture and linking it to sustainable school improvement. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 81, 84–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.02.001</u>
- Lee, Y., Capraro, R. M., & Capraro, M. M. (2018). Mathematics teachers' subject matter knowledge and pedagogical content knowledge in problem posing. *International Electronic Journal of Mathematics Education*, 13(2), 75–90. https://doi.org/10.12973/iejme/2698
- Lekwa, A. J., Reddy, L. A., Dudek, C. M., & Hua, A. N. (2019). Assessment of teaching to predict gains in student achievement in urban schools. *School Psychology* (*Washington, D.C.*), 34(3), 271–280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000293</u>
- Lemire, C., Rousseau, M., & Dionne, C. (2023). A comparison of fidelity implementation frameworks used in the field of early intervention. American Journal of Evaluation, 44(2), 236-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/10982140211008978</u>
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Establishing trustworthiness. *Naturalistic inquiry*, 289(331), 289-327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0147-1767(85)90062-8</u>
- Lindmeier, A., Seemann, S., Kuratli-Geeler, S., Wullschleger, A., Dunekacke, S., Leuchter, M., Vogt, F., Opitz, E. M., & Heinze, A. (2020). Modelling early childhood teachers' mathematics-specific professional competence and its differential growth through professional development -- An aspect of structural

validity. Research in Mathematics Education, 22(2), 168–187.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14794802.2019.1710558

- Liu, Y., & Liao, W. (2019). Professional development and teacher efficacy: Evidence from the 2013 TALIS. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 30(4), 487-509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2019.1612454</u>
- Local School District. (n.d.). Accountability/Strategic planning and resource management. FY16-FY20 PGCPS strategic plan. Retrieved from https://www.pgcps.org/strategic-plan/.
- Local School District. (n.d.). Budget and management services. FY2020 Approved budget. https://offices.pgcps.org/budget/index.aspx?id=303618
- Local School District. (n.d.). Elementary reading/English language arts. Reading web connections. https://sites.google.com/pgcps.org/the-reading-web-connection/home

Local School District. (2019, March 21). Mar 21, 2019 - Board Meeting - 7:00 P.M.

https://go.boarddocs.com/mabe/pgcps/Board.nsf/files/BAF7D57310EF/\$file/03.21.19%2

0BAS%20RELABoardActionSummaryFinal12219%20aw%20_klwFINAL.pdf

Locke, J., Lawson, G. M., Beidas, R. S., Aarons, G. A., Xie, M., Lyon, A. R., Stahmer, A., Seidman, M., Fredrick, L., Oh, C., Spaulding, C., Dorsey, S., & Mandell, D. S. (2019). Individual and organizational factors that affect implementation of evidence-based practices for children with autism in public schools: a cross-sectional observational study. *Implementation Science*, *14*(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-019-0877-3

- Lodico, M. G., Spaulding, D. T., & Voegtle, K. H. (2010). *Methods in educational research: From theory to practice* (Vol. 28). John Wiley & Sons.
- Luesse, H. B., Luesse, J. E., Lawson, J., Camp, M. J., & Diaz, K. G. (2022). The academy for teachers professional development program. A model to support teacher retention. *Cogent Education*, 9(1), 2140540. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186x.2022.2140540</u>
- Lynch, K., Hill, H. C., Gonzalez, K. E., & Pollard, C. (2019). Strengthening the research base that informs STEM instructional improvement efforts: A meta-analysis. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 41(3), 260–293. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373719849044
- Magallanes, K., Chung, J. Y., & Lee, S. (2022). The Philippine teachers concerns on educational reform using concern based qdoption model. *In Frontiers in Education* (Vo7, p. 763991). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.763991</u>
- Malloy, M., Acock, A., DuBois, D. L., Vuchinich, S., Silverthorn, N., Ji, P.,
 & Flay, B. L. (2015). Teachers' perceptions of school organizational climate as predictors of dosage and quality of implantation of a social-emotional and character development program. *Prevention Science*, 16(8), 1086–1095.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-014-0534-7
- Maniates, H. (2017). Teacher adaptations to a core reading program: Increasing access to curriculum for elementary students in urban classrooms. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, 56(1), 68–84. https://doi.org/10.1080/19388071.2016.1210706
- Margot, K. C., & Kettler, T. (2019). Teachers' perception of STEM integration and

education: a systematic literature review. *International Journal of STEM* education, 6(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-018-0151-2

- Martinez, C. (2022). Developing 21st century teaching skills: A case study of teaching and learning through project-based curriculum. *Cogent Education*, 9(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186x.2021.2024936</u>
- Matherson, L., & Windle, T. M. (2017). What do teachers want from their professional development? Four emerging themes. Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin, 83(3), 28–32.
- Maxwell, J. (2013). Qualitative research design: An interactive approach. (SAGE). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- McAleese, S., & Kilty, J. M. (2019). Stories matter: Reaffirming the value of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(4), 822-845. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3713</u>
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical teacher*, 41(9), 1002-1006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159x.2018.1497149</u>
- McIntyre, E. M., Baker, C. N., & Overstreet, S. (2019). Evaluating foundational professional development training for trauma-informed approaches in schools. *Psychological services*, 16(1), 95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000312</u>
- McKenna, J. W., & Parenti, M. (2017). Fidelity assessment to improve teacher instruction and school decision making. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, 33(4), 331–346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15377903.2017.1316334</u>

McMaster, K. L., Baker, K., Donegan, R., Hugh, M., & Sargent, K. (2021). Professional Development to Support Teachers' Implementation of Intensive Reading Intervention: A Systematic Review. *Remedial and Special Education*, 42(5), 329– 342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932520934099</u>

McMaster, K. L., Lembke, E. S., Shin, J., Poch, A. L., Smith, R. A., Jung, P. G., Allen,
A. A., & Wagner, K. (2020). Supporting teachers' use of data-based instruction to improve students' early writing skills. Journal of educational psychology, 112(1),
1. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000358

McNeill, K. L., Marco-Bujosa, L. M., González-Howard, M., & Loper, S. (2018).
Teachers' enactments of curriculum: "fidelity to procedure" versus "fidelity to goal" for scientific argumentation. *International Journal of Science Education*, 40(12), 1455-1475. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2018.1482508

Meeuwen, P. V., Huijboom, F., Rusman, E., Vermeulen, M., & Imants, J. (2020).
Towards a comprehensive and dynamic conceptual framework to research and enact professional learning communities in the context of secondary education. *European journal of teacher education*, 43(3), 405-427.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2019.1693993

- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. B. (2014). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implement. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Meyer-Looze, C., Richards, S., Brandell, S., & Margulus, L. (2019). Implementing the

change process for staff and student success: An instructional module. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, *14*(1), 170–187.

- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. (2019). *Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Miller, A., Gore, J., Wallington, C., Harris, J., Prieto-Rodriguez, E., & Smith, M. (2019).
 Improving student outcomes through professional development: Protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial of quality teaching rounds. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 98, 146-158.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2019.09.002

- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People, 7(*1), 23-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571</u>
- Moir, T. (2018). Why is implementation science important for intervention design and evaluation within educational settings? *Frontiers in Education 3*(61).
 https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2018.00061
- Moon, A. L., & Young, E. (2021). Teacher perceptions on implementing a reading program. *Journal of Instructional Pedagogies*, 26.
- Moon, T. R., & Park, S. (2016). Fidelity of intervention of English/language arts elementary curriculum for gifted students: An exploratory investigation in different service delivery models. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 39(1), 62–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353215624161</u>

Mystakidis, S., Fragkaki, M., & Filippousis, G. (2021). Ready teacher one: virtual and augmented reality online professional development for K-12 school leachers. *Computers*, *10*(10), 134. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/computers10100134</u>

Nagro, S. A., Fraser, D. W., & Hooks, S. D. (2019). Lesson planning with engagement in mind: Proactive classroom management strategies for curriculum instruction. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 54(3), 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451218767905

Nasheeda, A., Abdullah, H. B., Krauss, S. E., & Ahmed, N. B. (2019). Transforming transcripts into stories: A multimethod approach to narrative analysis. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919856797</u>

Nassaji, H. (2020). Good qualitative research. Language Teaching Research, 24(4), 427-

431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288</u>

National Center for Education Statistics. (2012). Retrieved

from: https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=REL20124013.

National Center for Education Statistics. (2022). Retrieved from

https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=MAT&sj= &sfj=NP&st=MN&year=2022R3.

Natividad, R. J. P., & Abrogena, L. G. (2023). Availability of technological learning applications and tools, science teachers' levels of use of online teaching, and their stages of concerns. *American Journal of Multidisciplinary Research and Innovation*, 2(3), 97-109. <u>https://doi.org/10.54536/ajmri.v2i3.1729</u>

- Nawaz, H., & Akbar, R. A. (2019). Exploration of Gaps between Intended and Enacted Physics Curriculum: Teachers' Professional Development Perspective. *Bulletin of Education and Research*, 41(2), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.52223/jssa22-030306-42
- Nesbitt, K. T., & Farran, D. C. (2021). Effects of prekindergarten curricula: Tools of the mind as a case study. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 86(1), 7–119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mono.12425</u>
- Neuman, S. B., & Danielson, K. (2021). Enacting content-rich curriculum in early childhood: The role of teacher knowledge and pedagogy. Early Education and Development, 32(3), 443–458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2020.1753463</u>
- Nichols, J. A., Nichols, W. D., & Rupley, W. H. (2020). Teacher efficacy and attributes on the implementation of tiered instructional frameworks. *International Journal* of Evaluation and Research in Education, 9(3), 731–742. https://doi.org/10.11591/ijere.v9i3.20625
- Nordstrum, L. E., LeMahieu, P. G., & Berrena, E. (2017). Implementation science: Understanding and finding solutions to variation in program implementation. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 25(1), 58-73.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/qae-12-2016-0080
- Nouwens, S., Groen, M. A., Kleemans, T., & Verhoeven, L. (2021). How executive functions contribute to reading comprehension. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 91(1), 169–192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12355</u>
- Nurlaily, V. A., Soegiyanto, H., & Usodo, B. (2019). Elementary school teachers' obstacles in the implementation of problem-based learning model in mathematics

learning. Journal on Mathematics Education, 10(2), 229–238.

https://doi.org/10.22342/jme.10.2.5386.229-238

- Oddone, K., Hughes, H., & Lupton, M. (2019). Teachers as connected professionals: A model to support professional learning through personal learning networks. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 20(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v20i4.4082</u>
- Oder, T., & Eisenschmidt, E. (2018). Teachers' perceptions of school climate as an indicator of their beliefs of effective teaching. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 48(1), 3–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764x.2016.1223837</u>
- Odom, S. L. (2009). The tie that binds: Evidence-based practice, implementation science, and outcomes for children. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, *29*(1), 53–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121408329171</u>
- Offerdahl, E. G., McConnell, M., & Boyer, J. (2018). Can I have your recipe? Using a fidelity of implementation (FOI) framework to identify the key ingredients of formative assessment for learning. *CBE—Life Sciences Education*, 17(4), es16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.18-02-0029</u>
- O'Kane, P., Smith, A., & Lerman, M. P. (2021). Building transparency and trustworthiness in inductive research through computer-aided qualitative data analysis software. *Organizational Research Methods*, *24*(1), 104–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428119865016
- Oliffe, J. L., Kelly, M. T., Gonzalez Montaner, G., & Yu Ko, W. F. (2021). Zoom interviews: benefits and concessions. *International Journal of Qualitative*

Methods, 20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211053522</u>

- Olson, K., Lannan, K., Cumming, J., MacGillivary, H., & Richards, K. (2020). The concerns-based adoption model and strategic plan evaluation: Multiple methodologies to understand complex change. *Educational Research: Theory and Practice*, 31(3), 49-58.
- Opper, I. M. (2019). Teachers matter: Understanding teachers' impact on student achievement. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation. https://doi.org/10.7249/rr4312
- Pak, K., Desimone, L. M., & Parsons, A. (2020). An integrative approach to professional development to support college-and career-readiness standards. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 28(111), n111. <u>https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.28.4970</u>
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533-544.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y

- Parrish, C. W., Byrd, K. O., Johnson, T. M., Dasinger, J., & Green, A. M. (2020). Middle grades mathematics teachers' mixed perceptions of content-focused professional development. *RMLE Online: Research in Middle Level Education*, 43(8), 116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19404476.2020.1814626</u>
- Pas, E. T., Johnson, S. R., Debnam, K. J., Hulleman, C. S., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2019).Examining the relative utility of PBIS implementation fidelity scores in relation to

student outcomes. *Remedial and Special Education*, 40(1), 6-15. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932518805192

- Patton, M. Q. (2010). Developmental evaluation: *Applying complexity concepts to enhance innovation and use* (1st ed.). Guilford Press.
- Perrotta, C., & Selwyn, N. (2020). Deep learning goes to school: Toward a relational understanding of AI in education. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 45(3), 251-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2020.1686017</u>
- Philipsen, B., Tondeur, J., Pareja Roblin, N., Vanslambrouck, S., & Zhu, C. (2019).
 Improving teacher professional development for online and blended learning: A systematic meta-aggregative review. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 67(5), 1145-1174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-019-09645-8</u>
- Phillippi, J., & Lauderdale, J. (2018). A guide to field notes for qualitative research: Context and conversation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(3), 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317697102
- Phillips, B. M., Ingrole, S. A., Burris, P. W., & Tabulda, G. (2017). Investigating predictors of fidelity of implementation for a preschool vocabulary and language curriculum. *Early Child Development and Care*, *187*(3–4), 542–553.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2016.1251428

Pinkelman, S. E., Rolf, K. R., Landon, T., Detrich, R., McLaughlin, C., Peterson, A., & McKnight-Lizotte, M. (2022). Curriculum adoption in US schools: An exploratory, qualitative analysis. *Global Implementation Research and Applications*, 2(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s43477-022-00039-2</u>

- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2012). Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice. (9th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer.
- Poulou, M. S., Reddy, L. A., & Dudek, C. M. (2019). Relation of teacher self-efficacy and classroom practices: A preliminary investigation. *School Psychology International*, 40(1), 25-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034318798045</u>
- Quigley, C. F., Herro, D., King, E., & Plank, H. (2020). STEAM designed and enacted: understanding the process of design and implementation of STEAM curriculum in an elementary school. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 29(4), 499-518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-020-09832-w</u>
- Rahman, M. M., Tabash, M. I., Salamzadeh, A., Abduli, S., & Rahaman, M. S. (2022).
 Sampling techniques (probability) for quantitative social science researchers: a conceptual guidelines with examples. Seeu Review, 17(1), 42-51.
 https://doi.org/10.2478/seeur-2022-0023
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2019). Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological. SAGE Publications.
- Reid, A.-M., Brown, J. M., Smith, J. M., Cope, A. C., & Jamieson, S. (2018). Ethical dilemmas and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Perspectives on Medical Educations*, 7(2), 69–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-018-0412-2</u>
- Richter, E., Kunter, M., Marx, A., & Richter, D. (2021). Who participates in contentfocused teacher professional development? Evidence from a large scale study. *Frontiers in Education*, 6. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.722169</u>

Rogers, A. P. (2021). Exploring secondary teachers' perspectives on implementing

competency-based education. *The Journal of Competency-Based Education*, 6(4), 222-232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cbe2.1265</u>

- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *51*(4), 432–451.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042_
- Rutakumwa, R., Mugisha, J. O., Bernays, S., Kabunga, E., Tumwekwase, G.,
- Mbonye, M., & Seeley, J. (2020). Conducting in-depth interviews with and without voice recorders: a comparative analysis. *Qualitative Research*, 20(5), 565-581. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119884806</u>
- Rutberg, S., & Bouikidis, C. D. (2018). Focusing on the fundamentals: A simplistic differentiation between qualitative and quantitative research. *Nephrology Nursing Journal*, 45(2), 209–213.
- Santarossa, S., & Woodruff, S. J. (2020). Understanding effective development: Using a community-academic partnership to create a workshop and interactive toolkit for parent education. *Canadian Journal of Action Research, 20*(2), 68–84.

https://doi.org/10.33524/cjar.v20i2.436

Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., Burroughs, H., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52(4), 1893–1907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8</u>

Scammacca, N., Fall, A. M., Capin, P., Roberts, G., & Swanson, E. (2020). Examining

factors affecting reading and math growth and achievement gaps in grades 1–5: A cohort sequential longitudinal approach. Journal of educational psychology, 112(4), 718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000400</u>

- Schechter, C., & Shaked, H. (2017). Leaving fingerprints: principals' considerations while implementing education reforms. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 55(3), 242–260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jea-01-2016-0014</u>
- Scherer, C. A., & Ingle, W. K. (2020). PBIS implementation fidelity and student outcomes in an urban school district. *Voices of Reform: Educational Research to Inform and Reform*, 3(2), 96-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.32623/3.10007</u>
- Sebele-Mpofu, F. Y., & Serpa, S. (2020). Saturation controversy in qualitative research: Complexities and underlying assumptions. A literature review. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 6(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23311886.2020.1838706</u>
- SEDL. (n.d.). Concerns-based adoption model (CBAM). American institutes for research (AIR). Retrieved from <u>https://sedl.org/.</u>
- Sexton, S. S. (2020). Never had it but now I have to teach it: A study into how primary teachers implemented a new curriculum requirement in teaching practice. *Science Education International*, 31(2), 172–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.33828/sei.v31.i2.6</u>
- Shaw, D., & Hurst, K. (2012). A balanced literacy initiative for one suburban school district in the United States. *Education Research International*, 2012, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/609271
- Simon, S., Heck, D., Christie, M., & Farragher, Y. (2021). Leading pedagogical reform: Australian principals tell their stories. *International Journal of Leadership in*

Education, 24(2), 266–289. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2019.1613566

- Sims, S., & Fletcher-Wood, H. (2021). Identifying the characteristics of effective teacher professional development: a critical review. *School effectiveness and school improvement*, 32(1), 47-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2020.1772841</u>
- Sims, S., Fletcher-Wood, H., O'Mara-Eves, A., Cottingham, S., Stansfield, C., Van Herwegen, J., & Anders, J. (2021). What are the characteristics of effective teacher professional development? A systematic review and meta-analysis.
 In Education Endowment Foundation. *Education Endowment Foundation*.
- Siuty, M. B., Leko, M. M., & Knackstedt, K. M. (2018). Unraveling the role of curriculum in teacher decision making. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 41(1), 39–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406416683230</u>
- Slavin, R. E. (2020). How evidence-based reform will transform research and practice in education. *Educational Psychologist*, 55(1), 21-31.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2019.1611432

- Smets, W., & Struyven, K. (2020). A teachers' professional development programme to implement differentiated instruction in secondary education: How far do teachers reach? *Cogent Education*, 7(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186x.2020.1742273</u>
- Smith, C., & Gillespie, M. (2023). Research on professional development and teacher change: Implications for adult basic education. *Review of Adult Learning and Literacy*, Volume 7, 205-244. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003417996-7</u>
- Smith, R., Ralston, N. C., Naegele, Z., & Waggoner, J. (2020). Team teaching and learning: A model of effective professional development for

teachers. Professional Educator, 43(1), 80-90.

https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9780511667237.013

Stahl, N. A., & King, J. R. (2020). Expanding approaches for research: Understanding and using trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Journal of Developmental Education*, 44(1), 26-28. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/346425936 Expanding Approaches for

Research Understanding and Using Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research

Stains, M., & Vickrey, T. (2017). Fidelity of implementation: An overlooked yet critical construct to establish effectiveness of evidence-based instructional practices. CBE—Life Sciences Education, 16(1), rm1.

https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.16-03-0113

State Department of Education. (n.d.). Office of leadership development and school improvement. Retrieved from <u>https://www.marylandresourcehub.com/curriculum</u>

State Department of Education. (n.d.). State keys to comprehensive literacy.

Retrieved from

http://marylandpublicschools.org/programs/Pages/ELA/index.aspx

- State Department of Education. (2019). State school report card. Retrieved from <u>https://reportcard.msde.maryland.gov/</u>
- State Department of Education. (2021). State school report card. Retrieved from https://reportcard.msde.maryland.gov/
- Stern, C., Lizarondo, L., Carrier, J., Godfrey, C., Rieger, K., Salmond, S., Apostolo, J., Kirkpatrick, P., & Loveday, H. (2021). Methodological guidance for the conduct

of mixed methods systematic reviews. *JBI Evidence Implementation*, 19(2), 120-129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/xeb.0000000000282</u>

- Stockard, J. (2020). The impact of administrative decisions on implementation fidelity of direct instruction and student achievement. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 43(1), 18-28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0731948719830346
- Stylianou, D. A., Stroud, R., Cassidy, M., Knuth, E., Stephens, A., Gardiner, A., & Demers, L. (2019). Putting early algebra in the hands of elementary school teachers: Examining fidelity of implementation and its relation to student performance. *Journal for the Study of Education and Development, 42*(3), 523-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02103702.2019.1604021</u>
- Sulaiman, S., Sulaiman, T., & Rahim, S. S. A. (2017). Teachers' perceptions of the standard-based English language curriculum in Malaysian primary schools. *International Journal of Instruction*, 10(3) 195-208.

https://doi.org/10.12973/iji.2017.10313a

- Swindle, T., Rutledge, J. M., Martin, J., & Curran, G. M. (2022). Implementation fidelity, attitudes, and influence: a novel approach to classifying implementer behavior. *Implementation Science Communications*, 3(1), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s43058-022-00307-0</u>
- Taimur, S., & Sattar, H. (2020). Education for sustainable development and critical thinking competency. *Quality education*, 238-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-</u> <u>319-95870-5_64</u>

Tomaszewski, L. E., Zarestky, J., & Gonzalez, E. (2020). Planning qualitative research:

Design and decision making for new researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920967174_

- Topping, K. (2018). Implementation fidelity and pupil achievement in book reading: variation between regions, local authorities and schools. *Research Papers in Education*, 33(5), 620–641. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920967174</u>
- Trapani, B., & Annunziato, A. (2019). Crossing the bridge of change: Measuring instructional change using the concerns based adoption model. *Journal for Leadership and Instruction*, 18(1), 12-16.
- Troyer, M. (2019). Teachers' adaptations to and orientations towards an adolescent literacy curriculum. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 51(2), 202–228. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2017.1407458
- Trullen, J., Bos, N. A., & Valverde, M. (2020). From intended to actual and beyond: A cross-disciplinary view of (human resource management) implementation. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 22(2), 150–176. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12220_
- Tuffour, I. (2017). A critical overview of interpretative phenomenological analysis: a contemporary qualitative research approach. Journal of Healthcare Communications, 2(4), 52. <u>https://doi.org/10.4172/2472-1654.100093</u>
- Tuval-Mashiach, R. (2021). Is replication relevant for qualitative research? *Qualitative Psychology*, 8(3), 365–377.

https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000217

Ungar, M., Connelly, G., Liebenberg, L., & Theron, L. (2019). How schools enhance the

development of young people's resilience. *Social Indicators Research*, *145*(2), 615-627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-017-1728-8</u>

- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., & Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education* and Practice, 6(5), 100. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100</u>
- van Kuijk, M., Mullender-Wijnsma, M., & Bosker, R. (2021). A systematic review of studies addressing the implementation of the evidence-based whole-school reform "success for all". *ECNU Review of Education*, 4(1), 128-163. https://doi.org/10.1177/2096531120961521
- Vaughn, M., Scales, R. Q., Stevens, E. Y., Kline, S., Barrett-Tatum, J., Van Wig, A., Yoder, K. K., & Wellman, D. (2021). Understanding literacy adoption policies across contexts: A multi-state examination of literacy curriculum decisionmaking. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 53(3), 333–352.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2019.1683233

- Violanti, M. T. (2020). A seat at the table: addressing validity from critical perspective. Annals of the International Communication Association, 44(3), 248– 257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23808985.2020.1792794</u>
- von Thiele Schwarz, U., Nielsen, K., Edwards, K., Hasson, H., Ipsen, C., Savage, C.,
 Simonsen Abildgaard, J., Richter, A., Lornudd, C., Mazzocato, P., & Reed, J. E.
 (2021). How to design, implement and evaluate organizational interventions for
 maximum impact: the Sigtuna Principles. *European Journal of Work & Organizational Psychology*, 30(3), 415–

427. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2020.1803960

- Wachidi, W. (2019). Teachers' stage of concern in implementing of elementary school curriculum innovation. International Journal of Educational Review, 1(2), 27-34. https://doi.org/10.33369/ijer.v1i2.8843
- Wan, S. W. Y. (2020). Unpacking the Relationship between Teachers' Perceptions of Professional Learning Communities and Differentiated Instruction Practice. *ECNU Review of Education*, 3(4), 694–714.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2096531120969988

Wells, P. R., Goodnough, K., Azam, S., & Galway, G. (2023). Changes in high school distance education science teachers' pedagogical content knowledge (PCK) during remote lesson study. Teacher Professional Learning through Lesson Study in Virtual and Hybrid Environments, 203-222.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003286172-15

White, J., Johnson, P., & Goos, M. (2021). Pre-service teachers as agents of change in the mathematics classroom: A Case Study. *Mathematics Teacher Education and Development*, 23(1), 54–73. Retrieved from https://mted.merga.net.au/index.php/mted/article/view/477

Williams, N. J., Frederick, L., Ching, A., Mandell, D., Kang-Yi, C., & Locke, J. (2021). Embedding school cultures and climates that promote evidence-based practice implementation for youth with autism: A qualitative study. *Autism*, 25(4), 982-994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320974509</u>

Williams, N. J., & Glisson, C. (2020). Changing organizational social context to support

evidence-based practice implementation: A conceptual and empirical

review. Implementation Science 3.0, 145-172.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-03874-8_6

Willis, J., & Templeton, N. (2018). Investigating the establishment and sustainability of professional learning communities in rural east texas: The principals' perspectives. *The Rural*

Educator, 38(1). https://doi.org/10.35608/ruraled.v38i1.233

- Willson, A. M., & Falcon, L. A. (2018). Seeking equilibrium: In what ways are teachers implementing a balanced literacy approach amidst the push for accountability? *Texas Journal of Literacy Education*, 6(2), 73-93.
- Wiltsey Stirman, S., Baumann, A. A., & Miller, C. J. (2019). The FRAME: an expanded framework for reporting adaptations and modifications to evidence-based interventions. *Implementation Science*, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-019-0898-y
- Wylie, E. C., & Lyon, C. J. (2020). Developing a formative assessment protocol to support professional growth. *Educational Assessment*, 25(4), 314-

330. https://doi.org/10.1080/10627197.2020.1766956

- Xenofontos, C. (2019). Primary teachers' perspectives on mathematics during curriculum reform: A collective case study from cyprus. *Issues in Educational Research*, 29(3), 979- 996. Retrieved from https://www.iier.org.au/iier29/xenofontos.pdf
- Yates, P. A., Chopra, R. V., Sobeck, E. E., Douglas, S. N., Morano, S., Walker, V. L., &

Schulze, R. (2020). Working with paraeducators: Tools and strategies for planning, performance feedback, and evaluation. *Intervention in School and Clinic, 56*(1), 43-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451220910740</u>

- Yin, R. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Yin, R. (2015). Qualitative research from start to finish. New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case study research and applications: Design and methods. Sage.
- Zucker, T. A., Jacbos, E., & Cabell, S. Q. (2021). Exploring barriers to early childhood teachers' implementation of a supplemental academic language curriculum. Early Education and Development, 32(8), 1194-1219.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2020.1839288

Appendix A: The Project

Professional Development Program

The data analysis results showed that five themes represented teachers' concerns regarding implementing the HMH reading curriculum. The themes included concerns about lack of collaborative learning and classroom support, time management of nonacademic requirements, ineffective professional development, navigating to curriculum complexity, and concerns about curriculum alignment. Considering teachers' concerns, a 3-day PD project was developed to support the needs of the LSD teachers. The targeted audience included third grade teachers. The purpose, goals, and learning outcomes supported the development of a collaborative network as teachers learned best practices needed to ensure curriculum fidelity aimed at improving student outcomes.

Purpose	 Improving the implementation fidelity Teachers' understanding of HMH's positive effects on student outcomes Promoting sustainable collaborative learning between peers Creating model lessons plans and checklist for instructional purposes
Goals	 Gain Understand of HMH's Impact on Student Outcomes Significance of using best practices to implement the curriculum How to Create and Maintain a Collaborative Environment Understanding Curriculum Scope & Sequence Enhancing Teachers' Instructional Practice Creating Sustainable Best Practices
Learning Outcomes	 HMH's Positive Student Outcomes Create viable Small group Lesson Plan Develop small group checklist Understand the reading scope and sequence for Day 1 – 8 Brainstorm resources to engage active learning Benefits to collaborating with team members Model lesson plans for writing, grammar, and phonics Evidence-Based Checklist for writing, grammar, and phonics lessons

Proposed Activities

Day 1 will begin with activities focused on acquiring teacher buy-in for the PD. Teachers will engage in a Kahoot activity to identify what they know about the reading curriculum. The questions will determine the significant lesson components and the days and times each element is taught. Teachers will build collaborative units by participating in the activity with group members. Next, the facilitator will provide evidence showing positive outcomes for students accessing the curriculum. Teachers will participate in an activity on their laptops to match state standards with the HMH lesson contents. Then, teachers will receive four cards showing the 2020 state test reading scores for the LSD and the surrounding three counties. Each learning group will discuss the scores and attempt to match the scores with the correct county. The LSD has the lowest test scores of the surrounding districts.

After a break, teachers will watch a video demonstration of a small group lesson. Teachers will discuss the positive and negative aspects of the example lesson. Then, the facilitator will form new learning groups, provide materials, and request that teachers develop a model small group reading lesson. Teachers will complete an evaluation form, offering suggestions about the content of their lessons. Upon completion, each group will present their lesson, one member taking on the role of the teacher while the others act as students. Collaboratively, teachers will watch the presentations and chart the significant portions of the lesson that made it a positive experience for students. The facilitator will combine the evidence and provide an evidence-based checklist for teachers to finalize on day two of the training. Teachers will complete and self-assessment and a formative evaluation rating the PD content and instructors' performance.

Day 2 will consist of finalizing the small group checklist developed on day one, understanding how the HMH curriculum aligns with the state standards, examining the HMH scope and sequence, and brainstorming about resources used to encourage students' active participation during instruction. Teachers will combine the evidence and provide an evidence-based checklist for teachers to finalize on day two of the training. The facilitator will provide the small group checklist. Teachers will use sticky notes to add comments reflecting preferred changes to the checklist. The facilitator will make necessary corrections and provide the final checklist on Day 3. Next, the facilitator will supply cards showing the reading curriculum's lesson contents, time frames, and the numbers 1-8. Teachers will order the lesson contents in groups with the days and time frames. Teachers will glue the cards onto chart paper, and each group will present their interpretation of the scope and sequence of the curriculum. Upon completion, the facilitator will use a group's example and show the scope and sequence for the eight day cycle of the HMH curriculum. Next, teachers will discuss understanding and using students' learning styles to improve curriculum implementation. Lastly, teachers discuss different resources to inspire students' active engagement during reading lessons. The resources may include videos, websites, games, activities, or anything else teachers use as a resource. Each group will chart and present their findings. Teachers will complete and self-assessment and a formative evaluation rating the PD content and instructors' performance.

On Day 3, teachers will review new resources, align them with students' learning styles, and develop and present model lessons for writing, grammar, and phonics lessons. Using the charts developed on Day 2, teachers will match resources with the type of learning style it involves. The facilitator will discuss the importance of collaborating with team members on instructional strategies and resources to increase teachers' capacity to deliver instruction to meet all students' diverse needs. Next, teachers will access the curriculum to examine grammar, writing, or phonics lessons. Based on a consensus within each group, members will develop lessons and create a role-play to present the results. Teachers will complete an evaluation form, offering suggestions about the content of their lessons. After each group presents, a collaborative discussion will occur to identify key evidence teachers should remember when implementing the lesson.

The facilitator will ask for one volunteer from each group to take notes as the whole group analyzes each presentation and highlights significant ideas to remember. Based on the information, teachers will create evidence-based checklists for writing, grammar, and phonics lessons by the end of the PD. Lastly, teachers will receive an evaluation form to complete, bringing the PD to a close.

Session	Activities	Timeline	Resource Material
Day 1	 Participate in Kahoot to identify curriculum knowledge Team building activity Learn about curriculum success stories, importance of curriculum fidelity Match state standards with HMH curriculum Review state assessment scores for LSD and three other counties 	8:00-9:00 9:00-10:00 10:00-11:00 Break 11:00-11:15	Power point presentation, Smart Board, laptops/phone, Chart Paper, markers HMH article State score cards for activity
	• Importance of implementation fidelity	11:15-12:15 Lunch 12:15-1:15	Handout – state standards and template
	 Watch and discuss small group video Watch Video, create small group lesson, role play small group lesson 	1:15 – 2:15	Small group lesson plan template

Hour-by-Hour Detail of Training
Session	Activities	Timeline	Resource Material
Day 2	 Develop small group lesson checklist, finalize the small group lesson checklist, Team Building Activity Group learning to discover HMH scope and 	8:00-9:00 9:00-10:00	Power point presentation, Smart Board, laptops, Chart Paper, markers
	 Facilitator will review appropriate scope and 	10:00-11:00	Small group lesson checklist Cards for scope and sequence activity
	sequence directly from online platform	Break	
		11:00-11:15	
	• Explore significance of student learning styles	11:15-12:15	
	Groups will explore resources to engage	Lunch 12:15-1:15	
	 Groups will explore resources to engage students Groups will present resources 	1:15 - 2:15	

Session	Activities	Timeline	Resource Material
Day 3	 Group will match resources with learning styles from Present resources based on students' learning styles Discuss importance and ways to encourage collaboration Group members will collaborate/create writing, grammar, or phonics model lessons 	8:00-9:00 9:00-10:00 10:00-11:00 Break 11:00-11:15	Power point presentation, Smart Board, laptops, Chart Paper, markers Learning styles/resource template
	Group presentation of lessons, peer reflections	11:15-12:15 Lunch 12:15-1:15	Lesson plan template Peer Reflection Templat
	 Create evidence-based checklist for writing, grammar, phonics lessons and positives for using 	1:15 – 2:15	Checklist template

Professional Development Slides





Slides 13-18











Slides 19-24



Slides 25-30













Slides 31-37



















Formative Evaluation – Peer Model Lesson Notes

Day 1 or Day 3 (circle)

Instructor _____

Lesson Objective_____

Please provide direct, brief, and useful feedback.

Before Reading

How did the teacher engage the student in preparation for the lesson?

Did the teacher briefly summarize text, connect to background knowledge, preview the text, discuss critical vocabulary?

During Reading

Did the teacher cover the curriculum requirements provided in the curriculum?

After Reading

How did the teacher discuss the text for meaning?

Explain how the teacher revisited focus strategies/skills

Formative Evaluation (Self-Assessment)

Day 1 or Day 3 (Circle)

Was the lesson received well by other teachers?

What worked well?

What could I have done better?

What did I learn from this experiences?

Formative Assessment

Day 1 or 2 (Circle)

Name of Instructor_____

Directions – Read the statements. Add a number to the blank box that corresponds with your thoughts and feelings.

5-Strongly Agree	4-Agree	3-Neutral	2-Disagree	1-Strongly Disagree
The training met my expe				
The learning outcomes/ob	jectives for ea	ch day were clea	ar.	
The instructor was knowledgeable and presented information professionally.				
The content was well orga	nized.			
I will be able to use the co	ntent in my in	structional pract	ice.	

Summative Assessment

Final Day

Name of Instructor_____

Directions – Read the statements. Add a number to the blank box that corresponds with your thoughts and feelings.

5-Strongly Agree	4-Agree	3-Neutral	2-Disagree	1-Strongly Disagree
The goals were clearly con	nmunicated ea	ach day.		
The content was relevant to	o my concerns	s when impleme	nting the curricu	ulum.
The information presented	inspired me to	o work collabora	atively with peer	rs.
The instructor was well or	ganized and pr	resented the info	rmation clearly.	
I received useful "take-awa	ays" to impler	nent in my class	room.	
The training left me with u	nanswered qu	estions about the	e curriculum.	

Appendix B: Site Permission Form

_	DIVISION of ACCOUNT	ABILITY	
	DEPARTMENT of TESTING, RESEARC	CH and EVALUATION	Principal Permission
Authorization Date	Authorization Expiration Date	DRE Application Number	
	has received conditional authori	ization from the Office of Research	and Evaluation to
nduct the following researc	her study:		
Prince George's County Pub	lic Schools. The researcher would like to con	duct the study in:	
	School		
	·	Cale and a large the all states and the second	
plementation of this study	is contingent upon securing the permission o	of the principal in the above-listed	school in which the
udy will be conducted.			
		DIRE Stall S	gnature
Approved			Disapproved

Appendix C: Email to Respondents Not Qualifying or Meeting Threshold Dear (insert name),

Thank you for showing interest in my study, Teacher Perceptions on the Implementation of a New Reading Curriculum in Third Grade. I genuinely appreciate your willingness to participate. Unfortunately, based on the criteria, you did not qualify to be part of the study's sample. The criteria for participation included being a third-grade reading teacher and having one year of experience teaching the reading curriculum.

You did not meet the following criteria:

_____third-grade reading teacher

____one year experience teaching the reading curriculum

Sincerely,

Orchid Hill Walden University EdD Doctoral Candidate

Dear (insert name),

Thank you for showing interest in my study, Teacher Perceptions on the Implementation of a New Reading Curriculum in Third Grade. I genuinely appreciate your willingness to participate. Unfortunately, you did not qualify for the study's sample because the participant threshold has been met. The study requirements included 12–14 participants. Again, thank you for your willingness to volunteer.

Sincerely,

Orchid Hill Walden University EdD Doctoral Candidate

Appendix D: Confidentiality Form

CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

Name of Signer:

As a peer debriefer for the research study being conducted by Orchid Hill, titled: "Teacher Perceptions on the Implementation of a New Reading Curriculum in Third Grade," I will have access to information, which is confidential and should not be disclosed. I acknowledge that the information must remain confidential, and that improper disclosure of confidential information can be damaging to the participant.

By signing this Confidentiality Agreement I acknowledge and agree that:

- 1. I will not disclose or discuss any confidential information with others, including friends or family.
- 2. I will not in any way divulge, copy, release, sell, loan, alter or destroy any confidential information except as properly authorized.
- 3. I will not discuss confidential information where others can overhear the conversation. I understand that it is not acceptable to discuss confidential information even if the participant's name is not used.
- 4. I will not make any unauthorized transmissions, inquiries, modification or purging of confidential information.
- 5. I agree that my obligations under this agreement will continue after termination of the job that I will perform.
- 6. I understand that violation of this agreement will have legal implications.
- 7. I will only access or use systems or devices I'm officially authorized to access and I will not demonstrate the operation or function of systems or devices to unauthorized individuals.

Signing this document, I acknowledge that I have read the agreement and I agree to comply with all the terms and conditions stated above.

Signature:

Date:

Appendix E: Interview Questions

Participants: Third Grade Elementary Teachers

Interview Date:	Interview Time:
Interviewee Pseudonym:	

Demographic Information

- A. Number of years in current position _____ B. Gender____
- B. Educational Background (i.e., degrees)

Hello, my name is Orchid Hill. Thank you for taking the time to participate in my study on exploring the experiences and challenges of 3rd grade teachers when implementing the new required reading curriculum. I will ask questions regarding your perceptions of implementing the reading curriculum. All information shared will be kept secure by using a pseudonym to maintain confidentially during the data collection process. The interview will occur on Zoom and your responses to the interview questions will be recorded with the recording function on the Zoom platform. Therefore, please make yourself comfortable and remember that you may stop the interview at any time.

- Please tell me how you implement the HMH: Into Reading curriculum as directed? (Follow up questions – Which components do you not implement as directed? Are there any components you do not implement as directed?)
- 2. When teaching HMH: Into Reading, what value do you place on teaching the curriculum with fidelity, as prescribed by developers?

- 3. If you were able to revise any part of the curriculum, based on experiences or needs of the students, what part would that be? (Follow up question Explain.)
- 4. What administrative actions would have better supported the implementation of the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?
- 5. When asked to implement any new curriculum, what are your initial concerns or perspective?
- 6. What are you concerns or challenges with implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?
- What has been the most challenging aspect of implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum? (Follow up question – What support or resources might have mitigated those challenges?)
- 8. What concerns do you have about time spent working with nonacademic requirements related to the curriculum? (Follow up question - And what support or resources could mitigate those concerns?

Research Question	Interview Question	Follow-Up Question	SoC
RQ1: What are the experiences of 3 rd grade teachers in the LSD with implementing the HMH: Into Reading	Please tell me how you implement the HMH: Into Reading curriculum as directed?	Which components do you not implement as directed? Are there any components you do not implement as directed?	Stage 2: Personal
curriculum	When teaching HMH: Into Reading, what value do you place on teaching the curriculum with fidelity, as prescribed by developers?		Stage 2: Personal
	If you were able to revise any part of the curriculum, based on experiences or needs of the students, what part would that be?	Explain?	Stage 4: Consequences Stage 6: Refocusing
	What administrative actions would have better supported the implementation of the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?		Stage 1: Informational
RQ2: What challenges and concerns do 3 rd grade	When asked to implement a new curriculum, what		Stage 0: Unconcerned

Appendix F: RQs, Interview Questions, SoC Mapping

teachers in the LSD report with implementing the HMH: Into Reading	are your initial concerns or perspective?		
curriculum?	What are your concerns or challenges with implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?		Stage 3: Management
	What has been the most challenging aspect of implementing the HMH: Into Reading curriculum?	What support or resources might have mitigated those challenges?	Stage 3: Management Stage 5: Collaboration
	What concerns do you have about time spent working with nonacademic requirements related to the curriculum?	And what or resources could mitigate those concerns?	Stage 3: Management

Appendix G: American Institutes for Research Authorization

AIR Copyright Help Desk RF: AIR Copyright V-T

RE: AIR Copyright Request: SEDL Stages of Concern Questionnaire To: orchid.hill@waldenu.edu, Cc: AIR Copyright Help Desk, Litke, Brian & 5 more

Dear Orchid,

The American Institutes for Research (AIR) is pleased to grant you permission to reprint, in whole or in part, the SEDL Stages of Concern Questionnaire (SoCQ 075) in your doctoral dissertation. In addition, you may adapt the SoCQ instrument by changing statements to questions as appropriate for your research study.

Use of this survey is limited to educational, research, and nonprofit use. The suggested citation is as follows:

George, A. A., Hall, G. E., & Stiegelbauer, S. M. (2013). Measuring implementation in schools: The stages of concern questionnaire. SEDL. https://sedl.org/cbam/socq_manual_201410.pdf. Reprinted with permi ssion

We wish you much success as you work toward earning your doctorate.

Kind regards,

Kim O'Brien

All O Brien Editor and Copyright Specialist AIR Studio: kobrien@air.org AIR Copyright Help Desk: <u>AIRCopyright@air.org</u>



American Institutes for Research® 1400 Crystal Drive, 10th Floor Arlington, VA 22202-3289 +1.202.403.5000 I AIR.ORG

Advancing Evidence. Improving Lives. The information transmitted is intended only for the person or entity to which it is addressed and may contain proprietary, business-confidential and/or privileged material. If you are not the intended recipient of this message you are hereby notified that any use, review, retransmission, dissemination, distribution, reproduction or any action taken in reliance upon this message is prohibited. If you received this in error, please contact the sender and delete the material from any computer.

-----Original Message-----From: <u>blitke@air.org</u>> Sent: Monday, November 7, 2022 3:01 PM To: O'Brien, Kim <<u>kohren@air.org</u>>; Litke, Brian <<u>blitke@air.org</u>>; AIR Copyright Help Desk <<u>copyright_PS@air.org</u>> Subject: AIR Copyright Request Form

The following e-mail was received from the AIR "Copyright Request Form" page:

From: Orchid Hill E-mail: orchid.hill@waldenu.edu November 10, 2022 at 10:24 PM

Details